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Following the classification of TM as a disposal group held for sale, the Group reports income from its insurance operations in a single line in the
consolidated income statement as profit after tax from discontinued operations. The comparative figures from 2022 have been restated



Kvika banki hf.

Endorsement and Statement
by the Board of Directors and the CEO

These are the Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. ("Kvika" or the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (together the "Group") for the year 2023.

About the Bank

Kvika is a specialized financial institution strategically positioned to increase competition and transform financial services in Iceland. Operating without
a branch network, Kvika provides businesses, investors, and individuals with investment banking, insurance, asset management, payment, and banking
services. The Bank is listed on the main list of Nasdaq OMX Iceland.

Kvika operates in four business segments, two which are operated under the Kvika Bank brand, Commercial banking, and Corporate Banking and Capital
Markets, and two in own-brand subsidiaries, Kvika Asset Management and Kvika Securities Ltd., the Group's operations in the UK. The insurance
segment, operated through the subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. ("TM") has been discontinued as TM is currently in a sales process.

Kvika operates as well as a house of brands that are highly focused and excel in their field. The main brands are Kvika, Kvika Asset Management, Audur,
Aur, Lykill, Netgird, and Straumur, as well as Ortus Secured Finance in the UK.

Operations during the year 2023

Profit before taxes for the year amounted to ISK 5,245 million (2022: ISK 5,621 million), corresponding to an annualised 12.1% return on weighted
tangible equity, based on the tangible equity position at the beginning of the year adjusted for changes in share capital and transactions with treasury
shares during the period. Profit before taxes is composed of the pre-tax profit from both the Group's continuing and discontinued operations.

The Group's net operating income during the year was ISK 14,852 million (2022: ISK 14,479 million). Net interest income amounted to ISK 8,021 million
(2022: 1SK 7,085 million). Net fee income amounted to ISK 5,916 million (2022: ISK 6,414 million). Other operating income amounted to ISK 915 million
(2022: ISK 980 million). Administrative expenses during the year amounted to ISK 10,785 million (2022: ISK 9,092 million). During the year, the Group
had a net impairment charge of ISK 1,027 million (2022: ISK 567 million).

The figures in the consolidated income statement for the year 2022 do not include the operations of Ortus Secured Finance Ltd. ("Ortus") for January
and February 2022, as the business combination took place at the end of February. Reference is made to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
2022 for further information on the business combination.

Financial position
According to the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, equity at year-end 2023 amounted to ISK 81,958 million (31.12.2022: ISK 81,089 million),
and total assets amounted to ISK 335,397 million (31.12.2022: ISK 299,670 million).

The Group's statement of financial position grew by ISK 35.7 billion or 11.9% during the year 2023. Loans to customers grew by ISK 29.2 billion or 27.3%
during the year. Liquid assets amounted to ISK 109 billion at year-end 2023, or 33% of total assets.

In the beginning of May 2023 Kvika concluded a sale of NOK 550 million and SEK 275 million floating rate bonds that have a 3-year maturity and were
priced at a spread of 410bps over 3-month NIBOR and STIBOR.

Kvika finalised its first green international bond issue in November 2023 when Kvika concluded a sale of SEK 500 million green bonds that were issued at
a spread of 400 bps over 3-month STIBOR. The green bonds are the first green issuance of an Icelandic bank in Swedish krona. Kvika also issued
additional NOK bonds from the outstanding issuance that was issued in May 2023, increasing the size of NOK issuance to NOK 800 million. The bonds,
which have a maturity in May 2026, were sold at a price equivalent to a 380 bps spread over NIBOR.

In the beginning of December 2023 Kvika concluded an offering of Tier-2 subordinated bonds in a new series denominated in Icelandic kréna for ISK
2,000 million, the proceeds of the Tier-2 subordinated note offering will be used to strengthen the capital base of the Bank and to repay subordinated
notes that are redeemable in 2024.

Change of CEO

On 20 August 2023, the Bank announced that the Board of Directors ("BOD") of Kvika and Mariné Orn Tryggvason had reached an agreement on the
terms of the CEQ's retirement. The CEO initiated discussions regarding retirement. The retirement became effective on the aforementioned date. The
BOD of Kvika has engaged Armann borvaldsson as the Bank's CEO, effective as of that same date. Armann previously held the position of CEO of Kvika in
2017-2019 and was deputy CEO between 2019-2022.

TM Insurance to be sold or listed

In early October 2023, the Bank announced that following a strategic review at Kvika, the BOD has decided to initiate a process for selling or listing of its
insurance subsidiary TM. The decision is in line with the Bank's vision, where emphasis is placed on simplifying the Group's operations and
strengthening Kvika's traditional banking activities, in accordance with the Bank's goal to increase competition and simplify its customers' finances.
Following the divestment of TM, Kvika's main operations will be focused on commercial- and investment banking, along with asset management.
Kvika's capital base is expected to grow significantly following TM's divestment, enabling the Bank to pursue internal growth opportunities across
Kvika's business segments. Increased capital will, among other things, enable the Bank to strengthen its market position, in both retail and corporate
lending, and increase the risk diversification of its loan book. Furthermore, it is expected that a considerable part of the sales proceeds will be paid to
shareholders in the form of dividends and/or buyback of own shares.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023
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Endorsement and Statement
by the Board of Directors and the CEO

In December 2023 Kvika announced that it had received non-binding offers for share capital of TM, both for all outstanding shares and part of the
shares. The BOD of Kvika reviewed and evaluated the offers received and subsequently decided to invite four parties to continue in the sales process
and provide them with access to vendor due diligence reports and further information. It is anticipated that the sale or listing of TM will be completed
in the second or third quarter of 2024. It should however be noted that no assurance can be made that the sales process will result in binding offers for
T™M.

In accordance with IFRS, at year-end 2023 the decision was made to classify TM and the Group's insurance operations as a disposal group held for sale
and as discontinued operations. This has a number of effects on the Consolidated Financial Statements, reference is made to note 4 for further
information.

Operational outlook

The outlook for Kvika in 2024 is positive, underpinned by Kvika’s multiple operating segments which provide a diversified source of income for the
group. The Group’s financial position remains strong, with robust liquidity and capital buffers well above regulatory requirements. Despite moderating
growth in the Icelandic economy, fundamentals remain broadly supportive relative to peer economies as further described in the Economic Outlook.
Market pricing suggests rates are likely to come off their peak in 2024, which we expect to be a further tailwind for the Group’s operations. Additionally,
the UK economy seems to have dodged a widely expected recession in 2023, as growth is expected to pick up modestly in 2024 amid rapid disinflation
and declining policy rates. This is likely to affect Kvika’s UK operations favourably, where lower policy rates are expected to contribute to widening
interest margins after a period of compression since 2022.

The volcanic activity around Grindavik has not had material effect on the financial result of Kvika or any of its subsidiaries. Kvika has limited lending
exposure to companies and individuals in Grindavik. Kvika‘s insurance subsidiary TM does insure properties in the area but damages caused directly or
indirectly by the volcanic activity fall to a very large degree outside the scope of TM’s insurance coverage. Natural catastrophe insurance of Iceland does
cover losses related to volcanic activity and other natural disasters, and the Icelandic authorities have also introduced measures to assist households in
the area by purchasing residential property in the area.

Economic outlook

The Icelandic economy continues to grow well in excess of most of its European peers, with GDP growing 4.2% in the first three quarters of 2023. The
economy is supported by its low energy import dependency ratio, which has sheltered Iceland from gyrations in global commodity markets, as well as
rapid growth in its tourism sector.

In part due to the strong growth and positive output gap in the economy, inflation in Iceland remained stubbornly high at 7.7% at year end, although it
has since moderated to 6.7%. Persistent inflation has led the Central Bank of Iceland to hike rates to 9.25% in an effort to bring inflation down.

The policy tightening has already led to moderation in domestic demand as household consumption and business investment slowed throughout 2023.
The Central Bank of Iceland expects growth in 2024 to slow further to 2.6% as unemployment rises modestly to 4.8%, largely due to the impact of
tighter monetary policy. Growth is nevertheless expected to remain stronger than most peers’ due to a combination of ongoing strength in tourism and
a resilient private sector, and remain in the 2.5-3.0% range in the medium term.

Inflation is forecast to average 5.7% in 2024, before gradually slowing to below 3% on a three-year horizon. A key uncertainty for the inflation outlook
remains the outcome of collective wage agreements currently being negotiated between unions and employers. Iceland’s inverted yield curve suggests
that markets are pricing in policy rate cuts in the year to come as disinflation continues.

Capital adequacy and dividends

Kvika‘s total capital requirement at 31.12.2023, taking into account all capital buffers, amounted to 18.7%. Kvika's capital adequacy ratio was 22.6% at
the end of December 2023 (31.12.2022: 23.5%). Kvika’s CET1 requirement was 13.5% compared to a CET1 ratio of 19.6% at the end of December 2023.
The Group's solvency ratio at 31.12.2023 was 1.25 (31.12.2022: 1.36) with a regulatory minimum requirement of 1.0.

The Bank's 2023 Annual General Meeting ("AGM") approved a motion from the BOD permitting the Bank to purchase up to 10% of own shares subject
to regulatory approvals. This authorisation applies until the next annual general meeting in 2024. In June, the BOD decided to exercise a part of that
authorisation and established a buy-back programme to carry out the purchase of shares for a total consideration amount of ISK 1 billion but for no
higher nominal amount than 60,000,000 shares. In September 2023, the Bank announced that the buy-back programme had been completed, as shares
for ISK 1 billion had been bought.

The 2023 AGM also approved a motion from the BOD to, subject to approval from the Financial Supervisory Authority of the Central Bank of Iceland,
decrease the share capital of the Bank by 147,871,265 shares by cancelling treasury shares held by the Bank. Furthermore, the 2023 AGM also approved
a motion from the BOD to pay a dividend to shareholders of 0.4 ISK per share or ISK 1,912 million, taking into account treasury shares held by the
Group. In April 2023, the share capital reduction and the dividend payment were carried out.

The BOD propose that no dividend will be paid in the year 2024 on 2023 operations. The BOD intends, through the purchase of own shares, to meet the
Bank's dividend policy, which states that the aim is for shareholders to be returned an annual dividend of at least 25% of last year's profit after taxes,
whether in the form of dividends or through the purchase of own shares. The BOD has not ruled out that it might call to a meeting of shareholders later
in the year 2024 to discuss potential dividend payments if the conditions arise, e.g. following the sale of TM.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023
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Endorsement and Statement
by the Board of Directors and the CEO

Share capital and shareholders

The Bank's issued share capital amounted to ISK 4,781 million as at 31 December 2023 (31.12.2022: ISK 4,929 million). At the end of the year the Bank
held ISK 59 million treasury shares (31.12.2022: ISK 148 million). The shares were acquired through a share buy-back programme. The net change in the
Bank's issued share capital amounted to a reduction in nominal value of ISK 89 million during the year (ISK 22 million increase during the year 2022).
The Bank had 2,876 shareholders at year-end 2023 (2022: 2,992), none of which held more than 10% of shares in the Bank (2022: 0). The ten largest
shareholders are as follows:

Shareholder 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Lifeyrissjédur verzlunarmanna 9.56% 9.13%
Lifeyrissjédur starfsmanna rikisins A-deild . 7.89% 7.64%
StOTIr hf. e 7.01% 6.59%
Birta lifeyrissjodur 6.00% 4.80%
Gildi - lifeyrissjodur 5.43% 4.66%
Arion banki hf. ......... 1.92% 3.41%
Stapi lifeyrissjodur ... 3.54% 3.07%
LIfSVEIK [FEYIISSJOTUN .e.vvetietiesiieieete sttt et sttt a e st e st e st e bt e be s b e sseesaeesbeesbe e beenbeenaesnaens sneens 2.55% 2.43%
Almenni lifeyrissjédurinn 2.30% 2.23%
Fossar fjarfestingarbanki hf. .... 1.45% 0.01%

47.65% 43.97%

Further information about the shareholders of the Bank is provided in note 69.

Risk management

The objective of risk management is to promote a good and efficient culture of risk awareness within the Group and to increase the understanding of
employees and management on the Group's risk taking, in addition to an assessment process related to risk and capital position. An emphasis is placed
on being up to speed on the latest developments and adoption of rules related to risk management, such as regarding capital- and liquidity
management. The Group faces various risks associated with its operations as a financial conglomerate that arise from its day-to-day operations. Active
risk management entails analysing risk, measuring it and taking actions to limit it, as well as monitoring risk factors across the Group. The Group's risk
management and main operations are described in the notes accompanying the Consolidated Financial Statements. Refer to notes 45-60 on the
analysis of exposure to various types of risk.

Corporate governance

Kvika is obliged to observe recognised corporate governance guidelines, pursuant to Par. 7 of Article 54 of Act No. 161/2002, on Financial Undertakings.
The Bank complies with chapter VIl of Act No. 161/2002 and in most respects with the Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued jointly in February
2021 by the Chamber of Commerce, Confederation of Icelandic Enterprise (SA) and Nasdaq Iceland. The only deviation from the guidelines is that Kvika
has not appointed a nomination committee, but it is expected that a proposal for the appointment of a nomination committee will be submitted to the
next annual general meeting as further discussed in an appendix to these financial statements, which contains a corporate governance statement. Kvika
has twice been recognized as a company which has achieved excellence in corporate governance following a formal assessment based on the Icelandic
Guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Icelandic Chamber of Commerce, Confederation of Icelandic Enterprise (SA) and Nasdaq Iceland,
first in 2018 and again in 2021. The recognition applies for three years at a time unless there have been significant changes to the BOD or the ownership
of the Bank. The BOD intends to have such an assessment carried out on a regular basis and maintain the aforementioned recognition. Additionally,
Kvika complies with Guidelines of the European Banking Authority (EBA) on Internal Governance (EBA/GL/2021/05), cf. Art. 15 of Regulation of the
European Parliament and of the Council no. 1093/2010, which was incorporated into Icelandic law with Act no. 24/2017 on European Supervisory
System on the Financial Market.

In accordance with the Bank’s articles of association, five members and two alternate members are elected to the BOD each year at the annual general
meeting. The eligibility of members of the BOD is subject to statutory law. It is the Bank’s policy concerning election of the BOD that the BOD
collectively has sufficient knowledge, competency and experience to understand the Bank’s operations, including the main risk factors. The ratio of
each gender of members of the BOD and alternate members shall be at least 40%. The election of BOD members and their eligibility is furthermore
governed by the provisions of the Act on Public Limited Liability Companies No. 2/1995 and the Act on Financial Undertakings No. 161/2002.

The Bank’s articles of association may be amended at lawfully convened shareholders” meetings, provided that the notice of the meeting specifies that
proposals for such amendments are scheduled and outlines the main substance of the amendments. An amendment takes effect only if approved by at
least 2/3 of the votes cast and by shareholders controlling at least 2/3 of the shares represented at the meeting. However, the provisions of the articles
of association regarding the voting rights of shareholders and equality among them cannot be amended except with the consent of all the shareholders
who are subject to the curtailment of rights, cf. paragraph 3 of Article 94 of the Act on Public Limited Liability Companies No. 2/1995.

The Board determines compensation for the CEO. The BOD emphasizes good corporate governance and adherence to accepted guidelines on corporate
governance. The Board has laid down comprehensive rules in which the authority of the Board is defined and its scope of work in conjunction with the
CEO. They address e.g. competence of Board members to participate in individual decisions, confidentiality and information disclosure between the
CEO and the Board. All Board members are independent of the Bank and its major shareholders and there are no executive directors on the Board. The
Bank aims to promote gender equality and two out of five board members are women.

The BOD has delegated certain tasks to three separate subcommittees, the Risk Committee, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. The
appointment of committee members shall always comply with currently applicable law. It is not permitted to appoint employees of the Bank to any
subcommittee. Members shall have the necessary experience and knowledge for each committee's tasks according to applicable laws and rules. Each
committee has incorporated procedural rules which have been confirmed by the BOD.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023
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Endorsement and Statement
by the Board of Directors and the CEO

The BOD determines the risk policy and risk appetite of the Group with rules on risk management of the financial conglomerate of Kvika, which define
risk factors in Kvika’s operations, including their nature and acceptable volume.

The CEO reports to the Board and verifies the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Internal
controls and risk management applied in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements are organised with a view to preventing any
significant deficiencies in the accounting process. Kvika’s BOD and control units regularly verify the effectiveness of internal controls and risk
management.

The Risk Committee has an advisory and supervisory role for the Bank’s BOD, among other things, in determining its risk policy and risk appetite. The
Audit Committee is intended to play an advisory and supervisory role for the Bank’s BOD by, among other things, ensuring the quality of financial
statements and other financial information from the Bank and the independence of its auditors. The Audit Committee supervises accounting
procedures and the effectiveness of internal controls as well as internal and external auditing. The Remuneration Committee has an advisory and
monitoring role for the BOD in relation to remuneration at the company and its group and that they support its goals and interests.

The main aspects of internal and external control and the Bank’s management in connection with the accounting process are described in detail in the
Statement on the Corporate Governance of Kvika.

Further information about the Bank's corporate governance can be found in an appendix to these financial statements which contains a corporate
governance statement. A copy of the statement is available on the Bank's website, www.kvika.is.

Sustainability and non-financial reporting

Kvika's strategy is to foster competition in financial services and simplify customers' finances and Kvika's values are long-term thinking, simplicity and
courage. One of the Group's guiding principles is to be a responsible participant in society and in 2022 a new sustainability policy was issued that
applies to Kvika and the Group, based on Kvika's ownership policy for important subsidiaries. Subsequently relevant supporting policies were
formulated or updated. Examples of supporting policies include policies on education and professional development, gender equality, health and
human resources, as well as a response plan against bullying, harassment and violence. A human rights policy has not been considered necessary, given
that the Group operates for the most part in Iceland, where there is a clear legal framework regarding human rights matters.

In 2023, changes were made to the organisational structure of sustainability matters in Kvika's operations. A special sustainability committee is in place
and is now composed of the CEO and managing directors of subsidiaries and divisions as well as the Director of Sustainability. The sustainability
department moved from the CEQ's office and now operates under the Operations and Development division.

A new sustainability risk framework for the Group was defined in 2023 and approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors. Kvika Asset Management and
TM have now established sustainability risk policies in line with the sustainability risk framework, that are currently being implemented into processes
within each subsidiary. Assessment of sustainability risk relates to, among other things, responsible investments, lending and communication with
suppliers. Sustainability risk has also been introduced into the remuneration policy, in order to, among other things, meet new EU disclosure
requirements related to sustainability in financial services.

Kvika supports the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, of which six have been prioritized: SDG 3 on good health and safety; SDG 4 on
quality education; SDG 5 on gender equality; SDG 9 on industry, innovations, and infrastructure; SDG 13 on climate action and SDG 17 on partnership
for the goals. Kvika manages the progress made on projects that relate to the SDGs.

Kvika seeks to reduce carbon emissions from its operations and uses a digital environmental management system to do so. In recent years, the Bank’s
operations have undergone considerable changes through mergers with and acquisitions of companies, which has had an impact on key environmental
indicators. Good progress has been made in sorting waste in 2023, but efforts are being made to gain a better overview of waste generation and to
improve waste measurement, with emphasis on automation of relevant processes. Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions in 2023 were 434 tonnes of CO2,
with the largest share due to transport and business travel by employees.

There was a 108.36% increase in green commitments during the year, but a new green bond was issued at the end of the year, in Swedish krona. This
was the first green bond series from an Icelandic bank denominated in Swedish krona and was issued under Kvika's green financing framework.

Kvika is a member of the global collaboration initiative, PCAF (Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials), an industry-led initiative to enable
financial institutions to consistently measure and disclose GHG emissions financed by their loans and investments. Kvika is also a member of the United
Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) and during the year submitted its first mandatory report to the organisation. A group of
employees also attended UN PRI courses on responsible investments. Kvika is one of the founding members of IcelandSIF, an organisation for
responsible investments, and is a member of Festa Centre for Sustainability and Kvika also supports Graenvangur, which is a co-operation forum
between industry and government on climate issues and green solutions. Furthermore, TM, a subsidiary of Kvika, is a member of the United Nations
Principles for Sustainable Insurance (UN PSI).

Fintech solutions and automation play an important role in Kvika's operations and have a positive impact on the environment. Emphasis is placed on
innovation in product development and services and in the development of digital solutions, which offer both social and environmental benefits such
as time savings for customers, less paper and fewer car trips. New solutions in Kvika's product range and services to Kvika's customers have seen the
light of day during the year, for example the establishment of Straumur, the issuance of Aur's electronic credit cards and increased financial services.
The European Union (EU) has implemented legislation in line with the objectives of the EU Green Deal. New disclosure rules have been introduced with
the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), which will enter into force in Iceland in the foreseeable future, along with the Corporate
Sustainability Due Diligence Directive (CSDDD), which will impose requirements on companies to implement sustainability throughout their value chain.
The Sustainability Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) and the EU Taxonomy Regulation have already been implemented in Iceland when Act No.
25/2023 on Sustainable Finance Disclosures entered into force on 1 June 2023.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023
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Endorsement and Statement
by the Board of Directors and the CEO

Kvika has worked on implementing Act No. 25/2023 in the Group’s operations, and the Group is now required to publish information in accordance
with article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation for the first time for the financial year 2023. The EU Taxonomy Regulation establishes a framework for a
classification scheme defining what constitutes an environmentally sustainable economic activity. In order to enforce the provisions of the Regulation,
analysis was carried out on which assets meet the technical criteria of the Regulation which then resulted in the green asset ratio (GAR). The green
asset ratio represents the Group's assets financing and investments in environmentally sustainable economic activities that are aligned with the EU
Taxonomy. The proportion of the Group's green asset ratio at year-end 2023 is 0%. One of the main reasons is that this is the first year that companies
will publish information according to the EU Taxonomy Regulation and therefore there is information missing, mainly from companies that disclose non-
financial information under the Act No. 3/2006 on Annual Accounts.

Extensive work took place during the year on the development of an ESG risk assessment model in line with SFDR's requirements. This entailed
broadening the scope of the ESG risk assessment which can now, for example, be projected onto a loan portfolio. Workshops were held during the year
to discuss responsible investment methodologies among employees of Kvika, Kvika Asset Management and TM.

The Bank has adopted a Group wide policy on measures against financial crime, internal rules for measures against conflicts of interest, rules on gifts,
rewards and incentive payments, as well as policies on reputational and conduct risk. There have also been implemented rules on segregation of duties,
rules on employees' own transactions and rules on the protection of whistle blowers. These and other rules and policies are established for the most
part on a consolidated basis and, along with the Bank's code of ethics, lay the foundation for Kvika's defence against corruption and bribery.

The above-mentioned rules and policies seek to prevent the operations of Kvika and the Bank's subsidiaries from being used for any economic and
financial crimes. The Bank conducts and regularly reviews a money laundering risk assessment of its operations and all business relationships. The
system Lucinity, which utilizes modern technology and artificial intelligence, is used to detect suspicious conduct.

Kvika awards a variety of grants that have a positive social impact, and the selection of projects reflects the six UN SDGs that have been adopted. In
recent years, support has been provided to UNICEF in Iceland; women and innovation with FrumkvodlaAudur, and industrial studies and teacher
training with allocations from Kvika's Incentive Fund. Educational support is considered to be one of the best long-term investments for both societies
and individuals. The total amount of grants from the Kvika group in 2023 was ISK 87 million.

Employees were offered to undergo a health assessment and 155 individuals signed up. This included a blood test, a survey of sleep habits, stress and
exercise levels. The Group's full-time employee turnover was 14.8% in 2023. The proportion of women in the company is 45% and the proportion of
women in senior and management positions within the Group is 35%.

Kvika complies with Article 66. d. of Act No. 3/2006 on Annual Accounts Act on non-financial disclosure. Along with this financial statement, Kvika
publishes a sustainability report for 2023 based on ESG indicators according to the ESG guidelines of Nasdaqg (ESG Reporting Guide 2.0) and to a limited
extent on GRI indicators according to the standards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The report contains a section that is the Bank's impact and
allocation report according to Kvika's green financing framework. Deloitte provides a limited assurance opinion on Kvika's sustainability and non-
financial disclosures for the year 2023, as well as on the allocation of green funds according to Kvika’s green financing framework.

More information on Kvika’s sustainability and non-financial information can be found in the sustainability report that accompanies this financial
statement and is available on the bank's website www.kvika.is.

Statement by the Board of Directors and the CEO

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year 2023 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU, and additional requirements, as applicable, in the Act on Annual Accounts no. 3/2006, the Act on Financial
Undertakings no. 161/2002 and rules on accounting for credit institutions no. 834/2003.

To the best of our knowledge these Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the Group's assets, liabilities and financial position as
at 31 December 2023 and the financial performance of the Group and changes of cash flows for the year 2023. Furthermore, in our opinion the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Endorsement of the Board of Directors and the CEO give a fair view of the development and performance of
the Group's operations and its position and describe the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year 2023 identified as "254900WR311Z9NPC7D84-2023-12-31-en" are
prepared in all material respects, in compliance with the European Single Electronic Format Regulation (ESEF).

The Board of Directors and the CEO of the Bank have today discussed the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 2023 and confirmed them by
the means of their signatures.

Reykjavik, 15 February 2024.

Board of Directors

Sigurdur Hannesson, Chairman
Gudmundur bérdarson, Deputy Chairman
Helga Kristin Audunsdéttir

Ingunn Svala Leifsdéttir

Gudjon Reynisson

Chief Executive Officer

Armann porvaldsson

The consolidated financial statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year ended 31 December 2023 are electronically certificated by the Board of Directors
and the CEO.
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Kvika banki hf.

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kvika banki hf.

Opinion
We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year ended December 31, 2023 which comprise, the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of changes

in equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Kvika banki hf. as at
December 31, 2023, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements, as applicable, in the Act on Annual Accounts, the Act on Financial
Undertakings and rules on accounting for credit institutions.

Our opinion in this report on the Consolidated Financial Statements is consistent with the content of the additional report that has been submitted to the
company’s audit committee in accordance with the EU Audit Regulation 537/2014 Article 11.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of Kvika banki hf. in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Iceland, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA.

Based on the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited services referred to in the EU Audit Regulation 537/2014 Article 5.1 has been provided.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment charges for loans

Book value of loans to customers amounted to ISK 136,323 million at{Based on our risk assessment and industry knowledge, we have examined the
year end (2022: ISK 107,139 million) and the total expected credit loss|impairment charges for loans and provisions for undrawn loan commitments and
for the group amounted to ISK 2,234 million (2022: ISK 2,666 million)|evaluated the methodology applied as well as the assumptions made according
against loans at amortized cost, unused credit facilities and guarantees|to the description of the key audit matter.

at 31 December 2023.

Measurement of loan impairment charges for loans and provisions for[During our audit we have evaluated whether the Groups expected credit loss
guarantees is deemed a key audit matter as the determination of|models are compliant to IFRS 9.

assumptions for expected credit losses is highly subjective due to the|Qur examination included the following elements:

level of judgement applied by Management.

e Testing of key controls over assumptions used in the expected credit loss

The most significant judgements are: models.
e Timely identification of exposures with significant increase in credit{e Obtaining and substantively testing the evidence behind valuation of collateral
risk and credit impaired exposures. with particular focus on post-model adjustments applied to collateral value.

e Valuation of collateral and assumptions of future cash flows onfe Substantively testing the PD models, related methodology and how they have
manually assessed credit-impaired exposures. been applied in the expected credit loss models.

e Post-model adjustments for particular high-risk exposures, which are[e Testing the appropriateness of forward looking information and how they
not appropriately captured in the expected credit loss model. have been applied in the expected credit loss models.

e Assumptions used in the expected credit loss models to incorporate|We have reviewed the disclosures to the Consolidated Financial statements to
macroeconomic uncertainties. confirm compliance with IFRS.

Management has provided further information about expected credit
losses and provisions for guarantees in notes 23, 48 and 84 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf.

Independent Auditor's Report

Other information

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the other information. Other information comprises the report of board of directors, Statement of
the Corporate Governance and EU Taxonomy Regulation.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, except the
confirmation regarding report of the board of directors as stated below.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

In accordance with Paragraph 2 article 104 of the Icelandic Financial Statement Act no. 3/2006, we confirm to the best of our knowledge that the
accompanying report of the board of directors includes all information required by the Icelandic Financial Statement Act that is not disclosed elsewhere in
the financial statements.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the CEO for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and additional requirements in the Icelandic Financial Statement Act, and for such
internal control as the Board of Directors and the CEO determines is necessary to enable the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for assessing Kvika banki hf.’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors
and the CEO either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of directors and the audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Kvika banki hf. financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Kvika banki hf.'s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Consolidated Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
Consolidated Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023



Kvika banki hf.

Independent Auditor's Report

We communicate with the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

In addition to our work as the auditors of Kvika banki hf., Deloitte has provided the firm with permitted additional services such as review of interim
financial statements, other assurance engagements and consultation on tax matters. Deloitte has in place internal procedures in order to ensure its
independence before acceptance of additional services. Deloitte has provided to the audit commitee written confirmation that Deloitte is independent of
Kvika banki hf.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Report on European single electronic format (ESEF Regulation)

As part of our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. we performed procedures to be able to issue an opinion on whether the
Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year 2023 with the file name ,254900WR311Z9NPC7D84-2023-12-31-en.zip “is prepared, in all
material respects, in compliance with laws no. 20/2021 disclosure obligation of issuers of securities and the obligation to flag relating to requirements
regarding European single electronic format regulation EU 2019/815 which include requirements related to the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements in XHTML format and iXBRL markup.

Management is responsible for preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in compliance with laws no. 20/2021 disclosure obligation of issuers of
securities and the obligation to flag. This responsibility includes preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements in a XHTML format in accordance to EU
regulation 2019/815 on the European single electronic format (ESEF regulation).

Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance, based on evidence that we have obtained, on whether the Consolidated Financial Statements is
prepared in all material respects, in compliance with the ESEF Regulation, and to issue a report that includes our opinion. The nature, timing and extent of
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material departures from the requirement set out in the
ESEF regulation, whether due to fraud or error.

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements of Kvika banki hf. for the 2023 with the file name ,,254900WR311Z9NPC7D84-2023-12-31-en.zip“ is
prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the ESEF Regulation.

Deloitte was appointed auditor of Kvika banki hf. by the general meeting of shareholders on March 30th 2023. Deloitte have been elected since the general
meeting 2016.

Képavogur, 15 February 2024.
Deloitte ehf.

Gudmundur Ingdlfsson

State Authorized Public Accountant

The consolidated financial statements of Kvika banki hf. for the year ended 31 December 2023 are electronically certificated by the auditor.
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Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year 2023

Notes 2023 2022 *
INLErest iINCOME ..oocvieiiiieciiecciee e 22,425,240 14,576,190
Interest expense ... (14,404,510) (7,491,240)
Net interest income 6 8,020,729 7,084,950
FEE and COMMISSION INCOME .....oocuiiiiiiiiiiictie ettt ettt e et e et e st e steesbe e sbeebeessesasesseseeaseessasteenseenseeaseessesasesbeesbeebees sebeennes 6,455,647 6,878,725
FEE aNT COMMISSION EXPENSE ....vveveevieiietietieteetesteeteetestestestestessessesessessessessessessessessessaseaseeseeseaseaseasessessestessessessessansseenens (539,199) (465,056)
Net fee and commission income 7 5,916,447 6,413,668
NEt fINANCIAI INCOME ..ttt ettt et e e e st e s be e st e e beeabeeabeeasesssessesseessaesseessese aesbeebeenbeenranns 8 442,389 278,360
Share in profit of associates, net of income tax ........ccceeuene 26 35,756 26,725
Other operating income ................. 436,900 675,408
Other net operating income 915,045 980,493
Net operating income 14,852,222 14,479,111
Administrative expenses ... 10-13 (10,784,684) (9,091,533)
Net impairment 14 (1,027,489) (567,322)
Revaluation of contingeNnt CONSIAEIATION .......eciiiesierieieieieiet ettt ettt et e te et et estestesbestestessesessessensensensensenseneas (31,048) (17,646)
Profit before taxes from continuing operations 3,009,001 4,802,611
INCOME TAX 1eevveeeeeerieereeerecere ettt ebe b 15 (389,673) 45,255
Special tax on financial activity ..........c.cc..... 16 (82,026) (309,391)
Special tax on financial institutions .................... 17 (233,414) (185,348)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 2,303,887 4,353,127
Discontinued operations
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued OPErations .........ccccceeerirerinirenine e 4 1,730,389 560,255
Profit for the year 4,034,276 4,913,381

Notes 2023 2022
Attributable to the shareholders of KVika bBanki hf. ........ooiiiiiiiieeeee e eae e 4,018,503 4,882,945
Attributable to NON-CONTIOIING INTEIEST ....ccuiiuiieieeete ettt st st b ettt b e et et et enes 25 15,772 30,437
Profit for the year 4,034,276 4,913,381
Earnings per share 18
Basic earnings per share (ISK per share) 0.84 1.02
Diluted earnings per share (ISK per share) 0.84 1.02

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 4 for further information.

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year 2023

Notes 2023 2022

Profit for the year 4,034,276 4,913,381
Changes in fair value of financial assets through OCI, Net Of taX ....ccoviriririenieieieee e (433,002) (537,359)
Realized net loss transferred to the Income Statement, Nt Of tAX ...cccviiiieeiieeerieeee e et eanes 77,089 37,864
Changes to reserve for financial assets at fair value through OCI (355,912) (499,495)
Exchange difference on translation of foreign 0pPerations ..........occoererererierieieeee e 28,808 (3,706)
Other comprehensive income that is or may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss (327,105) (503,202)
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,707,171 4,410,180
Notes 2023 2022

Attributable to the shareholders of Kvika banki hf. .................. 3,691,399 4,374,678
Attributable to non-controlling interest .................. 15,772 35,502
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,707,171 4,410,180

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023

Assets Notes 31.12.2023 31.12.2022*
Cash and balances with Central Bank 19 23,681,453 36,670,586
Fixed income securities ..........coveeuneen 20 64,977,406 65,160,407
Shares and other variable income securities 21 3,857,480 19,410,508
Securities used for hedging 22 16,852,313 13,841,853
Loans to customers 23 136,323,481 107,139,227
Derivatives .. 24 2,497,877 4,940,738
Investment in associates ... 26 96,194 88,988
Investment Properties ......ccceeeeveeeenieennieeesiee e 27 0 1,165,398
Intangible assets ..........c.c..... 28 21,906,363 34,079,900
Operating lease assets 29 530,144 884,222
Property and equipment 618,361 480,706
Deferred tax assets 15, 30 2,902,580 3,232,933
Reinsurance contract assets .... 0 691,239
Other assets 31 10,401,128 11,883,489
Assets classified as held fOr SAIE ..o 4 50,752,652 0
Total assets 335,397,432 299,670,195
Liabilities

Deposits ....ccceveenene 32 133,772,941 112,245,198
Insurance contract liabilities ...........ccoec.... 0 21,101,090
Borrowings .......cccceeeuene 33 23,817,062 28,120,009
Issued bonds ......cccevenee 34 45,715,427 38,103,414
Subordinated liabilities ................... 35 5,993,084 3,686,451
Short positions held for trading 36 131,745 1,486,107
Short positions used for hedging 37 4,230 1,343,186
Derivatives 24 2,196,904 1,609,537
Current tax liabilities 17 203,214
Deferred tax liabilities .... 30 272,615 944,274
Other liabilities ......cceveevirerenirinerreeee e 38 16,593,993 9,738,535
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale 4 24,941,611 0
Total liabilities 253,439,628 218,581,015
Equity

Share capital 39 4,722,073 4,781,026
Share premium 47,661,777 48,602,825
Other reserves 4,330,081 3,068,159
Retained earnings . 25,171,754 24,559,886
Total equity attributable to the shareholders of Kvika banki hf. 81,885,685 81,011,895
NON-CONEIOIING INTEIEST ...vveiiiiieiieit ettt e st e st e sae e aessaessaesseesbeenbeensesnsesnns 25 72,119 77,285
Total equity 81,957,804 81,089,180
Total liabilities and equity 335,397,432 299,670,195

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf. Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year 2023
Other reserves
Deficit Trans-  Restricted Total share- Non-
Share Share Option Warrants  reduction  Fair value lation retained Retained holders' controlling Total

1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 Notes capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings earnings equity interest equity
Equity as at 1 January 2023 4,781,026 48,602,825 155,951 0 1,203,697 (574,319) 57,338 2,225,492 24,559,886 81,011,895 77,285 81,089,180
Profit for the year 4,018,503 4,018,503 15,772 4,034,276
Changes in fair value of financial assets through OCl ................ (433,002) (433,002) (433,002)
Realized net loss transferred to the Income Statement ............ 77,089 77,089 77,089
Translation of foreign operations

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations ..... 28,808 28,808 0 28,808
Total comprehensive income for the year ......... 0 0 0 0 0 (355,912) 28,808 0 4,018,503 3,691,399 15,772 3,707,171
Restricted due to subsidiaries and associates . 1,443,488 (1,443,488) 0 0
Restricted due to development costs 127,884 (127,884) 0 0
Transactions with owners of the Bank

Treasury shares acquired as part of a buy-back programme .. (58,952)  (941,048) (1,000,000) (1,000,000)

Dividend paid to shareholders ..........cccooerievienenineniieieene (1,912,410) (1,912,410) (1,912,410)

SEOCK OPLIONS ..ttt 68 17,654 73,997 91,651 91,651
Other transactions

Acquisition from a non-controlling interest ..........ccccceceverennes 3,150 3,150 (20,938) (17,788)
Equity as at 31 December 2023 4,722,073 47,661,777 173,605 0 1,203,697 (930,231) 86,145 3,796,865 25,171,754 81,885,685 72,119 81,957,804

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf. Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year 2022
Other reserves
Deficit Trans-  Restricted Total share- Non-
Share Share Option Warrants  reduction  Fair value lation retained Retained holders' controlling Total

1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 Notes capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings earnings equity interest equity
Equity asat 1 January 2022 .......cccceeevieveeeiieennieeeeree e 4,790,139 50,316,002 4,430 56,468 3,103,697 (74,823) 66,109 6,457,912 13,696,745 78,416,678 (49,058) 78,367,620

Impact of adopting IFRS 17 3 (101,285) (101,285) (101,285)
Restated opening balance under IFRS 17 4,790,139 50,316,002 4,430 56,468 3,103,697 (74,823) 66,109 6,457,912 13,595,460 78,315,393 (49,058) 78,266,335
Profit for the year 4,882,945 4,882,945 30,437 4,913,381
Changes in fair value of financial assets through OCI (537,359) (537,359) (537,359)
Realized net loss transferred to the Income Statement ............ 37,864 37,864 37,864
Translation of foreign operations

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations ..... (8,772) (8,772) 5,066 (3,706)
Total comprehensive income for the year ...... 0 0 0 0 0 (499,495) (8,772) 0 4,882,945 4,374,678 35,502 4,410,180
Restricted due to subsidiaries and associates . (4,321,471) 4,321,471 0 0
Restricted due to development costs ... 89,050 (89,050) 0 0
Transfer from deficit reduction reserve .........ccocceeveevveevreecreeennnn. (1,900,000) 1,900,000 0 0
Transactions with owners of the Bank

Capital INCrEASE ...eveeueeiiierieeieee e 138,758 1,086,482 1,225,240 1,225,240

Treasury shares acquired as part of a buy-back programme .. (147,871) (2,856,127) (3,003,998) (3,003,998)

Stock options 68 151,521 39,902 191,423 191,423

Warrants exercised 56,468 (56,468) 0 0
Other transactions

Acquisition of non-controlling interest via merger ................. (90,841) (90,841) 90,841 0
Equity as at 31 December 2022 4,781,026 48,602,825 155,951 0 1,203,697  (574,319) 57,338 2,225,492 24,559,886 81,011,895 77,285 81,089,180

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year 2023

Cash flows from operating activities Notes 2023 2022 *
PrOFIt fOr the YEAT ...ttt b et b e bbb sbe b sbe st e st et saeeneenes 4,034,276 4,913,381
Adjustments for:
Indexation and exchange rate difference ..........ccccceovrenennnneneneneeee (188,114) 883,787
Share in profit of associates, net of income tax ................... (35,756) (26,725)
Depreciation and amortisation .................. 1,109,490 1,190,515
Net interest income .... (8,020,729) (7,675,450)
Net impairment 1,027,489 531,823
INCOME LAX 1evvreeeeeeiirieeeeeereee e e e e e 705,114 212,479
Adjustment relating to assets held for sale ..........cccecvvnnininnnneneeeen 445,029 329,020
[ 14 T=T g o F VT 0 =T o £ OSSO RPPRRR 94,801 98,030
(828,401) 456,862
Changes in:
Fixed income securities (21,211,295) (25,738,126)
Shares and other variable income securities ................. 227,425 2,048,054
Securities used for hedging (3,010,460) 8,243,842
Loans to customers ...........c........ (29,420,426) (22,900,240)
Derivatives - assets .........ccceeunenn. 2,442,861 (2,206,522)
Operating lease assets ................. 194,187 673,986
Other @SSEtS .cueevieieeriecriecreereere et 484,156 (4,030,841)
Deposits 20,669,844 31,715,859
Insurance contract I|ab|||t|es .................... 2,166,335 1,992,084
Short positions ........c.cecueeene (2,693,319) 224,794
Derivatives - liabilities .... 529,292 (2,073,983)
Other liabilities 8,286,647 2,408,926
(21,334,752) (9,642,164)
INTEIEST FECEIVEM ..vveiveeeeirie ettt e ettt ettt ste e ettt esbe e e s taeesabaeesaaeessaeeesaeeessaeersaeeesseesasseessseesnbeeesateessaeessbees seensneenes 21,389,947 14,169,572
Interest paid ........ccoenene (13,561,855) (6,624,663)
Income tax paid ... (494,455) (212,479)
Net cash to operating activities (14,829,515) (1,852,872)
Cash flows from investing activities
AcqUisition Of INTANGIDIE @SSELS ..eviiuiriiiiiee bbbttt 28 (1,539,716) (835,246)
Net acquisition of property and equipment .................. (342,664) (607,535)
Dividend from associates ................ 27,493 6,087
Acquisition of subsidiary and associates, Net Of CAS .......c.ccueieiririiirice e (20,938) (318,994)
Net cash to investing activities (1,875,826) (1,755,687)
Cash flows from financing activities
BOrrowings ......ccceevenne (5,176,815) (1,543,572)
Issued bonds .... 10,821,525 5,551,208
Subordinated liabilities ........c..ccuv..... 2,000,000 0
Increase in share capital and share premium 0 1,225,240
Acquired own shares (1,000,000) (3,003,998)
Dividend paid to shareholders .... (1,912,410) 0
Repayment of lease liabilities ...........c..c..... (424,085) (410,412)
Net cash from financing activities 4,308,215 1,818,466
Net change in cash and balances with Central Bank (12,397,126) (1,790,093)
Cash and balances with Central Bank at the beginning of the year . 36,670,586 38,645,894
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to assets held for sale 4 (995,561) 0
Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and balances with Central Bank 403,554 (185,215)
Cash and balances with Central Bank at the end of the year 19 23,681,453 36,670,586

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.

The notes on pages 17 to 77 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

1.

Reporting entity

Kvika banki hf. ("Kvika" or the "Bank") is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Iceland, with its registered office at Katrinartin 2,
Reykjavik. The Bank operates as a bank based on Act No. 161/2002, on Financial Undertakings, and is supervised by the Financial Supervisory
Authority of the Central Bank ("FME"). The Group, comprised of Kvika and its subsidiaries, has been designated by the FME as a financial
conglomerate as defined in Article no. 3 of Act no. 61/2017 on Additional Supervision of Financial Conglomerates.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 comprise Kvika banki hf. and its subsidiaries (together referred to as
the Group). As disclosed in December 2022, and discussed in the Consolidated Financial Statements for 2022, changes were made to the Group's
operating segments which took effect on 1 January 2023. Furthermore, as disclosed in note 4, the subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. has been classified
as a disposal group held for sale. Insurance operations are therefore a discontinued operation and are no longer reported as an operating segment.
The Group operates four business segments, Asset Management, Corporate Banking, Corporate Banking and Capital Markets and UK operations.
Operating without a branch network, Kvika provides businesses, investors, and individuals with investment banking, insurance, asset management,
payment, and banking services.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and the CEO on 15 February 2024.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by
the European Union and additional requirements, as applicable, in the Act on Annual Accounts no. 3/2006, the Act on Financial Undertakings no.
161/2002 and rules on accounting for credit institutions no. 834/2003.

Due to the reclassification of the subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. as disposal group held for sale, in accordance with IFRS 5, comparative figures in the
Income Statement have been restated, reference is made to note 4.

Basis of measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared using the historical cost basis except for the following:
fixed income securities are measured at fair value;

shares and other variable income securities are measured at fair value;
securities used for hedging are measured at fair value;

certain loans to customers which are measured at fair value;
derivatives are measured at fair value;

- investment properties are measured at fair value;

shared based payment is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2;
contingent consideration is measured at fair value; and

- short positions are measured at fair value

Functional and presentation currency

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in Icelandic Krona (ISK), which is the Group's functional currency. All financial information has
been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The Group's assets and liabilities which are denominated in other currency than ISK are translated to ISK using the exchange rate as at the end of
day 31 December 2023.

Going concern
The Bank's management has assessed the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to
continue its operations.

Estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical results and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Information about areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies that can have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated Financial Statements is provided in note 112.

Relevance and importance of notes to the reader

In order to enhance the informational value of the Consolidated Financial Statements, the notes are evaluated based on relevance and importance
for the reader. This can result in information, that has been evaluated as neither important nor relevant for the reader, not being presented in the
notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Changes in accounting policies

On 1 January 2023 the Group adopted IFRS 17 and hedge accounting according to IFRS 9 and IAS 39. The sections below explain in further details
the change for both adoptions.

Hedge accounting

The Group adopted hedge accounting according to IAS 39, in line with exemption from IFRS 9. The purpose of the hedge accounting is to hedge
against exchange difference on translation of foreign operations. Derivatives are used as a hedging instrument against translation of foreign
operations in equity.

The Group documents the relationship between the hedge instrument and hedged item on initial recognition. An efficiency test is performed
according to IAS 39 to determine if the hedge relationship is effective. The results of the efficiency test must be in the range of 80-125% to be
considered effective.

If the hedge relationship does not meet the above criteria due to inefficiency, the foreign currency exchange difference is recognised in the
consolidated income statement instead of equity. If the derivative instrument is sold, expires, terminated or exercised in the period that the hedge
relationship is in place, the hedge relationship becomes ineffective and hedge accounting is ceased.

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

The Group has initially applied IFRS 17, including any consequential amendments to other standards, from 1 January 2023, replacing IFRS 4
Insurance contracts. This standard has brought changes to the accounting for insurance and reinsurance contracts. As a result, the Group has
restated certain comparative amounts.

The nature and effects of the key changes in the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 17 is summarised below.

Recognition, measurement and presentation of insurance contracts

IFRS 17 establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, reinsurance contracts and
investment contracts with discretionary participation features. It introduces a model that measures groups of contracts based on the Group’s
estimates of the present value of future cash flows that are expected to arise as the Group fulfils the contracts, an explicit risk adjustment for non-
financial risk.

Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 17 have been applied using a full retrospective approach. Under the full
retrospective approach, at 1 January 2022 the Group:

- Identified, recognised and measured each group of insurance and reinsurance contracts as if IFRS 17 had always been applied;

- recognised any resulting net difference in equity. The carrying amount of goodwill from previous business combinations was not adjusted.

Effect on the statement of financial position

The largest change to the Group’s statement of financial position is that instead of the current premium provision, which is a large part of the
insurance provision, there is now only a liability equal to premiums received, i.e. liability for remaining coverage. The Group has decided to charge
acquisition costs as they occur instead of amortising over the contract period. The provision only applies to premiums received and therefore no
accounts receivables are formed on the asset side of the statement of financial position (a part of the Group’s other assets) related to the
premiums for the remaining period of the contracts. The effects of this are similar to the effects of subtracting accounts receivables for premiums
from the current premium reserve.

Other changes include the inclusion of liability for unpaid operational expenses allocated to insurance in the liability of incurred claims and the
evaluation of the Risk Adjustment, both gross and reinsurers share, which is different to the previous calculation of Risk Margin in IFRS4.

The table below shows the effect of implementation on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at 1 January 2022:

31.12.2022 Impact of 31.12.2022
IFRS 4 IFRS 17 IFRS 17
Assets:
REINSUIANCE @SSEES ...cuviiuiieiiietiecieeete et et ete et e st e st e et e et e e besaseessesaeeaeesseesseesseeseenseenseessesanesbsesbeeseens 627,469 (627,469) 0
Reinsurance contract assets .... 0 691,239 691,239
Other assets 15,465,850 (3,582,361) 11,883,489
F NI 1 a1 o Ty =1 SRR 287,095,467 0 287,095,467
Total assets 303,188,786 (3,518,591) 299,670,195
Liabilities and Equity:
TECHNICAI PIOVISIONS ...ttt ettt ettt b e bt bbbt s besbesbesbeseas 24,362,281 (24,362,281) 0
Insurance contract liabilities ... 0 21,101,090 21,101,090
Other liabilities 9,894,650 (156,115) 9,738,535
Retained earnings 24,661,171 (101,285) 24,559,886
All other liabilities and equity .... 244,270,684 0 244,270,684
Total liabilities and equity 303,188,786 (3,518,591) 299,670,195

Effect on the income statement
The classification the subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. as discontinued operations resulted in comparative information being restated. Refer to note 4
for more information on the discontinued operations.
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Discontinued operations

In early October 2023, the Bank announced that following a strategic review at Kvika, the BOD has decided to initiate a process for selling or listing
of its insurance subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. ("TM"), a wholly owned subsidiary. In December 2023, the Bank further announced that it had
received non-binding offers for the share capital of TM, both for all outstanding shares and part of the shares. It is anticipated that the sale or
listing of TM will be completed in the second or third quarter of 2024. At year-end 2023, TM was classified as a disposal group held for sale and as
a discontinued operation. TM is measured at the lower of carrying amount upon the date of reclassification and fair value less costs to sell.

Restated Consolidated Income Statement for the year 2022:

Published Operation of
accounts TM tryggingar 2022*
Net interest income ... 7,675,450 (590,500) 7,084,950
Net fee and commission income 6,408,110 5,558 6,413,668
Insurance revenue 16,517,836 (16,517,836) 0
Incurred claims and net expense from reinsurance contract held (12,307,539) 12,307,539 0
Net financial income 272 278,089 278,360
Share in profit of associates, net of income tax 26,725 0 26,725
Other operating income . 859,600 (184,192) 675,408
Administrative expenses related to insurance service (13,075,783) 3,984,250 (9,091,533)
Net impairment (531,823) (35,498) (567,322)
Revaluation of contingent consideration ... (17,646) 0 (17,646)
Revaluation of investment properties .... 65,398 (65,398) 0
Income tax and other taxes (707,218) 257,734 (449,484)
DiSCONTINUED OPEIATIONS ..eeuviiiiiiiiiiiierierieeite ettt et aeesaeeae e b e ssaesseesbessesssessnesbaenseens 560,255 560,255
Profit for the year 4,913,381 0 4,913,381
The results of the discontinued operations for the year are presented below:
2023 2022*
Net interest income ........ccueeue. 896,360 590,500
Net fee and commission income 24,243 (5,558)
Insurance revenue 18,484,259 16,517,836
Incurred claims and net expense from reinsurance contract held (13,466,035) (12,088,132)
Net financial income ................... 437,768 (497,495)
Other OPEIAtiNG INCOME ...iiuviiiiiiiiiteeiteeiteete st et et e e et e st te st e bt e bt sseesaeesbeesbe e beesteessesssessseseesseesseessenseenseenses senbeensenns 199,837 184,192
Administrative expenses related to insurance service (4,523,638) (4,130,623)
Net impairment 20,893 35,498
Revaluation of investment properties .... 59,602 65,398
Income tax .... (483,429) (227,066)
1,649,861 444,550
Administrative expenses, stranded costs 102,402 146,374
Income tax (21,874) (30,668)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 1,730,389 560,255
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations as at year-end 2023 are, as follows:
Assets 31.12.2023
Cash and balances WIth CENTIAl BANK .......c.cccuiiiiiiiiieiieeieet ettt ettt et e bt e e teebeeabesaeesaeeste e beebeeabeeasasssessesssesseesseessans shaesssenbeenbasasanns 995,561
Fixed income securities 19,824,505
Shares and other variable income securities ... 14,543,128
Investment properties ..........cocee.... 1,240,135
Intangible assets 12,615,362
Other assets 1,533,960
Assets classified as held for sale 50,752,652
Liabilities
INSUFANCE CONTIACT HADTITIES ..eeviiiieiiciece ettt ettt e st et e e b e e abeeteesbe e beesbeeabeesbeesseassensseaseessen sesbesasesseesasesaensaeabensaanns 23,267,425
DEfEITEA tAX [ADIIITIES ..cuveiuiieeieciiecie ettt ettt e et e et e e b e e teeeteeeteeebeeabeeasesaeesheeabeenbeeabeeabeen sabeesseessenssenssensesasesssessaesbeebeans 629,063
OTNEE TIADIITIES .veiuveeeieeiiectieete ettt ettt et e e e te e ete et e e taeetaeeseeebeeabeesseeaseeasesbe e beeabeeabeease aesseessenssenseenseesseessestsesbeeseeabeeasesasansns 1,045,123
Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale 24,941,611
ElIMINQTIONS WILN TNE GIOUD c.uviiiiiiiiieiieitiesiteitt sttt sttt ettt sa e et e et e e e e e b e s b e e sse e be e s besasesbeesbe e beeabeenbeeatesssense eenseeseensesnsesseesbeesbaentenns 1,018,962
Net assets directly associated with disposal group 26,830,002

* Comparative information has been restated.
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4. Discontinued operations (cont.)

Amounts included in accumulated OCI: 2023 2022
Fair value of financial assets tNrOUBN OCI ..........ccuciiieiririiisese ettt seeseeseeseesessesrennas (387,416) (221,950)
Deferred tax on fair value reserve ettt eeeeeiteeeteeeteesteetesstesseesseesteeteetteeseeaseenteeiaeeeeateeateenteenreebeaaes 77,483 44,390
Reserve of disposal group classified as held for sale (309,933) (177,560)
The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations are as follows:

2023 2022
(] o 1= = o TP PP PPN 4,779,187 4,008,670
Investing ............... (6,207,467) 550,856
Financing .......c.co..... (6,980) (4,181,195)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow (1,435,260) 378,331
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Segment information

5. Business segments

Segment reporting is based on the same principles and structure as internal reporting to the CEO and the Board of Directors. Segment performance is
evaluated on profit before tax.

Reportable segments

As disclosed in December 2022, and discussed in the Consolidated Financial Statements for 2022, changes were made to the Group's operating
segments which took effect on 1 January 2023. The specialised financing operations of the Commercial Banking division, along with the Investment
Banking division, now form a new revenue division, Corporate Banking and Capital Markets. Furthermore, as disclosed in note 4, the subsidiary TM
tryggingar hf. has been classified as a disposal group held for sale. Insurance operation are therefore a discontinued operations and are no longer
reported as an operating segment. During the year 2023, the Group defined four reportable operating segments; Asset Management, Commercial
Banking, Corporate Banking and Capital Markets and UK operations. The figures for the year 2023 reflect the operating segment structure that was in
place during that year, taking into account the discontinuation of the insurance operations, and comparison amounts for the previous year have been
restated accordingly.

- Asset Management
Products and services offered include asset management involving both domestic and foreign assets, private banking and private pension plans.
The management of a broad range of mutual funds, investment funds and institutional investor funds is included in this segment through the
operations of Kvika eignastyring hf.

- Commercial Banking
Commercial Banking offers various forms of banking services and related advisory services. Included in this operating segment is Lykill, the leasing
operations of the Group, and the Group's fintech operations, such as Audur, Netgiré and Aur, as well as the payment facilitation operations of
Straumur greidslumidlun hf.

- Corporate Banking and Capital Markets
Corporate Banking & Capital Markets provide a range of professional services in the fields of specialised financing, securities and foreign exchange
transactions and corporate finance services. The functions of Market Making and Treasury are also included in the segment although they are a
part of Kvika's Finance division.

- UK operations
The UK operations consist of asset management and corporate finance services through Kvika Securities Ltd. and specialised lending services
through Ortus Secured Finance Ltd.
UK operations is the only geographic area outside of Iceland and for the period 2023 it accounts for 9.5% (2022: 7.2%) of net operating income.

Supporting units consist of the functions carried out by the Bank's support divisions, such as Risk Management, Finance, IT and Operations, etc. The
information presented relating to the supporting units does not represent an operating segment.

Corporate
Banking
Asset Commercial & Capital UK Supporting

2023 Management Banking Markets operations units Total
Net interest income 10,189 3,376,880 3,883,048 802,850 (52,238) 8,020,729
Net fee and commission income ... 2,475,130 1,373,071 1,577,910 474,892 15,445 5,916,447
Net financial income 70,982 1,666 242,588 127,153 0 442,389
Share in profit of associates . (215) 35,732 239 0 - 35,756
Other operating income 52,127 281,480 13,757 - 89,536 436,900
Net operating income 2,608,213 5,068,829 5,717,542 1,404,895 52,743 14,852,222
Salaries and related expenses (1,099,077) (863,879) (1,078,325) (612,421) (2,799,897)  (6,453,599)
Other operating expenses .... (101,411) (1,628,797) (302,209) (521,573) (1,777,095)  (4,331,085)
Administrative expenses (1,200,488) (2,492,676) (1,380,534) (1,133,994) (4,576,991) (10,784,684)
Net impairmeNnt .....cccoeeveereeereeeeeeeeeeeseeene - (312,534) (510,900) (204,496) 440  (1,027,489)
Revaluation of contingent consideration ... (31,048) - - - - (31,048)
Cost allocation (944,653) (1,649,936) (1,405,737) (328,058) 4,328,384 -
Profit (loss) before tax 432,024 613,684 2,420,371 (261,654) (195,424) 3,009,001
Net segment revenue from external

CUSEOMETS .ttt snenes 2,618,572 1,311,187 8,389,039 2,465,677 67,748 14,852,222
Net segment revenue from other

segments (10,359) 3,757,642 (2,671,496) (1,060,782) (15,005) 0
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5. Business segments (cont.)

Corporate
Banking
Asset Commercial & Capital UK Supporting

2022 * Management Banking Markets  operations units Total
Net interest income 2,377 3,595,425 3,133,671 452,856 (99,379) 7,084,950
Net fee and commission income ... 3,068,805 969,612 1,976,767 349,492 48,992 6,413,668
Net financial income 62,421 (71,703) 39,792 247,678 172 278,360
Share in profit of associates (68) 26,793 - - - 26,725
Other operating iNCOME ........cceceeererenenenenenee 9,089 559,556 - (1,098) 107,862 675,408
Net operating income 3,142,624 5,079,683 5,150,229 1,048,928 57,647 14,479,111
Salaries and related expenses .... (1,080,555) (661,651) (1,027,227) (416,019) (2,094,568)  (5,280,020)
Other operating expenses (84,732) (1,424,551) (301,764) (561,705) (1,438,762) (3,811,513)
Administrative expenses (1,165,287) (2,086,201) (1,328,991) (977,723) (3,533,330) (9,091,533)
Net impairment - (56,754) (416,432) (94,136) - (567,322)
Revaluation of contingent consideration (17,646) - - - - (17,646)
Cost allocation (866,607) (1,009,427) (1,193,468) (217,730) 3,287,233 -
Profit (loss) before tax 1,093,085 1,927,300 2,211,338 (240,661) (188,451) 4,802,611
Net segment revenue from external

CUSEOMENS vttt 3,162,433 4,053,650 5,642,393 1,569,324 51,312 14,479,111
Net segment revenue from other

SEEBMENTES .ottt (19,808) 1,026,032 (492,164) (520,396) 6,335 (0)

The figures for the year 2022 have been restated to reflect changes made in the presentation of internal reporting and reportable segments as of 1
January 2023, and the discontinuation of insurance operations.

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
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Income statement

6. Net interest income

Interest income is specified as follows:

2023 2022
Cash and balances With CENTIAI BANK ........eccvueeicieieiiieiieeecree et e e st e sstreesreeessaeesaeesssseesssseessseessseestaeessssessseesssessasseesareeen sensneennns 1,697,958 1,001,738
Derivatives . 1,571,640 2,422,309
LOANS tO CUSLOMEIS .veeiieeee et et e e e eee e e e e eeere e e e e enees ... 15,315,986 9,520,831
Fixed income securities (FVOCI) . . 3,837,064 1,625,454
(014 oY= a0 =T =T [ [ele 1 1 [ PP STS 2,593 5,859
Total 22,425,240 14,576,190

Interest expense is specified as follows:

2023 2022
Deposits 8,442,963 2,971,531
Borrowings 1,885,625 1,354,360

Issued bonds .......ccceeenee
Subordinated liabilities ..

3,329,984 2,414,621
529,637 518,940

Derivatives 144,031 95,360
Other interest expense* 72,271 136,429
Total 14,404,510 7,491,240
Net interest income 8,020,729 7,084,950

* Thereof are lease liabilities' interest expense amounting to ISK 65 million (2022: ISK 96 million).

Total interest income recognised in respect of financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss amounts to I1SK 16,840 million (2022: ISK
10,325 million). Total interest expense recognised in respect of financial liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss amounts to I1SK 14,260
million (2022: ISK 7,396 million).

7. Net fee and commission income

Fee income and expenses are presented on a net fee basis, as presented in internal reporting to management for decision making purposes and
broken down by business segments. The business segments are representative of the nature and types of activity from which the Group generates fee
income from. A description of each business segment is provided in note 5. As discussed in that note, the Group changed the structure of its internal
reporting and reportable segments, taking effect on 1 January 2023. The figures for the period in 2023 reflect this structure and the comparison
amounts have been restated accordingly.

Net fee and commission income by business segment 2023 2022
Asset Management ..... 2,475,130 3,068,805
Commercial Banking ... 1,373,071 969,612
Corporate Banking & Capital Markets 1,577,910 1,976,767
UK operations . 474,892 349,492
0] o] oY) u dTa V=AU o 11 £ OSSP U PP PPN 15,445 48,992
Total 5,916,447 6,413,668

8. Net financial income

Net financial income is specified as follows:
2023 2022
Net gain (loss) on financial assets and financial liabilities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss
Fixed income securities .. .
Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Shares and other variable income securities
Derivatives

(5,613) 116,957
(96,479) (47,330)
397,168 765,138
431,731  (608,946)

Loans to customers .................... (170,882) (6,120)
Foreign currency exchange difference .... (113,536) 58,660

Total 442,389 278,360
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9. Foreign currency exchange difference

Foreign currency exchange difference is specified as follows:

2023 2022
Gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 49,333 180,774
Loss on other financial inStruments ...........cccocoeeieiienienecccce e (162,869) (122,114)
Total (113,536) 58,660

10. Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses are specified as follows: 2023 2022
SAlAries AN rEIATE EXPENSES .....ccuiiuiiiieiietieteeteet ettt ettt sttt ettt et et et et et e st e st e st e st eseeseebeebeebeebeebeebesbesbesbesbenbe et neenteneeneeneeneeneenen 6,453,599 5,280,020
OtNEr OPEIALING EXPENSES ...eeuvieuieriieriiestieseeitt et stesteesbeeste e teestesstesssesseessessseassesseesseaseessesssesssesseesbeesteenteensease sesstesssenseensessesnsesses 3,221,595 2,610,181
Depositors' and Investors' Guarantee Fund contributions 0 10,817
Depreciation and amortisation 900,191 929,836
Depreciation of right of use asset ..........coccvcevereneenee. 209,299 260,679
Total 10,784,684 9,091,533

During the year 2023, ISK 438 million in irregular and one-off costs were incurred by the Group, among other due to the resignation of the chief
executive officer, changes to the senior management and merger negotiations with islandsbanki hf. ISK 303 million, of that figure, is included in the
line salaries and related expenses in the table above.

11. Salaries and related expenses
Salaries and related expenses are specified as follows: 2023 2022
SalaAries cuveevveiieeeece e 4,862,337 3,948,054

175,326 137,225
59,004 75,126

Performance based payments excluding share-based payments ..
Share-based payment expenses ....
Pension fund contributions 655,913 563,074
Tax on financial activity 277,969 241,397
Other SAlary relat@a EXPENSES .....ccuiiiiriieiiieitieie st et et eete st e st este e teeaestaesbeesbeesbeesbeessesssesssesseesseenbeensenssenssenseens sheebeenseensesnsensns 423,050 315,145

Total 6,453,599 5,280,020
Average number of full time employees during the year .........coccecvvevininenenenenn. 280 251
Total number of full time employees at year-end ... 270 270

The 2022 figures for average number of employees and employees at year-end have been restated to exclude employees of TM. Further, the figures
for 2022 average number of full time employees do not include employees of Ortus Secured Finance Itd. during January and February 2022. At the
beginning of 2022, Ortus had 18 full time employees and Kvika and its subsidiaries, excl. TM, had 236, or 254 in total.

According to Act No. 165/2011, passed in 2011, banks and other financial institutions providing VAT exempt services, must pay a tax based on salary
payments, called tax on financial activity. The current tax rate is 5.50% (2022: 5.50%).

The amount of performance based payments that has been expensed is based on the results for the period in 2023 and the guidelines on
performance based payments set forth in the Group’s remuneration policy. The performance based payments have not been allocated to any
employees or business segments and are subject to approval by the Board of Directors.
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12.

13.

Employment terms of the Board of Directors and management

Salaries and benefits paid to the Board of Directors, the CEO and Managing Directors, including the Deputy CEO, of the Bank for their work for
companies within the Group are specified as follows:

Remuneration to the Board of Directors 2023 2022
Board and  Pension Board and Pension
committee contribut- committee contribut-
remunerat. ion Total remunerat. ion Total

Sigurdur Hannesson, Chairman of the Board and member of

the Risk and Remuneration committees .... 18,709 2,806 21,516 17,300 2,595 19,894
Gudmundur bérdarson, Deputy Chairman of the Board
and chairperson of the Risk COMMITLEE .......cceeiriririniiiree e 14,382 2,140 16,521 12,247 1,937 14,184
Gudjoén Karl Reynisson, Board member and chairperson
of the Remuneration COMMITLEE ........cceevieiiieiiieiececceeee e 10,684 1,603 12,287 9,564 1,435 10,999
Helga Kristin Audunsdoéttir, Board member and member
of the Audit and Remuneration COMMItLEES .........cceeevieivieiecieieeiecieeee e 16,124 2,366 18,489 12,112 1,808 13,920
Ingunn Svala Leifsdéttir, Board member, chairperson
of the Audit committee and member of the Risk committee ......................... 13,437 1,814 15,251 9,891 607 10,497
Helga J6hanna Oddsddttir, alternate Board member 485 49 534 265 27 292
Sigurgeir Gudlaugsson, alternate Board member ... 485 49 534 455 46 501
Total 74,306 10,826 85,132 61,833 8,454 70,287
Remuneration to the CEO and executive committee 2023 2022
Performance Pension Performance Pension
Salaries and based contribut- Salaries and based contribut-

benefits payments ion Total benefits payments ion Total
Armann porvaldsson, CEO .......ovvveveeeerreereeesnen 20,685 2,000 3,051 25,735 0 0 0 0
Mariné Orn Tryggvason, former CEQ 32,653 0 4,870 37,524 50,397 1,950 7,313 59,659
Managing Directors (2023: 6 (on average 7.0),
2022: 4 (0N aVerage: 5.5)) covevereereereeieieieeeeeeeeenes 273,049 10,000 39,241 322,290 233,054 6,242 32,064 271,360
Former Managing Directors (2023: 1
(on average 0.8), 2022: 2 (on average: 0.5)) ....ccceuuee 28,325 0 3,810 32,135 19,950 0 2,700 22,650
Expensed notice payments ......cccceeveveerrercresieeseenienns 86,700 0 12,420 99,120 57,075 0 7,830 64,905
Total 441,412 12,000 63,392 516,804 360,476 8,192 49,907 418,574

In August 2023 Armann borvaldsson was hired as the Bank's CEO. In addition to a change in CEO, two other changes were made to the Bank's
executive committee. Besides the CEO, the following were a part of the Bank's executive committee during 2023: i) Sigurdur Vidarson, Deputy CEO, ii)
Eirikur Magnus Jensson, CFO, iii) Ol6f Jonsdéttir, MD of Commercial Banking (until December), iv) Bjarni Eyvinds, MD Corporate Banking & Capital
Markets, v) Lilja Jensen, General Counsel, vi) Anna Rut Aglstsdéttir, MD Operations and Development, vii) Thomas Skov Jensen, MD Risk Management
(until September) and viii) Elisabet G. Bjornsdéttir, MD Risk Management (from October). As at the date of these Consolidated Financial Statements,
the hiring process for MD of Commercial Banking had not been completed.

As the resignation of the MD of Commercial Banking was received in December, she is included in the figure for salaries and benefits for 2023 for
managing directors, but not counted as managing director at year end.

As a result of the aforementioned, the salaries and benefits figures for managing directors for 2023 and 2022 are not directly comparable.

Expensed notice payments include payments during notice period for the CEO and members of executive committee, as applicable, which left the
Group during the respective year.

The Bank has adopted a remuneration policy which covers three remuneration components, base pay, performance based incentive scheme and
other benefits, including pension fund contributions. Further information about the remuneration policy is provided in notes 66-68.

The members of the BOD owned, or controlled, 85,711 thousand shares at year-end 2023. The CEO owned, or controlled, 4,842 thousand shares and
options for 1,574 thousand shares in the Bank at year-end 2023. The members of the executive committee owned, or controlled, 28,747 thousand
shares and options for 7,670 thousand shares at year-end 2023.

Auditor's fees
Remuneration to the Group's auditors is specified as follows:

2023 2022
AUt Of GNNUAT GCCOUNTS ..viiiiiiiciieecieeccte ettt et et esebe e e etae e s beesetbeesbseesabeeessaeessseeassseeassseessseesssesssseeassees seerabeesnsseessseesssesnnnenn 184,627 134,150
Review of interim accounts 27,130 26,471
Other audit related services .... 18,734 19,161
Total 230,491 179,782
Thereof to the aUAItOrs Of TNE BANK .....cc.cciiiiiieiiieiece ettt et ettt et e et e e b e e abesaeesaeeaeeabeesseessessseseenseeasesss nbeensesnnennns 174,166 139,241

The table above shows fees paid to Deloitte and other component auditors. Total fee paid to other component auditors for the year 2023 amounts to
ISK 56 million (2022: ISK 41 million).
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14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Net impairment

2023 2022
Net change in IMPAIrMENT OF [0BNS ......ciiiiiieieieiciee ettt e et e e e e eseeseeseeseeseesessessessessessessessassassenssaeneeseesansens (1,025,266) (525,554)
Net change in iMPaIrMENt Of OThEr @SSELS .......iiuiriiiiieee ettt ettt et et et et et et et e et eneeaeeses e enes 506 (35,911)
Net change in impairment of loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities ...........ccocevveveeverinceniencse e (2,729) (5,857)
Total (1,027,489)  (567,322)

Income tax

The Bank and some of its subsidiaries will not pay income tax on its profit for 2023 due to the fact that Group has a tax loss carry forward that offsets
the calculated income tax. At year-end 2023, the tax loss carry forward of the Group amounted to ISK 13.0 billion. A substantial part of the tax loss
carry forward is utilisable until end of year 2028. Management is of the opinion that the Group's operations in the years to come will result in taxable
results which will be offset with the tax loss carry forward. The Group has therefore recognised the tax loss carry forward as a deferred tax asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Income tax is recognised based on the tax rates and tax laws enacted during the current year, according to which the domestic corporate income tax
rate was 20.0% (2022: 20.0%). Companies within the Group, which operate outside of Iceland, recognise income tax in accordance with the applicable
tax laws in the country where they are resident.

Income tax recognized in the income statement is specified as follows:

Reconciliation of effective tax rate:

2023 2022
PrOfit DETOIE TAX woviiitieiictict ettt ettt et et e b e s e e e aeesae e beebeeabeeabeeseenaeeneennbeens 3,009,001 4,802,611
Income tax using the domestic COrporation tax rate .......c..ccceveverererenerenese s 20.0% (601,800) 20.0% (960,522)
NON-AEAUCEIDIE EXPENSES ..veuviiiieieieieietete ettt ettt ettt e testestestestestesbesbessese s ensensensensensensesseneas 1.0% (29,372) 0.2% (7,457)
Tax exempt revenues / loss (7.5%) 225,272 13.5% (647,958)
Recognition of tax losses 0.0% 0 (36.4%) 1,747,062
ONEI CRANEES ...ttt ettt a e bt bt e bt e bt e bt s bt e bt ebesbe s b e sbesbesbe st et eeneenean (0.5%) 16,226 1.8% (85,869)
Effective income tax 13.0% (389,673) (0.9%) 45,255

Profit before tax amounts to ISK 3,009 million. Income tax amounts to ISK -390 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of 13.0%. This is substantially
different from the Icelandic corporate tax rate of 20%, mainly due to non-taxable income from shares.

Special tax on financial activity

The special tax on financial activity is an additional income tax which becomes effective when the income tax base exceeds ISK 1,000 million. It is
levied on the same entities as the tax on financial activity according to Act No. 90/2003. The tax rate is set at 6.0% (2022: 6.0%) and the tax is not a
deductible expense for income tax purposes. The tax is presented separately in the consolidated income statement.

Special tax on financial institutions

According to Act No. 155/2010 on Special Tax on Financial Institutions, certain types of financial institutions, including banks, must pay annually a tax
based on the carrying amount of their liabilities as determined for tax purposes in excess of ISK 50 billion at year-end. The tax rate is set at 0.145%
(2022: 0.145%) and the tax is not a deductible expense for income tax purposes. The tax is presented separately in the consolidated income
statement.

Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on earnings attributable to shareholders and a weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period. The diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Bank has issued stock options that have a dilutive effect.

Continuing operations Discontinued Continuing and
operations discontinued operations
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net earnings attributable to equity holders of the Bank 2,288,115 4,322,690 1,730,389 560,255 4,018,503 4,882,945
Weighted average number of outstanding shares ...........cc.......... 4,757,742 4,786,389 4,757,742 4,786,389 4,757,742 4,786,389
Adjustments for StoCk OPLIONS .....covvevveriieriiereerieeee e 279 506 279 506 279 506
Total 4,758,021 4,786,894 4,758,021 4,786,894 4,758,021 4,786,894
Basic earnings per share (ISK) ........ccceveeveeererenenesesesesesesennens 0.48 0.90 0.36 0.12 0.84 1.02
Diluted earnings per share (ISK) ......cocooererenenenienieeeieeeeeees 0.48 0.90 0.36 0.12 0.84 1.02
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19. Cash and balances with Central Bank

Cash and balances with Central Bank are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
DEPOSItS With CENTIAI BANK ..vieiviiiieiiiiiiiieiteeteet ettt et se e st s et st esae e s beesbe e be e st e estessseseeaeesseessesseense saesseensean 13,479,131 24,718,270
Cash on hand 20,055 22,822
Balances with banks 6,356,998 7,391,501
Foreign treasury bills .. 0 2,831,108
Included in cash and cash equivalents 19,856,184 34,963,701
Restricted balances with Central Bank - fixed reserve reqUIr€mMent .........ooeeveerieeieeienieeneeseeiesee e e seesssesnesenesnees 3,825,269 1,706,885
Total 23,681,453 36,670,586

The Bank holds mandatory reserve deposit accounts with the Central Bank of Iceland in compliance with the Central Bank’s Rules on Minimum
Reserve Requirements No. 585/2018. Under these rules the reserve requirement is divided into two parts: a fixed reserve requirement bearing no
interest and an average maintenance level requirement bearing the same interest as that on deposit-taking institutions’ current accounts with
the Central Bank. The mandatory reserve deposit with the Central Bank and the receivables from the Central Bank are not available for the Group

to use in its daily operations.

20. Fixed income securities

Fixed income securities are specified as follows:

Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Listed government bonds and bonds with government guarantees .... 2,515,820 2,867,887
Listed bonds 1,053,955 3,456,180
UNBSEEA DONAS ..ottt e b e e b e e te e e aeeaeebeeaseebseebeeabeeabeeabeeabesasesaeesbeens easeseenseessesssesseanseens 114,075 3,901,728

Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Listed government bonds and bonds with goOVernment GUArantees ..........coceverereerierienienieieeeeeeeeeee e 45,067,483 38,347,272
Listed treasury bills 14,675,118 12,864,314
Listed bonds .................. 1,550,955 3,723,026

Total 64,977,406 65,160,407

21. Shares and other variable income securities

Shares and other variable income securities are specified as follows:

Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
[ Yo I o - [ =TSPTSRO 512,703 4,879,257
Unlisted shares 2,027,673 7,325,211
Unlisted unit shares in bond funds 0 3,040,899
Unlisted unit Shares in OTNEr FUNAS .......ooiiiiiiiiceeee ettt et et b e e e s te e b e e be e b e e asesssenaennes 1,317,103 4,165,141

Total 3,857,480 19,410,508

22. Securities used for hedging

Securities used for hedging are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Listed government bonds and bonds with government guarantees .... 1,201,377 3,852,697

Listed bonds 955,948 896,385

Listed shares 14,258,492 8,925,858

Listed unit shares 7,501 0

UNTISEEA UNIE SNAIES ..eeivieeciiee ettt et e st e e e ste e e e aaeesaaeeesaeeebeeeessaesrsaeessseesasaeeasseesnbaeesaseesn senssaennnseensneennnes 428,995 166,914

Total 16,852,313 13,841,853

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023

27



Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. Loans to customers
The breakdown of the loan portfolio by individuals and corporates is specified as follows:

Individuals Corporates Total
Gross Gross Gross
carrying Book carrying Book carrying Book
31.12.2023 amount value amount value amount value
Loans to customers at amortised cost ..........ceeeune.. 39,375,650 38,386,498 98,484,058 97,254,551 137,859,708 135,641,049
Loans to customers at FV through profit or loss ....... 58,634 58,634 623,799 623,799 682,433 682,433
Total 39,434,283 38,445,131 99,107,858 97,878,350 138,542,141 136,323,481
Individuals Corporates Total
Gross Gross Gross
carrying Book carrying Book carrying Book
31.12.2022 amount value amount value amount value
Loans to customers at amortised cost ..........ccoueueenee. 38,691,137 37,938,073 69,891,033 67,990,764 108,582,170 105,928,837
Loans to customers at FV through profit or loss ....... 46,291 46,291 1,164,100 1,164,100 1,210,390 1,210,390
Total 38,737,428 37,984,363 71,055,132 69,154,864 109,792,560 107,139,227

The Group presents finance lease receivables as part of loans to customers at amortised cost. As at 31 December 2023, the book value of finance

lease receivables amounted to ISK 21,504 million (31.12.2022: ISK 18,604 million).

24. Derivatives

Derivatives are specified as follows:

Notional Carrying amount
31.12.2023 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Interest rate derivatives .... 22,573,886 21,401,149 940,860 0
Currency forwards . 38,881,527 34,034,527 461,388 121,213
Currency forwards used for hedge accounting .... 0 4,855,756 0 152,182
Bond and equity total return swaps 17,837,698 18,895,783 880,434 1,923,509
EQUILY OPTIONS oottt e st e s e e s sanaesnnessnnes 0 0 215,196 0
Total 79,293,112 79,187,216 2,497,877 2,196,904

Notional Carrying amount
31.12.2022 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
INterest rate deriVatiVES .......c.cciecuieiiieiie ettt e a e e sas e ans 9,494,772 7,722,424 1,774,759 0
Currency forwards 25,007,309 25,007,681 282,893 360,113
Bond and equity total return swaps .... 29,475,867 28,082,769 2,637,546 1,249,424
EQUILY OPTIONS ..ottt 104,499 0 245,539 0
Total 64,082,448 60,812,874 4,940,738 1,609,537

The hedging gain recognised in OCI before tax is equal to the change in fair value used for measuring effectiveness. There is no ineffectiveness

recognised in profit or loss.

Set out below is the reconciliation of Foreign currency translation reserve component of equity due to hedge accounting and the analysis of

other comprehensive income:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Balance at the beginning of the year ................... 0 0
Foreign currency revaluation of the net foreign operations (65,695) 0
Tax effeCt coeeeeeceeeeciecececeeee e 13,139 0
Total (52,556) 0
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25. Group entities

The main subsidiaries held directly or indirectly by the Group are listed in the table below.

Share Share
Entity Nature of operations Domicile 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Fi Fasteignafélag GP ehf. ...........c....... Real estate fund management Iceland 100% 100%
GAMMA Capital Management hf Fund management Iceland 100% 100%
Kvika eignastyring hf. .......ccccoveennee. Asset management Iceland 100% 100%
* Rafklettur ehf. .... Holding company Iceland 100% 100%
Skilum ehf. ............ Debt Collection Iceland 100% 100%
Straumur greidslumidlun hf. ... . Payment facilitator Iceland 100% 100%
* TM liftryggingar hf. Insurance company Iceland 100% 100%
* TM tryggingar hf. ...... . Insurance company Iceland 100% 100%
ACGP 3 ehf. ..cceevennn . Fund management Iceland 85% 80%
Kvika Securities Itd. ..... ... Business consultancy services UK 100% 100%
Ortus Secured Finance Itd. .......ccccevvvevvenieenienneniinnns Lending operations UK 78% 78%
* At 31 December 2023 TM tryggingar hf., Rafklettur ehf. and TM liftryggingar were classified as a disposal group held for sale in accordance with
IFRS 5.

26. Investment in associates

a. Investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method and is specified as follows:

Share Share
Entity Nature of operations Domicile 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Glama fjarfestingar slhf. ......cccoovviviiniiniee, Holding company Iceland 24% 24%
MODErg d. 0. 0. .eovereeieieieeeee e Digital solutions provider Croatia 40% 40%
The Group does not consider its associates material, neither individually nor as a group.

b. Changes in investments in associates are specified as follows: 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Balance at the beginning Of TNE VAT .....co.iii it sttt ettt ettt eneene 88,988 67,000
Dividend received (27,493) (6,087)
Share in profit of associates, net of income tax ... 35,756 26,725
EXCRANEE rate QIffEIENCE c..iviiiiieieieeee ettt ettt ettt st e st e st et et et et et e s ense st ensessenseseeseas saessessensanen (1,057) 1,350
Total 96,194 88,988

27. Investment properties
Investment properties are specified as follows: 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Balance at the beginning of the year .... 1,165,398 1,100,000
Additions 15,134 0
Revaluation of iINVESTMENT PrOPEITIES ......ccceiiiririiieteeerte ettt ettt ettt ettt et beebe bt sbesbesbesbesbesbe e 59,602 65,398
Reclassified as aSSets NEIA FOr SAIE .......ciiiiricciieiece ettt ettt et be et et e et e e e e s aeesaeebeeaeesseesseessenseeseennes (1,240,134) 0
Total 0 1,165,398

The discontinuation of its insurance subsidiary of TM tryggingar hf. resulted in Investment properties to be categorized as assets held for sale.

Refer to note 4 for more information on the discontinued operations.
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28. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are specified as follows: Customer Software

31.12.2023 Goodwill relationships Brands and other Total
Balance as at 1January 2023 ........cccceererereninienenieniesie e 26,041,926 2,838,993 2,276,484 2,922,498 34,079,900
Additions during the period 0 315,558 0 1,224,158 1,539,716
Discontinued 0 0 0 (20,338) (20,338)
Amortisation 0 (262,726) (152,986) (700,617) (1,116,329)
Reclassified as assets held for sale (8,300,327) (1,160,429)  (1,859,875) (1,294,732) (12,615,363)
Currency adjustments 41,046 509 705 (3,484) 38,776
Balance as at 31 December 2023 17,782,646 1,731,905 264,327 2,127,485 21,906,363
Gross carrying amount 17,782,646 2,095,815 369,096 3,617,923 23,865,479
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 0 (363,910) (104,769)  (1,490,438) (1,959,116)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 17,782,646 1,731,905 264,327 2,127,485 21,906,363

Customer Software

31.12.2022 Goodwill relationships Brands and other Total
Balance as at 1 January 2022 24,257,972 2,255,810 2,340,265 2,601,362 31,455,409
Additions during the period .... 0 0 0 835,246 835,246
Additions through business combinations 1,771,221 812,437 84,629 0 2,668,287
Discontinued 0 0 0 (7,737) (7,737)
Amortisation 0 (235,264) (148,761) (506,374) (890,399)
CUrrency adjUSTMENTS ..c..oververieieieieieeee et 12,732 6,011 351 0 19,095
Balance as at 31 December 2022 26,041,926 2,838,993 2,276,484 2,922,497 34,079,900
GroSS CArrYiNg @aMOUNT ....ccueeuieiriiriiniinienie et see e 26,041,926 3,210,439 2,524,768 4,105,486 35,882,618
Accumulated amortisation and impairment l0sses ..........c.c...... 0 (371,446) (248,284)  (1,182,988) (1,802,718)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 26,041,926 2,838,993 2,276,484 2,922,498 34,079,900

The discontinuation of the subsidiary TM tryggingar hf. resulted in goodwill, customer relationships, brands, software and other intangible assets
to be categorized as assets held for sale. Reference is made to note 4 for further information on the discontinued operations.

Impairment testing

Assets with indefinite useful life, such as goodwill, are not amortised but are subject to annual impairment testing as described in note 93.
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units ("CGUs") for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combinations in which the goodwill arose. Goodwill has been allocated to four CGUs, Asset
Management, Commercial Banking, Corporate Markets & Capital Markets and UK operations. The goodwill allocated to UK operations, following
business combinations during the year 2022, was a based on a preliminary estimate. The allocation was finalised during the year 2023 with no
changes being made. At the beginning of 2023, Investment Banking was renamed Corporate Banking & Capital Markets, as further outlined in
note 1.

The goodwill impairment tests were performed at the end of 2023. Their results show that the recoverable values exceed the carrying values of
goodwill. In addition to the base case testing, additional scenarios were tested where some key inputs had been stressed. In all scenarios tested
the results show that there is sufficient headroom and that there are no triggers indicating that impairment is necessary.

The cash flow projections for 2023 are derived from the Group's three year business plan which has been approved by the Board of Directors. In
some instances, the Group's subsidiaries have prepared a three year business plan which has been approved by the Board of Directors of those
companies. Management prepares a five year cash flow projection for each CGU, which is derived from the three year business plan and is also
based on management assumptions. The following table shows the key assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amounts are calculated by discounting the estimated future growth rate of the CGUs. The time value of money and price of
uncertainty are based on external market information about market risk, interest rates and CGU specific elements like country risk.

Future Discount
31.12.2023 growth rate rate Book value
ASSET IMANAGEMENT ...ttt et sb e bt ettt s he e s b e e s bt e b e et e e st e saeenaeeaeebe e b e e e e nbeens 3.5% 12.1% 2,943,881
Commercial Banking 3.5% 11.3% 11,826,735
Corporate Banking & Capital Markets 3.5% 12.1% 1,199,761
UK OPEIATIONS ..eiiiiiieeiieeeiee ettt ettt ettt s e e s e st esab e sbe e e s st e e e st e e saseeenbeesaneessneensseesnnnaes sesnsnes 3.5% 9.4% 1,812,268
Total goodwill 17,782,646

Future Discount
31.12.2022 growth rate rate Book value
ASSET IMANAGEMENT ...ttt b bttt ettt he e s bt e bt e b e et e e st e satenaeeneebe et e eanenreens 3.5% 13.1% 2,943,881
Commercial Banking 3.5% 11.3% 11,826,735
Investment Banking 3.5% 13.7% 1,199,761
UK operations 3.5% 9.8% 1,771,221
Insurance (Reclassified as assets held for sale) .... 3.5% 12.1% 8,300,327
Total goodwill 26,041,926
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29. Operating lease assets

Operating lease assets are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
2 TR Te I I L A - [ LU VOO POUSRSRTRN 884,222 1,458,621
Additions 63,792 133,883
Disposals (257,979) (470,876)
(D= oL =Tol =1 4o N OO OO USROS (159,891) (237,406)
Total 530,144 884,222
GIOSS CAITYING AMOUNT ..ottt ettt e e eae e ehe e sh e e s b e e bt e b e sabeshe e she e b e et e e ab e e st e eae e bt e b e eabeesbeebeebeen s abeesbeebeenbenns 1,116,581 1,505,807
ACCUMUIGLEA AEPIECIATION ..evveeieiieiieiietieiceeeie ettt et ettt et et et e e e s e sseseeseeseeseeseeseeseeseeseasessessessassessessasen srseneennanen (586,437) (621,585)
Total 530,144 884,222

30. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

(DL = g Yo B D [T =1 £ SRUS 2,902,580 3,232,933
Deferred taxX [ADIIITIES ......covecieieecieee ettt ettt e e e te e be e b e eaaeeaeeebeesbeeabeeabeeabesabesaee s eabeneenseenneennas (272,615) (944,274)
Net 2,629,966 2,288,659
The Group's deferred tax assets (liabilities) are attributable to the following items:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Property and equipment 71,166 32,677
Intangible assets .........c.ccve... (2,302) (644,801)
Other items .......ccooeuveee (30,814) (274,934)
Tax losses carried forward 2,591,916 3,175,718
Total 2,629,966 2,288,659
At year end 2023, tax losses carried forward amount to ISK 13.0 billion, and are set to expire as follows: Tax losses
Tax 10555 2018, @XPIIING IN 2028 ......ecuiruertiieieieteiete et et et et e teeteeteehesbe s bt ebesbesbe st e st e sbesb e s e se st ententeneententeneeseeneeseenees shesbesbesbenbentensensenean 12,050,371
Tax 105585 2020, EXPIFING 1N 2030 ...ueeiiiiriierieeiteeiereereestee e sitestesteessesaessseseaesbeesbeesteesteassesssesssenseensesssesssesssensessesnsesss teesesssesssessesssesnsens 909,209
Total 12,959,579

31. Other assets

Other assets are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022*
Unsettled transactions 2,262,226 4,443,719
Accounts receivable 6,342,227 4,675,780
Right of use asset and lease receivables ...........cccocverinineninenenenenenes 1,320,983 1,576,582
Investments where investment risk is borne by life-insurance policyholders 0 121,906
SUNTIY @SSETS ..uviutetetetetetet et et et et et et e e st eteeteeheebeshesbeebeshesbeebesbe st e be st et et ensemteneemteneeneeneestaneeheebe e sbesbesbebetensensensensenean 475,693 1,065,503
Total 10,401,128 11,883,489
* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
Right of use asset and lease receivables are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Right of use asset and lease receivables as at 1 January .......c.ccoeeuenes 1,576,582 800,087
Additions during the period .........ccccoceeverenininienenenesesesee e 0 935,915
Termination of lease agreements ..................... 0 (26,458)
Indexation ................. 77,713 128,709
Currency adjustments 2,655 5,247
Depreciation and lease receivable INSTAIMENT ........cccoiiiiiriiiiee ettt be e sbe e (335,967) (266,917)
Total 1,320,983 1,576,582

Right of use asset and lease receivables mostly consist of real estates for the Group's own use. The Group has entered into sublease contracts for

parts of the real estates which it does not use for its operations.

32. Deposits

Deposits are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
DEMANG AEPOSIES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et b e bt sb e shesbe s bt s besbesbesbe b et e b e s e st emteneeneententeneeneebeebeeae e sbesbenbenbentensensennan 113,625,055 91,504,652
THME AEPOSIES ..veveuvuiteieieteietei ettt ettt ettt b et bt b st b bt st b ettt et b st e s et es et et e s et ebentebenteae 4 et ebe s et et et enentenentenennene 20,147,887 20,740,545
Total 133,772,941 112,245,198
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33.

34.

35.

Borrowings

Borrowings are specified as follows:
31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Money market deposits .... 8,792,963 9,778,280
Secured borrowings 13,691,834 15,674,280
(@14 o T=T el o Yo ¢ Ze NN ¥ LSOO 1,332,264 2,667,449
Total 23,817,062 28,120,009

Money market deposits typically have a principal of ISK 5-500 million and maturity between 1 day and 6 months and pay fixed interest rates.
Secured borrowings are in GBP and are to be paid at maturity. The borrowings mature in 2028.

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or other breaches with respect to its debt issued and other borrowed funds.

Issued bonds

Issued bonds are specified as follows:

First Maturity
Currency, nominal value issued  Maturity type Terms of interest 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Unsecured bonds:
KVB 21 01, GBP 12 million ................ 2021 2023 At maturity Floating, 3 month LIBOR + 2.50% 0 2,067,377
KVB 20 01, ISK 5,000 million ............. 2020 2023 At maturity Floating, 1 month REIBOR + 0.85% 0 4,632,806
Lykill 23 11, ISK 3,010 million ... 2020 2023 At maturity Floating, 1 month REIBOR + 1.10% 0 2,600,598
EMTN 24 0131, SEK 500 million ....... 2022 2024 At maturity Floating, 3 month STIBOR +2.80% 4,610,572 6,866,708
EMTN 24 0204, EUR 8.5 million ....... 2022 2024 At maturity Floating, 3 month EURIBOR + 2.80 1,292,489 1,296,978
KVIKA 24 1119, GBP 11.4 million ..... 2021 2024 At maturity Floating, 3 month LIBOR + 1.75% 1,990,376 1,959,110
KVIKA 24 1216 GB, ISK 4,500 million . 2021 2024 At maturity Floating, 3 month REIBOR + 0.90% 4,517,330 4,513,777
KVB 19 01, ISK 5,000 million ............. 2019 2024 Amortizing Floating, 1 month REIBOR + 1.50% 1,003,675 2,005,242
KVIKA 25 1201 GB ISK 1,660 million .. 2022 2025 At maturity Floating, 3 month REIBOR + 1.25% 1,675,442 1,670,790
EMTN 26 0511, SEK 275 million ........ 2023 2026 At maturity Floating, 3 month STIBOR +4.10% 3,770,724 0
EMTN 26 0511, NOK 800 million ....... 2023 2026 At maturity Floating, 3 month NIBOR +4.10% 10,837,164 0
EMTN 23 11 26, SEK 500 m. .............. 2023 2026 At maturity Floating, 3 month STIBOR + 4% 6,839,052 0
KVB 21 02, ISK 5,400 million ............. 2021 2027 At maturity CPl-indexed, fixed 1.0% 6,599,359 6,110,428
KVIKA 32 0112, ISK 2,000 million ...... 2022 2032 At maturity CPl-indexed, fixed 1.40% 2,373,037 2,197,224
Asset backed bonds:
Lykill 16 01, ISK 10,870 miillion .......... 2016 2023 Amortizing Floating, 1 month REIBOR + 1.10% 0 1,368,276
Lykill 23 09, ISK 1,000 million ............ 2019 2023 Amortizing Fixed, 5.20% 0 204,013
Lykill 24 06, I1SK 1,570 million ............ 2020 2024 Amortizing Fixed, 2.80% 206,206 610,086
Total 45,715,427 38,103,414
Subordinated liabilities
Subordinated liabilities:

First Maturity
Currency, nominal value issued  Maturity type Terms of interest 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
KVB 18 02, ISK 800 million .... 2018 2028 At maturity CPl-Indexed, fixed 7.50% 1,123,778 1,040,313
KVIKA 34 1211 T2i, ISK 2,000 m. ....... 2023 2034  Atmaturity CPl-Indexed, fixed 6.25% 2,011,434 0
TM 15 1, ISK 2,000 million ................ 2015 2045 At maturity CPl-Indexed, fixed 5.25% 2,857,872 2,646,139
Total 5,993,084 3,686,451

For KVB 18 02, the Group has the right to repay the subordinated bond on any interest payment dates until maturity. In January 2024, the Group
gave notice to holders of the bond that they will be redeemed in full on the next interest payment date, 8 May 2024.

At the interest payment date in May 2025 for TM 15 01, the annual interest rate increases from 5.25% p.a. to 6.25% p.a. At the interest payment
date in May 2025 for TM 15 01, the Group has the right to repay the subordinated bond and on any subsequent interest payment dates until
maturity.

At the interest payment date in the year 2029 for KVIKA 34 1211 T2i, the Group has the right to repay the subordinated bond and on any
subsequent interest payment dates until maturity.

Subordinated liabilities are financial liabilities in the form of subordinated capital which, in case of the Group's voluntary or compulsory winding-
up, will not be repaid until after the claims of ordinary creditors have been met. In the calculation of the capital ratio, they are included within
Tier 2 and are a part of the equity base. The amount eligible for Tier 2 capital treatment is amortised on a straight-line basis over the final 5 years
to maturity or up to 20% a year. The Group may only retire subordinated liabilities with the permission of the FME.
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b. Subordinated liabilities are specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Balance at the beginning of the year ................... 3,686,451 3,371,766
Additions ......c.cceeeene 2,000,000 0
P INEEIESE veuviteiestesteteste ettt et et et e et et et e eteeteeseeteete st e ssestessesse s essessessensensessessessessesteseesaese e etesesaesesesententenseneenen (164,833) (164,833)
Paid interests due to indexation (58,171) (39,421)
Accrued interests and indexation 529,637 518,940
Total 5,993,084 3,686,451
36. Short positions held for trading
Short positions held for trading are specified as follows:
31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Listed government bonds and bonds with government guarantees .... 60,081 970,178
Listed bonds ........cccveee 71,664 515,929
Total 131,745 1,486,107
37. Short positions used for hedging
Short positions used for hedging are specified as follows:
31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Listed government bonds and bonds with gOVernment BUArantees .........ceceeveriiereerieenieeiieeie e seesre e seesreesaeens 4,230 1,343,186
Total 4,230 1,343,186
38. Other liabilities
Other liabilities are specified as follows:
31.12.2023 31.12.2022*
Accounts Payable and ACCIUBI EXPENSES ....cc.iruiriiriirieieieeee ettt ettt ettt et besbe b sbesbesbesbe st e st et et e see st et eneeneeneeneens 9,326,840 2,116,731
Unsettled transactions .......ccceeu... 2,396,243 1,970,758
Lease liability .......ccccouenee 1,510,333 1,827,582
Salaries and salary related expenses 1,136,312 1,265,867
Withholding taxes 1,130,048 781,845
Special taxes on financial institutions and fiNANCIal ACHIVILIES ......vevveririiiiiiiise e 304,045 494,455
Contingent consideration .................. 404,762 373,715
Insurance contracts for life-insurance policies where investment risk is borne by policyholders .... 0 121,906
Expected credit loss allowance for loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities 15,673 12,935
Other liabilities ......ccccceeveriririnirerereeeeeen 369,737 772,743
Total 16,593,993 9,738,535
* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
Lease liability is specified as follows:
31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Lease liability as at 1 January 1,827,582 1,041,121
Additions during the period 0 1,054,121
Termination of lease agreements ..........c.cceue.. 0 (14,428)
Currency adjustments ..........coeenne.. 4,639 7,554
Instalment (424,085) (410,412)
Indexation 102,198 149,626
Total 1,510,333 1,827,582
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39.

a.

40.

Share capital

Share capital

The nominal value of shares issued by the Bank is ISK 1 per share. All currently issued shares are fully paid. The holders of shares are entitled to
receive dividends as approved by the general meeting and are entitled to one vote per nominal value of ISK 1 at shareholders' meetings.
Reference is made to the Bank's Articles of Association for more information about the share capital.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Share capital according to the Bank's Articles of Association 4,781,026 4,928,897
Nominal amount of treasury shares .. 58,952 147,871
Authorised but not issued shares 310,000 310,000

Changes made to the nominal amount of share capital

During the year 2023 the Bank's share capital was decreased by ISK 148 million in nominal value following a resolution by the AGM to cancel
treasury shares. Furthermore, during the year, the Bank has acquired treasury shares amounting to ISK 59 million in nominal value as a result of a
share buy-back plan.

Share capital increase authorisations
According to the Bank's Articles of Association dated 30 March 2023, the Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share capital as follows:

Temporary provision Ill to the Articles of Association authorises the Board of Directors to issue options or warrants for up to ISK 240 million in
nominal value. To serve such instruments the Board of Directors is authorised to either increase the share capital accordingly or purchase own
shares, as permitted by law. This authorisation is valid until 31 March 2027.

Temporary provision Il to the Articles of Association authorises the Board of Directors to increase the share capital of the Bank in stages by up to
ISK 70 million in nominal value, for the purposes of fulfilling stock option agreements in accordance with the Bank's stock option plan which has
been approved by Iceland Revenue and Customs as provided for in Art. 10 of the Income Tax Act, No. 90/2003. This authorisation is valid until 31
December 2024.

A copy of the Bank's Articles of Association, including the temporary provisions, is available on the Bank's website, www.kvika.is, reference is
made to them for more information.

Solvency of a financial conglomerate

The FME has designated the Group as a financial conglomerate as defined in Article no. 3 of Act no. 61/2017 on Additional Supervision of
Financial Conglomerates. As a result of this designation, the Group's capital adequacy is calculated as the solvency ratio of a financial
conglomerate. The Group furthermore calculates the consolidated capital adequacy ratio for entities not belonging to the insurance sector by
excluding the insurance activities from calculation of risk weighted exposures and capital base. The Group similarly calculates the solvency ratio
of entities solely belonging to the insurance sector. In 2023, the Group introduced a change in treatment of deductions from capital base due to
significant holdings in financial institutions and deferred tax assets. The calculations now take into account article 48 of the Capital Requirements
Regulation no. 575/2013 of the EU.

Solvency measures the Group's ability to take on setbacks, thus indicating its financial strength. The available capital and capital requirements of
the Group is calculated as a financial conglomerate according to Articles 16, 17 and 18 of Act on Additional Supervision of Financial
Conglomerates No. 61/2017. The Group's solvency ratio is 1.25, with a regulatory minimum requirement of 1.0.

Solvency ratio of the Group as a financial conglomerate is specified as follows:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Available capital
Own Funds eligible for non insurance activities 39,117,918 32,456,104
Own Funds eligible for insurance activities 14,754,678 13,094,779
Deduction from own funds not eligible (3,687,860) 0
Total 50,184,737 45,550,883
Solvency requirement for insurance activities
Solvency Capital Requirements (SCR) 9,622,063 8,772,791
Own funds requirement for non insurance activities
Statutory minimum capital requiremMent (PIllar 1) .....oceoeceiecieeee ettt st sttt e b ss e aeaennens 13,826,577 11,037,600
Additional capital requUIremMeENnts (PIlAr 11) .o..o..oe oot sttt sttt ene 6,913,288 4,828,950
Minimum capital requirement for non insurance activities 20,739,865 15,866,550
Additional capital ProteCtion DUFFEIS ........oii ittt ettt ettt 11,579,758 8,830,080
Adjustments to capital requirements in CONGIOMEIALE ......ccviviiriiriiiiicie e sreesaeeaesaesanes (1,724,074) 0
Total 30,595,549 24,696,631
Solvency ........... et e et e e narenes 50,184,737 45,550,883
Solvency requirement (SCR) .... 9,622,063 8,772,791
Own funds requirement for non insurance activities .... 30,595,549 24,696,631
Minimum solvency of financial conglomerate 40,217,612 33,469,422
SOIVENCY FALIO .ttt ettt ettt et et s e e st e ae e bt eh e e bt e bt e bt e bt e bt s bt s bt sbeebe e b et et £ententeneeneeneebeebeebesbenbeas 1.25 1.36
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41. Capital adequacy ratio (CAR)

The capital adequacy ratio of the Group, excluding entities which belong to the insurance sector, calculated in accordance with Article 84 of Act
No. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings, was 22.6%. The minimum requirement from the FME is 12.0%. The ratio is calculated as follows:

Own funds eligible for non insurance activities 31.12.2023 31.12.2022*
TOTAl EQUILY ettt 81,957,804 81,089,180
Expected dividends and buy-back according to dividend policy .... (1,004,626) (1,912,410)
Capital eligible as CET1 Capital 80,953,178 79,176,769
[CTe Yo e RNV LY aTe I Ta] 2= Y41 o1 LSOO (29,040,706) (28,380,760)
Shares in other financial institutions (16,420,475) (18,728,749)
Deferred tax asset (1,559,045) (3,232,933)
Common equity Tier 1 capital (CET 1) 33,932,952 28,834,327
THEE 2 CAPITAN vttt ettt ettt ettt e st e st e h e e bt e bt e bt eb e e bt eb e e bt e bt e bt e b e b e e b e eb e b £enteReenteheeaeeheeheebeehenheebs 5,915,278 3,621,777
Deductions fromM TIEr 2 CAPITAl ..evevieieieieieeeeee ettt et e e e e e s e e e e seeseeseeseeseeseeseesessessessesaessessanse eneens (730,312) 0
Total own funds 39,117,918 32,456,104
Risk weighted exposures

CTEAIE FISK 11ttt ettt ettt ettt b e bbbt b b2 b ettt e st e s et b e s e b e st et e s et e b et es e b e bt n b e b et et et et ese b eneneesennene 142,648,209 109,104,748
Market risk 3,082,235 4,091,761
Operational risk .... 27,101,765 24,773,495
Total risk weighted exposures 172,832,209 137,970,004
Capital ratios

Capital adequacy ratio (CAR) 22.6% 23.5%
CET1 ratio .coeevvevennne 19.6% 20.9%
Minimum Capital adequacy ratio FEQUIrEMENT .....c.ueciiiiriieiie sttt ettt e e b et e ee e seesessnessaesbeesbeenbesnsesnns 12.0% 11.5%
Minimum Capital adequacy ratio requirement including supervisory buffers . 18.7% 17.9%
Minimum CET 1 ratio requirement including supervisory buffers 13.5% 12.9%

The Icelandic Financial Supervisory Authority (FME) supervises the Bank on a consolidated basis and, as such, receives information on the capital
adequacy of, and sets capital requirements for, the Bank as a whole. The Bank's regulatory capital calculations for credit risk and market risk are
based on the standardised approach and the capital calculations for operational risk are based on the basic indicator approach.

Minimum capital requirement is based on the Bank's Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and is reviewed by the FME through
the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP). The Bank's minimum regulatory capital requirement, based on SREP from 2023 is 12.0%.
The minimum regulatory capital requirement including the additional capital buffers is 18.7% as at 31 December 2023.

TM tryggingar hf. has been classified as a disposal group held for sale and as a discontinued operation. This does not affect the Group‘s capital
adequacy calculation. Nonetheless, assuming a cash sale of the subsidiary, the Bank’s capital would increase. To what extent the capital

adequacy ratio would increase depends on the sale price and whether the company will be sold in part or in full.

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
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42. Solvency of insurance activities

The Group calculates solvency capital and capital requirements for entities which belong to the insurance sector. The available capital and
required capital is calculated in accordance with Articles 88 and 96 of the Act on Insurance Activity No. 100/2016. This brings the solvency ratio
for entities which belong to the insurance sector to 1.53. Solvency capital requirements according to law is the minimum insurance companies

have to meet.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022*
Own funds eligible for insurance activities solvency
Equity eligible fOr iNSUranNCe aCIVITIES ....iccviiiuirieieeieeceteetes ettt sttt e e beesbesssesseenaeenseesnensnens 19,811,796 18,268,799
Goodwill and intangibles .........ccccocvererinienineneneseeeee (5,527,999) (5,699,140)
Difference between net technical provision in the financial statements and solvency rules 470,881 525,120
Total 14,754,678 13,094,779
Solvency requirement
Life insurance risk 536,675 425,729
Health insurance risk .. 1,656,139 1,475,602
Non-life insurance risk ... 6,108,228 5,484,355
Market risk ........ccccvennee. 5,770,238 5,336,721
Counterparty default risk .....c.coceveeveeniieiiniiie s 1,169,357 1,117,766
MUIEITACETEA EFFECES ..ttt et et e e eae et e e b e e teeeteeebe e beeabeeaaesaeesbeesbeeabeeabees sabeessassnesssenseenns (4,695,651) (4,229,553)
Base Solvency Capital Requirements (Basic SCR) 10,544,986 9,610,620
(O] eT=T = T ToTa =1 Iy OO OO PSPPSR OO 754,058 680,934
Adjustment for the loss-absorbing capacity of deferred taXxes .......cvvvererererierieeeeeeee et (1,676,980) (1,518,763)
Solvency Capital Requirements (SCR) 9,622,063 8,772,791
Solvency ....ccoceveneene 14,754,678 13,094,779
Solvency requirement (SCR) ..c.ccveeeeeeeeeeseeeee e 9,622,063 8,772,791
Solvency ratio after dividend .................... 1.53 1.49
Eligible items to meet the minimum capital 14,754,678 13,094,779
Minimum required capital (MRC) 4,520,510 4,057,090
Minimum required capital ratio after dividend 3.26 3.23

At 31 December 2023, the insurance operation was classified as a disposal group held for sale and as a discontinued operation.

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.

43. Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio is calculated on the basis of the Group's consolidated numbers as per regulation no. 575/2013 of the EU, which excludes the
Group's insurance subsidiary. According to Act no. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings the minimum leverage ratio requirement is 3%.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
ON-DAlANCE SHEET EXPOSUIES ....eiuiiiiieciieitieseese ettt ettt sa e e b e et e s st e s st e b e esbesasesbeesbeesbeenbeenbesssesseense aensnenne 243,721,442 226,245,821
Derivative exposures ................... 1,187,911 471,815
Off - balance sheet exposures .... 210,534 260,296
Total exposure 245,119,887 226,977,932
Tier 1 capital 33,932,952 28,834,327
Leverage Ratio 13.8% 12.7%
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Risk management

44,

Risk management framework

Board of Directors

The Bank's Board of Directors is responsible for the Group's corporate governance, including the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk
management framework and risk appetite setting. In that respect, the Board of Directors has set a policy on the Group's corporate governance. In
order to ensure harmonized and good governance on a consolidated basis, the Bank's Board of Directors further sets out ownership policies for
subsidiaries that are considered an important part of the Group's operations. According to the ownership policies, the Boards of Directors of the
relevant subsidiaries shall always provide the Bank with all information necessary for the Bank to carry out its supervisory role and the services
that the Bank provides to the relevant subsidiaries. Further, as risk management must be co-ordinated on a group-wide basis, those subsidiaries,
shall provide risk management with all necessary information to enable the Bank to be able to fulfil its obligations as parent company of the
Group. The head of risk management and the Bank's compliance officer can request a direct audience with the Boards of Directors of those
subsidiaries. Risk management policies are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. The Group,
through training and management standards and procedures, continuously aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in
which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Board of Directors sub-committees

The Bank's Board of Directors has established three sub-committees, the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. In accordance with the Bank’s articles of association, members of the committees are appointed in accordance with applicable law,
and each committee currently has three members. It is not permitted to appoint employees of the Bank to any committee. Members shall have
the necessary experience and knowledge for each committee’s tasks according to applicable laws and rules. Each committee has incorporated
procedural rules which have been confirmed by the Board of Directors.

The Risk Committee is intended to perform a consultative and supervisory role for the Bank’s Board of Directors, including for the formation of
the Bank’s risk policy and risk appetite. The Risk Committee supervises the arrangement and activity of risk management, credit risk, market risk,
liquidity risk, operational risk, reputational risk and other risk as applicable.

The Audit Committee is intended to perform a consultative and supervisory role for the Bank’s Board of Directors, including to ensure the quality
of the annual accounts and other financial information of the Bank and the independence of the Bank’s auditors. The Audit Committee monitors
the work process for the preparation of financial statements, the functioning of internal controls as well as internal and external auditing.

The Remuneration Committee is intended to perform a consultative and supervisory role for the Bank’s Board of Directors in connection with the
Bank’s remuneration and that they support the objectives and interests of the Bank.

CEO and the Executive Committee

The CEO is responsible for the effective implementation risk management through the corporate governance structure and committees. The CEO
appoints a Deputy CEO and Managing Directors which, together with the CEO, form the Bank’s Executive Committee. Each Managing Director
heads individual divisions within the Bank at any given time. The Bank’s Executive Committee together with the CEO of TM tryggingar hf. and the
CEO of Kvika eignastyring hf. form the Group Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee manages and supervises, as decided by the CEO, the day-to-day operations of Kvika in accordance with the policy
formulated by the Bank's BOD in collaboration with the CEO.

Furthermore, the CEO has established four committees within the Bank, which are, along with the Bank’s Executive Committee, responsible for
developing and monitoring risk management policies in specified areas across the divisions.

Committees

The Bank operates four committees that are involved in risk management: an Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), a Credit Committee, an
Operations Committee and a Sustainability Committee. ALCO, the Operations Committee and the Sustainability Committee operate on a Group
level.

ALCO supervises the management of the Group's balance sheet, assets and liabilities. This involves determining the most efficient division
between returns and risk and allocating funds to the Group's business units.

The Credit Committee carries out matters assigned to the committee according to the Bank’s credit rules, approved by the Board of Directors, and
reviews the reports submitted to the Board of Directors according to the credit rules. The credit rules define the authority of the Credit
Committee when it comes to granting credit facilities and the purchase and sale of investment property as applicable.

The Operations Committee is responsible for increasing efficiency in the Bank’s operations and reducing operational risks, as well as ensuring that
safety issues concerning e.g. Kvika’s housing, operational security of IT systems, security of personal information and security in the transport of
valuables are up to standards.

The Sustainability Committee oversees and is responsible for the enforcement of Kvika’s sustainability strategy, approved by Kvika’s Board of
Directors. The strategy includes a common vision of an approach to sustainability within the Group, to be a responsible participant in the society,
consider the future, and promote a sustainable society. The committee supervises the development of sustainability on a consolidated basis and
that the Bank’s sustainability goals are achieved.

Risk management

The purpose of the Bank's risk management unit is to identify, quantify, control and report on the risks that the Group is exposed to in its daily
activities. The unit also participates in drafting the overall risk policy and has representatives on the ALCO committee, Credit committee and the
Operations committee. The unit’s main activities include monitoring and managing credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. The
Board of Directors sets the rules and guidelines regarding the Group's risk policy and the obligations of risk management and internal controls.
The division reports regularly on the Group’s positions and exposure to risk to the Board of Directors, the CEO and to the ALCO committee.
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45.

46.

Risk management framework (cont.)

Compliance Officer

The compliance function is an independent function that operates under the CEO, and the appointment of the Compliance Officer and his deputy
is confirmed by the Board. The compliance function monitors the Bank's compliance risk on a permanent basis and that the measures, policies
and procedures that have been put in place so that the Bank complies with its obligations are adequate and effective. The Compliance Officer is
also responsible for coordinating and monitoring the Bank's compliance with applicable anti-money laundering and terrorist financing laws and
regulations. The Compliance officer, further, manages provisions of applicable market abuse laws and regulations, regarding the handling of
inside information and PDMR transactions, and oversees the complaints managements process. Compliance is operated on a consolidated basis
and the employees responsible for compliance in the Bank’s subsidiaries report to and receive support from the Compliance Officer and the
parent entity’s compliance function.

Internal Audit

The internal audit activity of Kvika bank hf. operates according to Article 16 on the Act on financial companies no. 161/2002 and guiding
recommendations of the Financial Supervisory Authority of the Central Bank of Iceland regarding the work of the audit activity of financial
companies no. 3/2008. In addition to the terms of the audit charter, international IPPF standards on internal auditing apply to the department's
activities. Kvika's internal audit activity is organisationally independent and the internal auditor is has a position accordingly in the organizational
chart. In accordance with the internal auditor's charter, he also has direct and unrestricted access to the board and managers of the Bank and its
subsidiaries. Kvika's internal audit activity must provide independent and objective confirmation and consulting services on the Bank's activities
on a consolidated basis, aimed at increasing its value. The department's activities assess and improve the effectiveness of risk management,
control methods and governance through a systematic and disciplined way, thus contributing to Kvika's group achieving its key goals. The director
of internal audit (internal auditor) is responsible for effectively managing the internal audit activity in accordance with the audit charter and the
IPPF standards.

Hedging

Securities held as a hedge against derivatives positions of customers make up a part of the Group's portfolio of assets. The Group hedges
currency exposure between the Group's asset portfolio and its liabilities to the extent possible as part of managing its balance and keeping it
within approved limits. The Group applies hedge accounting according to IAS 39 against translation of foreign operations. Currency swap
agreements are used as a hedge instrument against translation difference arising from foreign operations.

Credit risk - overview

Definition
One of the Group's primary sources of risk is counterparty credit risk. Credit risk is defined as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

Management
The risk management unit is responsible for managing and reporting on credit risk. The Group uses a variety of tools and processes to manage
credit risk, including collaterals, hedges and loan portfolio management.

Credit approval process

The originating department prepares a proposal for each larger loan or credit line which is presented to the credit committee for approval. The
proposal consists of a basic description of the client, the purpose of the loan, a simple credit assessment and arguments for or against granting
the loan. The committee decides whether there is need for further credit assessment and on what terms the loan may be granted. For smaller
loans the originating department obtains a general credit approval from the credit committee with respect to the process, terms, credit limits and
total amount of the specific lending type.

A more thorough credit assessment may be conducted if considered appropriate and can include an assessment of a borrower's fundamental
credit strength as well as the value of any collateral. To assess the borrower's capacity to meet his or her obligations the committee can request
stress test analysis of the borrower's cash flow or call for third party assessments.

Collateral

Securing loans with collateral is a traditional method to reduce credit risk. The Group uses different methods to reduce credit risk by obtaining
collateral from customers where appropriate. Such collateral gives the Group right to the collateralised assets for current and future obligations
incurred by the customer.

The Group places emphasis on pricing loans according to the value and quality of pledged collateral. The Group applies appropriate haircuts on
all collateral in order to ensure proper risk mitigation. For all collateral in listed securities, the Group maintains the right to liquidate collateral in
case its market value falls below a predefined limit.

To a very large extent the Group's loan portfolio consists of senior loans, most of which are highly collateralised.

Credit rating, control and provisioning
The risk management unit is responsible for credit rating and reviewing the loan portfolio.
The Group monitors the value of collateral by listed securities on a real time basis and takes prompt action when necessary.

Loan portfolio management

To ensure an effective diversification of the loan portfolio the board has set a limit framework defining maximum exposure as a ratio of the
Group’s equity and/or the total size of the loan portfolio. These limits include limitation on joint exposure to associated clients, exposure to
individual and associated industries, single regions and countries etc. It is the responsibility of risk management to monitor that these limits are
not being violated and to report discrepancies to the credit committee.
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Credit risk - overview (cont.)

Impairment

Provisioning for loan impairments is estimated on the basis of expected loss models assessing the portfolio as a whole as well as individual
lending. Risk management suggest a level of provisioning for the portfolio, based on the expected loss assessment. Risk management reassess
impairments in the event of collateral decay, delayed payments, indication of increased risk, or other early warning signs. Provisions require
approval from the credit committee. Refer to note 84 in the financial statements for more information on the Group's impairment policy.

Derivatives

The Group offers derivative contracts in the form of swap contracts on highly liquid securities or currencies. On the day when the contract is
entered into, the Group purchases the underlying asset and hedges its exposure to price changes. Collateral is in the form of cash or listed, highly
liquid securities. The risk management sets rules about the level of collateralisation and monitors the compliance to these rules. Contracts are
closed if required levels of collateralisation are not met.

Securities used for hedging

The Group hedges itself for market risk of derivative contracts by purchasing the underlying securities at the commencement of the contract.
Since the contracts require delivery of the underlying securities to the customer on the settlement day, the credit risk towards the issuer is
immaterial.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023

39



Kvika banki hf.

Amounts are in ISK thousands

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47.

48.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk for on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items, before taking into account any collateral held or
other credit enhancements, is specified as follows:

31.12.2023 Public Financial Corporate

On-balance sheet exposure entities institutions customers Individuals 31.12.2023
Cash and balances with Central Bank 17,324,455 6,356,998 23,681,453
Fixed income securities 63,928,567 944,255 104,584 64,977,406
Loans to customers 11,127 97,867,223 38,445,131 136,323,481
Derivatives 1,981,114 466,082 50,680 2,497,877
OhEI @SSELS ...ttt 394,137 1,184,368 5,179,519 2,322,122 9,080,146

81,658,286 10,466,735 103,617,408 40,817,934 236,560,362
Off-balance sheet exposure

Loan commitments 4,175,306 1,029,698 5,205,004

Financial guarantee contracts .. 211,940 211,940
Maximum exposure to credit risk 81,658,286 10,466,735 108,004,653 41,847,632 241,977,306
31.12.2022* Public Financial Corporate

On-balance sheet exposure entities institutions customers Individuals 31.12.2022
Cash and balances with Central Bank 29,279,085 7,391,501 36,670,586
Fixed income securities 54,989,042 5,309,011 4,862,354 65,160,407
Loans to customers 15,103 69,139,761 37,984,363 107,139,227
Derivatives 3,955,424 917,391 67,923 4,940,738
ONEI @SSETS ...ttt sttt ettt 1,013,523 1,432,807 7,793,876 66,701 10,306,907

85,296,753 18,088,743 82,713,382 38,118,988 224,217,865
Off-balance sheet exposure
Loan commitments 1,955,620 725,755 2,681,375
Financial guarantee contracts .. 261,861 261,861

Maximum exposure to credit risk 85,296,753 18,088,743 84,930,863 38,844,743 227,161,102

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.

Credit quality of financial assets

The book value of financial assets which fall under the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are presented net of expected credit losses ("ECL")
in the statement of financial position. The ECL are recalculated for each asset on at least a quarterly basis. The assessment of ECL is based
upon calculations being derived from models on PD, LGD and EAD. Furthermore, the assessment is based upon management's assumptions
regarding the development of macroeconomic factors over the coming twelve months. The assumptions for macroeconomic development
are decided for three scenarios: a base case, an upside scenario and a downside scenario, including a probability weight for each scenario.
The assumptions are used for calculations of the probability weighted ECLs. The amount of ECL to be recognized is dependent on the Group's
definition of significant increase in credit risk, which controls the impairment stage each asset is allocated to. The factors that are used to
measure significant increase in credit risk include comparison of changes in PD values, annualized lifetime PD values, days past due and
watch list.

The following table shows the first 12 month macro economic values for the variables used in the expected credit loss model. The Group
utilises an economic forecast which is aligned with requirements for the calculation of expected credit loss. Following the Group's acquisition
of Ortus Secured Finance Itd., the Group owns loan portfolios in two geographical segments, i.e. Iceland and the United Kingdom ("UK"). In
general, the Group utilises the same ECL methodology for the portfolios in both segments, although in the UK it is to a larger extent based on
an individual assessment by credit specialists. Reference is made to note 84 for further information about the Group‘s impairment
methodology.

Scenarios
Model parameters 31.12.2023 Base Upside Downside
Unemployment rate 48% 4.4% 5.0%
Inflation CPI index 57% 6.0% 6.7%
Assigned weight 60.0% 10.0% 30.0%
Scenarios
Model parameters 31.12.2022 Base Upside Downside
Unemployment rate 3.8% 3.2% 4.6%
Inflation CPI index 44% 4.8% 6.7%
Assigned weight 60.0% 10.0% 30.0%
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48. Credit quality of financial assets (cont.)

a. Breakdown of loans to customers by industry and information on collateral and other credit enhancements

The Group applies the same valuation methods to collateral held as other comparable assets held by the Group. For other types of assets the Group uses third party valuation where possible.

Allocated collateral

Impairment Listed Unlisted
Claim due to expected Carrying Total securities and securities and Residential Commercial Industrial Unsecured
31.12.2023 value credit loss amount % collateral  Deposits liquid funds other funds real estate real estate Automobiles equipment Guarantees Other claim value
Public entities .......ccoeeeereeereerrcecccree 11,188 (61) 11,127 0.0% 11,553 0 0 0 0 0 11,226 0 0 327 2,917
Financial institutions .........cccocevveiiviininiinins 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate
Real estate activities .........ccoccovvvviiiiriinnne 31,508,020 (234,278) 31,273,742  22.9% 59,514,931 25,414 0 54,180 28,804,369 29,574,694 797,093 205,458 0 53,722 457,258
CONSEIUCHION ..ot 20,585,501 (82,066) 20,503,434 15.0% 45,467,134 158,988 0 0 17,773,191 18,323,454 4,611,641 3,990,110 0 609,751 243,654
Service ACtiVities ......ocoevvieniviiiniciins 14,131,242 (148,035) 13,983,207 10.3% 25,910,745 45,492 79,577 2,228,442 270,692 1,306,517 16,455,917 2,742,679 0 2,781,430 380,611
Accommodat. and Food Service Activit. ..... 6,180,590 (11,206) 6,169,384 4.5% 12,829,867 73,657 0 0 2,887,040 9,307,016 504,811 0 0 57,343 24,105
Wholesale and Retail Trade ..........ccccouvunene 7,974,891 (55,417) 7,919,474 5.8% 12,230,309 23,658 312,321 0 4,660,937 1,330,258 3,447,895 1,502,756 100,000 852,484 53,298
Activities of Holding Companies . 7,975,924 (576,301) 7,399,624 5.4% 23,080,630 48,409 347,097 10,610,025 7,001,067 3,572,982 219,871 200,625 805,971 274,582 123,335
10,740,500 (122,143) 10,618,358 7.8% 23,724,577 267,508 6,391,784 939,372 4,084,596 4,721,067 2,312,012 3,488,403 693,755 826,082 524,143
Individual .... 39,434,283 (989,152) 38,445,131  28.2% 55,469,271 13,328 1,023,000 601,250 9,311,354 2,961,368 39,589,466 1,760,237 0 209,268 8,918,673
Total 138,542,141 (2,218,660) 136,323,481 100.0% 258,239,017 656,453 8,153,779 14,433,268 74,793,246 71,097,357 67,949,932 13,890,267 1,599,726 5,664,989 10,727,994
Allocated collateral
Impairment Listed Unlisted
Claim due to expected Carrying Total securities and securities and Residential Commercial Industrial Unsecured
31.12.2022 value credit loss amount % collateral Deposits liquid funds other funds real estate real estate Automobiles equipment Guarantees Other claim value
Public entities ........ccocevvvvviniininiiniiiiie 15,205 (101) 15,103 0.0% 13,283 0 0 0 0 0 12,571 0 0 712 5,298
Financial institutions .........cccocevvviiviiiniiinnns 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Corporate
Real estate activities 25,345,063 (851,711) 24,493,352 22.9% 64,676,404 10,455 15,979 3,585,720 27,853,966 32,110,347 719,242 167,171 10,000 203,524 627,578
Construction .. 10,270,953 (257,339) 10,013,615 9.3% 19,746,074 5,538 368,182 0 7,035420 4,913,005 3,593,914 3,281,321 0 548,694 338,057
Activities of Holding Companies . 9,722,282 (31,475) 9,690,807 9.0% 22,428,613 36,857 363,192 11,217,850 7,467,709 2,594,675 159,892 86,548 476,455 25,436 1,161,514
Service ACtiVities ........coevvienniiniciinns 9,580,738 (180,993) 9,399,745 8.8% 18,488,730 14,912 88,391 3,045,055 316,519 830,661 10,169,808 2,326,169 0 1,697,215 288,971
Accommodat. and Food Service Activit. ..... 4,250,532 (2,665) 4,247,868 4.0% 7,810,464 48,600 0 260,499 2,949,673 4,108,349 376,230 0 0 67,113 582,359
Wholesale and Retail Trade . 3,702,513 (53,119) 3,649,393 3.4% 6,075,435 101,455 70,278 0 0 1,234,684 2,280,567 1,282,092 100,000 1,006,358 236,447
Other ... 8,167,845 (522,864) 7,644,981 7.1% 14,167,010 310,042 3,414,030 581,856 1,489,635 1,740,913 2,158,699 3,012,388 854,054 605,394 1,210,526
Individual .. 38,737,428 (753,064) 37,984,363 35.5% 56,036,869 47,136 1,332,491 782,099 12,114,940 2,913,038 37,087,081 1,445,293 0 314,790 7,831,670
Total 109,792,560 (2,653,333) 107,139,227 100.0% 209,442,883 574,996 5,652,543 19,473,080 59,227,861 50,445,672 56,558,004 11,600,982 1,440,509 4,469,236 12,282,420

Collateral value is shown as the market- or accounting value of collateral allocated to exposures. Other collateral includes financial claims, inventories and receivables. For larger unsecured claim values, the Group is in general covered by covenants in
the loan agreement, e.g. with a negative pledge or other ring fencing.
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48.

Credit quality of financial assets (cont.)

Credit quality of financial assets by credit quality band

The following tables show financial assets subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 broken down by credit quality bands where band i
denotes the lowest and band iv the highest credit risk. Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are not subject to the stage
classification requirements of IFRS 9 but are nevertheless included in the tables in order to give a more complete picture of the credit quality of
loans to customers and reconcile the tables to the carrying amount on the balance sheet. The Bank has primarily used adjusted external credit
ratings to assess the default probability of its customers and some larger borrowers are furthermore individually assessed by credit specialists. In
year-end 2023 the Bank implemented it's own credit rating models for part of the loan portfolio and the Bank has intention to maintain this

development in 2024.

31.12.2023

Loans to customers: Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 FVTPL Total
Credit quality band | 84,252,096 744,843 427,849 85,424,788
Credit quality band Il ... 33,627,994 2,687,909 39,319 36,355,221
Credit quality band Il 6,503,029 1,977,002 8,480,030
Credit quality band IV 769,496 485,101 1,254,597
In default 70,248 118,140 5,999,315 215,265 6,402,968
Non-rated ... 624,537 0 624,537
Gross carrying amount 125,847,398 6,012,995 5,999,315 682,433 138,542,141
EXpected Credit 10SS ..o..evirerierierieieieee et (367,895) (127,520)  (1,723,244) (2,218,660)
Book value 125,479,503 5,885,474 4,276,072 682,433 136,323,481
Loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities: Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 FVTPL Total
Credit qUality Band | ......cccoiiiiiiri s 3,773,821 0 3,773,821
Credit quality band Il 920,679 1,211 921,890
Credit quality band Il .. 586,052 41,972 628,024
Credit quality band IV 3,407 1,594 5,002
In default 351 1 87,855 88,207
Non-rated ... 0 0
Total off-balance sheet amount 5,284,311 44,778 87,855 0 5,416,944
Expected credit loss .... (13,897) (538) (1,253) (15,688)
Net off-balance sheet amount 5,270,413 44,241 86,602 0 5,401,256
31.12.2022

Loans to customers: Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 FVTPL Total
Credit qUality Band | ..o e 80,658,854 600,058 1,036,459 82,295,371
Credit quality band Il 11,518,509 2,774,574 14,293,083
Credit quality band Il 2,569,408 2,594,665 46,291 5,210,364
Credit quality band IV 795,448 642,777 1,438,225
In default . 56,257 528,954 5,313,498 127,641 6,026,351
Non-rated ... 506,757 22,410 529,166
Gross carrying amount 96,105,233 7,163,439 5,313,498 1,210,390 109,792,560
EXpected Credit 10SS .....evirerierierieieiee e (258,197) (255,541)  (2,139,595) (2,653,333)
Book value 95,847,035 6,907,898 3,173,904 1,210,390 107,139,227
Loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities: Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 FVTPL Total
Credit quality band I .... 1,839,673 3,595 27,460 1,870,728
Credit quality band Il ... 217,400 217,400
Credit quality band I1I 274,343 318,188 236,380 828,910
Credit quality band IV 14,097 225 14,322
In default ........ccoceee 402 1,000 10,474 11,876
NON-TALEA ...ttt 0
Total off-balance sheet amount 2,345,915 323,008 10,474 263,840 2,943,236
EXpected Credit [0SS ...ociiierererierieieteieeet ettt (11,408) (1,269) (258) (12,935)
Net off-balance sheet amount 2,334,507 321,739 10,216 263,840 2,930,302
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Credit quality of financial assets (cont.)

Breakdown of loans to customers into not past due and past due

31.12.2023 Claim Expected Carrying

value credit loss amount
Not past due 127,943,377 (571,621) 127,371,756
Past due 1-30 days 2,443,573 (50,506) 2,393,067
Past due 31-60 days 1,933,845 (195,102) 1,738,744
Past due 61-90 days 1,757,416 (74,920) 1,682,496
Past due 91-180 days 1,494,409 (601,446) 892,963
Past due 181-360 days 1,912,571 (197,428) 1,715,143
Past due more than 360 days 1,056,951 (527,638) 529,313
Total 138,542,141 (2,218,660) 136,323,481
31.12.2022 Claim Expected Carrying

value credit loss amount
INOT PASE AUE ..ttt h e bbbt bbb st e st e st et et e e et et e st e st e st eneeneeneene e sbesbenbenee 99,766,659 (535,445) 99,231,215
PASt AUE 1-30 GAYS veveveveieiirieieieteest et ettt sttt eb st b et bbb st b e s e bt e et et e st e st s e be s et ebens enes 3,080,787 (77,173) 3,003,615
Past due 31-60 days 2,559,244 (519,905) 2,039,339
Past due 61-90 days 968,329 (39,792) 928,538
Past due 91-180 days 381,807 (65,948) 315,859
Past due 181-360 days ... . 629,617 (146,403) 483,214
Past due MOre than 360 daYS .....ccceeeiriririiirierieste sttt sttt sttt ettt ettt et et beebeebesbesbesbesbesae e 2,406,115 (1,268,667) 1,137,448
Total 109,792,560 (2,653,333) 107,139,227

Allowance for expected credit loss on loans to customers and loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities

The following tables show changes in the expected credit loss allowance of loans to customers and for loan commitments, guarantees and unused

credit facilities during the period.

31.12.2023
Expected credit loss allowance total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2023 269,605 256,810 2,139,852 2,666,267
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial recognition) 67,581 (51,505) (16,076) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) ... (10,766) 17,183 (6,416) 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit iMPaired) .......cccoceeirerierinineneee e (32,752) (70,485) 103,237 0

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (93,507) 3,002 840,190 749,685

New financial assets, originated or purchased . 284,314 84,645 655,505 1,024,464

Derecognitions and MAtUFILIES ......ccecerererieieiee ettt st sre st seas (102,625) (111,119) (881,568)  (1,095,312)

WVIIEE=OTFS .ottt ettt e e e e e e s s s e s eseeseseessessaessseeeseennenes (57) (471)  (1,110,229)  (1,110,757)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 381,793 128,058 1,724,497 2,234,348

Expected credit loss allowance for loans to customers

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2023 258,197 255,541 2,139,595 2,653,333
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial recognition) 67,521 (51,445) (16,076) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) ... (10,685) 17,102 (6,416) 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit iMPaired) .....c.ccveveeeeieieieeeecesese e (32,750) (69,985) 102,736 0

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (91,795) 2,716 840,191 751,112

New financial assets, originated or purchased 278,426 84,474 654,771 1,017,672

Derecognitions and MAtUFITIES .......cceverierierieieieee ettt (100,961) (110,411) (881,328)  (1,092,700)

WIETEE-OFFS vvrevveereerereseeeeessesesesessesesesesessesesesesesseessesesesessesssesesesessesesesesessssenesesessassasssesesens (57) (471)  (1,110,229)  (1,110,757)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 367,895 127,520 1,723,244 2,218,660
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48. Credit quality of financial assets (cont.)

Expected credit loss allowance for loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2023 11,408 1,269 258 12,935
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial recognition) 61 (61) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) (81) 81 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit impaired) (2) (500) 502 0

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (1,712) 286 (1) (1,427)

New financial assets, originated or purchased . 5,888 171 734 6,792

Derecognitions and maturities (1,664) (708) (239) (2,611)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 13,897 538 1,253 15,688

31.12.2022

Expected credit loss allowance total

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2022 216,023 293,794 833,534 1,343,351
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial recognition) 51,349 (40,605) (10,744) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) ... (7,894) 23,377 (15,483) 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit iMPaired) .....ccceeveieieeeieeeese e (9,714) (125,921) 135,635 0

Net remeasurement of loss allowance ................... (63,511) (3,464) 450,319 383,343

New financial assets, originated or purchased 202,002 177,845 1,317,950 1,697,797

Derecognitions and MAtUFITIES .......ccevuerierierierieieteee et (118,478) (66,385) (413,543) (598,406)

WWHIEE-0FFS vttt ettt ettt ettt nnene (172) (1,832) (157,814) (159,818)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 269,605 256,810 2,139,852 2,666,267

Expected credit loss allowance for loans to customers

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2022 211,083 293,663 831,885 1,336,631
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial reCOZNILION) .ouvcvvevieeieieieieeeeeee e 51,041 (40,550) (10,491) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) ... (6,795) 22,279 (15,483) 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit impaired) (9,714) (125,921) 135,635 0

Net remeasurement of 10SS @llOWANCE ........cccvieiiiiiiiiieiecieeeceeeee e (67,769) (3,588) 450,570 379,213

New financial assets, originated or purchased 197,246 177,845 1,317,710 1,692,801

Derecognitions and maturities ..........c........ (116,723) (66,356) (412,417) (595,495)

WWHIEE-0FFS ..ttt ettt b et st b et nnene (172) (1,832) (157,814) (159,818)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 258,197 255,541 2,139,595 2,653,333

Expected credit loss allowance for loan commitments, guarantees and unused credit facilities

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Transfers of financial assets:

Balance as at 1 January 2022 4,940 130 1,649 6,720
Transfer to Stage 1 - (Initial recogNItion) ......ccceeireririninirerese e 307 (55) (253) 0
Transfer to Stage 2 - (significantly increased credit risk) ... (1,098) 1,098 0
Transfer to Stage 3 - (credit impaired) 0

Net remeasurement 0f 105S @llOWANCE ......c.cccvievierviieeeiieceeeeece et 4,258 124 (252) 4,130

New financial assets, originated or purchased 4,756 239 4,996

Derecognitions and maturities (1,755) (29) (1,127) (2,911)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 11,408 1,269 258 12,935
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49.

50.

51.

Loan-to-value

General

The loan-to-value ratio (LTV) is the ratio of the gross amount of the loan to the value of the collateral, if any. The general creditworthiness of a
customer is viewed as the most reliable indicator of credit quality of a loan. Besides collateral included in the LTV ratios the Group uses other risk
mitigation measures, such as guarantees, negative pledge, cross-collateral and collateralization of non-quantifiable assets.

Breakdown
The breakdown of loans to customers by LTV is specified as follows:
31.12.2023 %  31.12.2022 %
Less than 50% 40,343,153 29.6% 29,001,396 27.1%
51-70% .. 43,106,020 31.6% 36,654,281 34.2%
37,703,829 27.7% 22,168,930 20.7%
91-100% 2,996,007 2.2% 3,027,670 2.8%
100-125% .... 2,390,159 1.8% 3,880,228 3.6%
125-200% 726,535 0.5% 511,406 0.5%
Greater than 200% 493,460 0.4% 2,704,141 2.5%
No or negligible collateral:
Other loans With N0 COllAteral ........covcouiiiiiiiiiicceecece e 8,564,319 6.3% 9,191,175 8.6%
Total 136,323,481 100.0% 107,139,227 100.0%

Collateral against exposures to derivatives

The Group applies the same valuation methods to collateral held as other comparable assets held by the Group. Haircuts are applied to account
for liquidity and other factors which may affect the collateral value of the asset.

Fixed Variable Other

income income Real fixed
Deposits securities securities estate assets Other  31.12.2023
Financial institutions .........ccccoceeeveneenes 1,077,011 137,593 710,208 1,924,812
Corporate customers 789,728 70,988 1,812,452 2,673,168
Individuals 66,501 43,028 109,529
Total 1,933,241 208,581 2,565,687 0 0 0 4,707,509

Fixed Variable Other

income income Real fixed
Deposits securities securities estate assets Other  31.12.2022
Financial institutions 2,984,076 8,498 2,992,574
Corporate customers 2,078,835 347,669 1,666,005 4,092,509
INdivViduals ......ccoevviriiininineeecen 61,211 34,926 47,221 143,357
Total 5,124,122 391,093 1,713,226 0 0 0 7,228,441

Amounts have been adjusted to exclude collateral in excess of claim value, i.e. overcollateralisation.

Large exposures

In accordance with regulation no. 575/2013 of the European Union on prudential requirements for credit institutions, which was incorporated
into Icelandic law with Act No. 38/2022, total exposure towards a customer is classified as a large exposure if it exceeds 10% of the financial
institution's Tier 1 capital (see note 41).

According to the regulation a single exposure, net of risk adjusted mitigation, cannot exceed 25% of the eligible Tier 1 capital. Based on Icelandic
rules no. 789/2022 on the Application of Optional Provisions and Authorisations Pursuant to the Act on Financial Undertakings, the value of
exposures towards financial institutions shall not exceed 25% of the eligible Tier 1 capital or 10 bn. ISK, whichever is higher. Single large exposures
net of risk adjusted mitigation take into account the effects of collateral and other credit enhancements held by the financial institution, and
other credit enhancements, in accordance with regulation no. 575/2013.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Large exposures before risk adjusted mitigation Number Amount Number Amount
10-20% of capital base ... 3 12,343,465 2 7,009,093
20-25% of capital base ... 0 0 0 0
Exceeding 25% Of Capital Dase ....ccveeviieiierienieieeeeeeeee e 0 0 0 0
Total 3 12,343,465 2 7,009,093
Large exposures net of risk adjusted mitigation ..........ccoevererieneneneeceeee 1 4,002,353 1 2,980,320
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52.

Liquidity risk

Definition

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting contractual payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. This risk mainly arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows. The Group has
internal rules that require certain matching of the maturities of assets and liabilities. Furthermore, to ensure the ability to meet liquidity needs,
the Group maintains a stock of highly liquid unencumbered assets, e.g. cash, treasury bills and treasury bonds.

Management

Liquidity is managed by treasury and monitored by risk management. Liquidity position is reported to the ALCO committee. The Central Bank of
Iceland sets minimum requirements for the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) and the net stable funding ratio (NSFR). The minimum 30 day LCR
regulatory requirement is 100% for LCR total, 50% minimum requirement for LCR in ISK and 80% minimum requirement for LCR in EUR. The
minimum requirement for LCR EUR only applies when the Group‘s commitments in EUR represent 10% or more of the Group’s total commitments.
The minimum regulatory requirement for NSFR total is 100%.

ISK Foreign currency Total

31.12.2023 Unweighted Weighted Unweighted Weighted Unweighted Weighted

Liquid assets level 1 61,248,977 61,248,977 14,679,969 14,679,969 75,928,946 75,928,946
Liquid assets level 2 353,146 300,174 353,146 300,174
Total liquid assets 61,602,122 61,549,150 14,679,969 14,679,969 76,282,091 76,229,119
Deposits* 111,263,406 27,328,035 6,915,793 3,406,552 118,179,199 30,734,587
Other borrowings .. 109,333 109,333 1,109 1,109 110,442 110,442
Other OULFIOWS ......cueverieiiiieiicccccee e 14,896,187 11,083,491 8,222,931 887,195 23,119,118 11,970,686
Total outflows (0-30 days) 126,268,925 38,520,859 15,139,834 4,294,857 141,408,759 42,815,715

196,556 196,556 6,312,949 6,312,949 6,509,505 6,509,505
13,029,061 4,955,339 818,468 473,124 13,847,529 5,428,462

Short-term deposits with other banks
Other inflows

Restrictions on iNflOWS .........ccceeviieiiiiiieciececececeeee e (3,564,930)

Total inflows (0-30 days) 13,225,617 5,151,895 7,131,417 3,221,142 20,357,034 11,937,968
Liquidity coverage ratio 184% 1367% 247%

ISK Foreign currency Total

31.12.2022 Unweighted Weighted Unweighted Weighted Unweighted Weighted
Liquid assets level 1 75,123,792 75,123,792 2,835,959 2,835,959 77,959,751 77,959,751
Liquid assets level 2 .. 1,149,243 976,856 1,149,243 976,856
Total liquid assets 76,273,034 76,100,648 2,835,959 2,835,959 79,108,993 78,936,607
DEPOSIES™ ...ttt 85,058,224 27,084,330 8,978,550 4,289,645 94,036,775 31,373,975
Other borrowings .. 315,021 315,021 11,080 11,080 326,101 326,101
Other outflows 5,008,349 3,358,604 3,473,773 275,923 8,482,123 3,634,527
Total outflows (0-30 days) 90,381,595 30,757,955 12,463,404 4,576,647 102,844,999 35,334,602
Short-term deposits with other banks ..........ccocovevenenenenne 114,113 114,113 3,483,111 3,483,111 3,597,224 3,597,224
Other inflows 12,762,268 6,379,561 1,157,700 678,050 13,919,968 7,057,612
Restrictions on inflows (728,675)

Total inflows (0-30 days) 12,876,381 6,493,675 4,640,811 3,432,486 17,517,192 10,654,835
Liquidity coverage ratio 314% 248% 320%

* Deposits include Money market deposits which are classified as Borrowings in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

31.12.2023  31.12.2022

NSFR total 141% 140%
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52. Liquidity risk (cont.)

c.  Maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
31.12.2023 Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over5 Gross inflow/ Carrying
Financial assets by type month months months years years (outflow) amount
Non-derivative assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank ........... 23,681,967 23,681,967 23,681,453
Fixed income securities 20,151,355 1,974,339 21,340,000 18,908,801 2,602,910 64,977,406 64,977,406
Shares and other variable income securities 1,222,894 411,609 2,222,977 3,857,480 3,857,480
Securities used for hedging .......c.ccccevverveenen. 16,852,313 16,852,313 16,852,313
Loans to customers 7,839,447 10,674,108 47,315,427 90,723,103 6,895,531 163,447,617 136,323,481
Other assets 3,794,043 4,265,609 820,319 200,175 9,080,146 10,401,128
73,542,019 17,325,666 71,698,723 109,832,080 9,498,441 281,896,929 256,093,262
Derivative assets
INFIOW vt 8,779,563 12,775,096 6,974,032 58,519 28,587,210
OULFIOW <. (7,921,683) (12,310,694) (5,856,054) (902) (26,089,333)
857,879 464,402 1,117,978 57,617 0 2,497,877 2,497,877
Upto1l 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Gross inflow/ Carrying
Financial liabilities by type month months months years years (outflow) amount
Non-derivative liabilities
Deposits (115,974,426) (8,335,449) (5,646,547) (4,284,193)  (384,513) (134,625,128) 133,772,941
Borrowings (8,681,044) (430,722) (2,684,014) (19,142,369) (30,938,148) 23,817,062
Issued bonds (109,333) (6,881,308) (9,407,820) (32,874,868) (2,457,149) (51,730,478) 45,715,427
Subordinated liabilities ... (354,804) (2,465,385) (8,399,596) (11,219,785) 5,993,084
Short positions held for trading (71,664) (60,081) (131,745) 131,745
Short positions used for hedging (4,230) (4,230) 4,230
Other liabilities .......ccccevvevereriirinireneneseen (3,308,385) (11,197,785) (1,652,495) (492,619) (16,651,283) 16,593,993
(128,144,851) (26,845,264) (19,745,680) (59,259,434) (11,305,569) (245,300,798) 226,028,482
Derivative liabilities
INFIOW e 15,157,017 1,721,575 4,653,591 21,532,182
OULFIOW <. (16,222,964) (1,759,667) (4,886,823) (859,631) (23,729,086)
(1,065,948) (38,092) (233,233) (859,631) 0 (2,196,904) 2,196,904
Unrecognised financial items
Loan commitments
INFIOW i 211,062 61,502 1,464,611 4,579,989 140,836 6,458,000
OULFIOW <. (5,205,004) (5,205,004)
Financial guarantee contracts
Inflow 163,896 40,976 7,068 211,940
Outflow (211,940) (211,940)
(5,205,882) 61,502 1,628,507 4,620,965 147,905 1,252,996
Summary
Non-derivative assets 73,542,019 17,325,666 71,698,723 109,832,080 9,498,441 281,896,929
Derivative assets 857,879 464,402 1,117,978 57,617 2,497,877
Non-derivative liabilities .... (128,144,851) (26,845,264) (19,745,680) (59,259,434) (11,305,569) (245,300,798)
Derivative liabilities (1,065,948) (38,092) (233,233) (859,631) (2,196,904)
Net assets (liabilities) excluding
unrecognised items ........cccoeveeriieeiiineeinnne (54,810,901) (9,093,288) 52,837,788 49,770,632 (1,807,128) 36,897,103
Net unrecognised items .........ccceceeererennenne. (5,205,882) 61,502 1,628,507 4,620,965 147,905 1,252,996
Net assets (liabilities) ........ccceverrverrercnecnnens (60,016,783) (9,031,786) 54,466,295 54,391,597 (1,659,223) 38,150,099
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52. Liquidity risk (cont.)

31.12.2022* Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over5 Gross inflow/ Carrying
Financial assets by type month months months years years (outflow) amount
Non-derivative assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank .... 34,556,826 2,121,760 36,678,586 36,670,586
Fixed income securities 14,752,525 27,873,149 3,907,528 18,627,205 65,160,407 65,160,407
Shares and other variable income securities 11,424,516 2,702,765 5,283,228 19,410,508 19,410,508
Securities used for hedging ... 13,841,853 13,841,853 13,841,853
Loans to customers 7,224,508 8,148,187 32,600,452 73,801,224 6,773,201 128,547,573 107,139,227
Reinsurance contract assets 46,290 63,319 294,148 214,844 72,638 691,239 691,239
Other assets 5,276,555 2,883,802 1,990,869 33,776 121,906 10,306,907 11,883,489

87,123,073 43,792,982 44,076,226 92,677,048 6,967,745 274,637,074 254,797,310
Derivative assets

INFIOW oo 25,202,434 2,962,372 6,485,242 2,981,751 37,631,799
OULFIOW e (22,308,183) (2,829,323) (5,401,381) (2,215,601) (32,754,488)
2,894,251 133,049 1,083,861 766,150 0 4,877,311 4,940,738
Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Gross inflow/ Carrying
Financial liabilities by type month months months years years (outflow) amount
Non-derivative liabilities
DEPOSIES vttt (94,506,439) (8,882,306) (5,198,432) (4,121,200)  (225,740) (112,934,118) 112,245,198
Insurance contract liabilities (2,132,094) (2,388,608) (7,185,201) (9,631,606) (1,231,551) (22,569,060) 21,101,090
Borrowings ... (6,725,800) (2,647,846) (1,735,135) (18,759,487) (29,868,267) 28,120,009
Issued bonds ... (315,021) (3,088,061) (11,577,901) (24,716,516) (2,320,710) (42,018,209) 38,103,414
Subordinated liabilities (212,271) (916,053) (6,571,430) (7,699,754) 3,686,451
Short positions held for trading ... (1,486,107) (1,486,107) 1,486,107
Short positions used for hedging (1,343,186) (1,343,186) 1,343,186

Other liabilities ... (3,344,393) (3,584,999) (2,188,492)  (527,067) (121,906)  (9,766,858) 9,738,535

(109,853,041) (20,591,820) (28,097,433) (58,671,929) (10,471,336) (227,685,559) 215,823,990

Derivative liabilities

Inflow (123,731) 1,629,989 3,340,763 6,866,708 11,713,728
Outflow (526,350) (1,761,200) (3,394,813) (7,649,561) (13,331,924)
(650,081) (131,212) (54,050) (782,853) 0 (1,618,196) 1,609,537
Unrecognised financial items by type
Loan commitments
Inflow 192,918 247,571 1,188,493 1,284,906 2,913,888
Outflow (2,681,375) (2,681,375)
Financial guarantee contracts
Inflow .. 5,800 87,750 102,186 66,126 261,861
Outflow (261,861) (261,861)
(2,750,318) 253,371 1,276,243 1,387,091 66,126 232,513
Summary
Non-derivative assets ..........ccceververerenenenne 87,123,073 43,792,982 44,076,226 92,677,048 6,967,745 274,637,074
Derivative assets 2,894,251 133,049 1,083,861 766,150 4,877,311
Non-derivative liabilities . (109,853,041) (20,591,820) (28,097,433) (58,671,929) (10,471,336) (227,685,559)
Derivative liabilities (650,081) (131,212) (54,050) (782,853) (1,618,196)
Net assets (liabilities) excluding
unrecognised items .........ccceevveeneiinennnnns (20,485,798) 23,202,999 17,008,605 33,988,415 (3,503,591) 50,210,630
Net unrecognised items (2,750,318) 253,371 1,276,243 1,387,091 66,126 232,513

Net assets (liabilities) (23,236,116) 23,456,371 18,284,848 35,375,506 (3,437,466) 50,443,143

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on contractual cash flows or, in the case of held for trading securities,
expected cash flows. If an amount receivable or payable is not fixed, e.g. for inflation indexed assets and liabilities, the maturity analysis uses
estimates based on current conditions.

Cash flows relating to unrecognised balance sheet items (unused loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts) are presented separately
from financial assets and financial liabilities. Both contractual outflows and inflows are shown, to fully reflect the nature of these items.

It should be noted that the Group's expected cash flows sometimes vary considerably from the contractual cash flows, most significantly in that
demand deposits from customers are expected to remain stable or increase in the long term. In this case the presentation used reflects the worst
case scenario from the Group's perspective. Furthermore, the analysis does not consider any measures that could be taken to convert long-term
assets to cash through sale.
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53. Market risk

a. Definition
Market risk constitutes risk due to changes in the market prices of financial instruments and comprises interest rate risk, currency risk and other
price risk. Notes 54-59 relate to market risk exposure.

b. Management
The Group has a strict policy on controlling market risk and to keep the exposure within set limits. The risk management unit monitors market risk
limits on a daily basis and reports regularly to the ALCO committee and to the CEO.

54. Interest rate risk

a. Definition
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is twofold. On the one hand, the Group has a proprietary portfolio of bonds, where market rates affect
prices and any fluctuations are recognised in the income statement. On the other hand, the Group has mismatch in assets and liabilities with
fixed interest terms. These include loans and swap contracts for securities on the asset side and borrowings and deposits on the liability side. This
mismatch does not create an immediate effect on the income statement but nevertheless affects the Group's economic value.

Proprietary positions which are subject to interest rate risk fall under the scope of the Group's market risk management.

b. Management
The Group takes measures to minimise interest rate risk by matching the interest rate profile and duration of assets with the Group's liabilities as
well as using derivative and non-derivative financial instruments to manage effectively the risk of an adverse impact on the Group's earnings.

55. Interest rate risk associated with trading portfolios

a. Breakdown
The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities in trading portfolios by the earlier of interest repricing time or maturity is specified as follows:

Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years 31.12.2023
Fixed iNCOME SECUTILIES ..ve.vvvevirieeeieeeereeieeieeeeeeieeeiene 14,750 36,695 280,459 3,063,674 1,033,718 4,429,295
Short positions - fixed income securities ..........ccccoevueneene (3,730) (5,396) (32,720) (89,899) (131,745)
Net imbalance 14,750 32,964 275,063 3,030,954 943,820 4,297,551

Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years 31.12.2022
Fixed income securities 3,782 39,690 181,326 1,921,871 677,057 2,823,726
Short positions - fixed income securities .... (9,447) (37,185) (1,656,872) 1,204,062 (986,665) (1,486,107)
Net imbalance (5,665) 2,505  (1,475,545) 3,125,932 (309,608) 1,337,619

b. Sensitivity analysis
The Group performs monthly sensitivity analysis on financial assets and liabilities in trading portfolios that are subject to interest rate risk. The
sensitivity analysis assumes a shift in the yield curves for all currencies. A parallel shift in yield curves would have the following impact on the
Group's pre-tax profit and equity, assuming all other risk factors remain constant:

Shift in 31.12.2023 31.12.2022

basis points Downward Upward Downward Upward

..... 50 25,032 (24,632) 17,328 (17,206)

Non-indexed .. 100 41,408 (39,687) (65,251) 54,360
Total 66,440 (64,319) (47,923) 37,154
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56.

Interest rate risk associated with non-trading portfolios

Breakdown
The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities in non-trading portfolios by the earlier of interest repricing time or maturity is specified as
follows:
31.12.2023
Financial assets Upto1l 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank 23,681,453 23,681,453
Fixed income securities 13,234,607 2,813,780 22,531,739 18,795,625 3,172,359 60,548,110
LO@NSs tO CUSTOMENS ..ouviiiiieeciieecie et 118,422,687 5,472,017 5,631,528 6,488,964 308,287 136,323,481
Financial assets excluding derivatives 155,338,747 8,285,797 28,163,267 25,284,589 3,480,645 220,553,045
Effect of derivatives ........cccecvvceviririnenenencseseseeee 24,309,020 33,360,561 13,512,749 945,276 803,219 72,930,826
Total 179,647,767 41,646,358 41,676,016 26,229,865 4,283,865 293,483,870
Financial liabilities Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years Total
Deposits .. 116,363,448 8,209,284 5,187,702 3,827,784 184,724 133,772,941
Borrowings 24,813,614 82,084 43,157 3,108 24,941,963
Issued bonds 7,093,090 29,547,945 184,841 6,664,263 2,225,289 45,715,427
Subordinated liabilities .. 341,008 2,071,885 3,580,191 5,993,084
Financial liabilities excluding derivatives 148,270,151 37,839,312 5,756,708 12,567,040 5,990,203 210,423,415
Effect of derivatives .........cccecevvinininincneneseeseseee 26,099,269 21,434,697 11,957,255 59,491,221
Total 174,369,421 59,274,009 17,713,963 12,567,040 5,990,203 269,914,636
Total interest repricing gap 5,278,346 (17,627,651) 23,962,053 13,662,825 (1,706,339) 23,569,235
31.12.2022
Financial assets Uptol 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank 33,839,478 2,831,108 36,670,586
Fixed income securities 4,853,617 11,997,237 20,978,404 19,745,282 4,762,141 62,336,681
LOANS tO CUSLOMENS ...o.verirereieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s 77,638,422 6,912,847 8,579,333 13,522,931 485,694 107,139,227
Financial assets excluding derivatives 116,331,518 21,741,191 29,557,737 33,268,213 5,247,836 206,146,495
Effect of derivatives .........cccecererererineneneseseseseeiee 27,714,400 3,350,170 3,650,430 5,583,880 40,298,880
Total 144,045,918 25,091,361 33,208,167 38,852,093 5,247,836 246,445,375
Financial liabilities Upto1l 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5

month months months years years Total
Deposits .. 94,808,020 8,818,784 4,896,286 3,579,710 142,397 112,245,198
Borrowings 9,620,237 16,891,542 815,369 792,861 28,120,009
ISSUE DONAS ..ot 11,554,059 17,595,928 517,012 6,373,228 2,063,188 38,103,414
Subordinated liabilities ..........ccoevereneneneecceeee 206,026 766,468 2,713,957 3,686,451
Financial liabilities excluding derivatives 115,982,317 43,306,254 6,434,693 11,512,266 4,919,542 182,155,072
Effect of derivatives .......ccccceeeveciieiecicceeceeceeeee s 14,399,102 10,483,122 1,168 24,883,392
Total 130,381,419 53,789,376 6,435,861 11,512,266 4,919,542 207,038,464
Total interest repricing gap 13,664,499 (28,698,015) 26,772,306 27,339,827 328,293 39,406,911

Sensitivity analysis

The Group performs monthly sensitivity analysis on financial assets and liabilities in non-trading portfolios subject to interest rate risk. The
sensitivity analysis assumes a shift in the yield curves for all currencies. A parallel shift in yield curves would have the following impact on the

Group's pre-tax profit and equity, assuming all other risk factors remain constant:

Shift in 31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Currency basis points Downward Upward Downward Upward
ISK, indexed 50 (245,435) 228,724 (102,436) 90,744
ISK, non-indexed 100 396,558 (385,418) 322,905 (313,948)
Other currencies 20 1,223 (1,215) 28,068 (27,866)
Total 152,346 (157,909) 248,537 (251,070)
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57.

58.

Exposure towards changes in the CPI

Definition
Exposure towards changes in CPI is the risk that fluctuations in the Icelandic Consumer Price Index (CPI) will affect the balance and cash flow of
indexed financial instruments.

The Group is exposed to inflation indexation of assets and liabilities denominated in ISK. All indexed assets and liabilities are valued according to
the CPI measure at any given time and changes in CPI are recognised in the income statement.

Management
The Group controls its indexation risk through derivatives contracts and sales and purchases of indexed bonds, mostly government bonds, and
thus keeps its exposure to the CPI within the limits set by the ALCO committee.

Balance of CPI linked assets and liabilities

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
AASSEES .uttiiitie ittt e e et e e et e e a—e ettt e e beeeahtee e tee e hteeabeeeateaaabteeaateeaaaaeeabeeetaee eeeaatee e baeeaateeeateenabeeetaeensaaeans 34,860,451 30,670,431
LEGDTTITIES ettt sttt ettt aeeae e er e R R e na e a e n et e et e n e nnea (23,177,052) (19,761,019)
Total 11,683,398 10,909,412

Sensitivity to changes in CPI
Given the net balance of CPI linked assets and liabilities, a 1% change in the CPI would, with other things constant, result in the following changes
to the Group's pre-tax profit.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

-1% 1% -1% 1%

GOVEINMENT DONAS ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ete e beeaeeaeesbeesbeesbeebeenreessesanennes (58,667) 58,667 (74,357) 74,357
Other fixed income securities (21,561) 21,561 (42,622) 42,622
Loans to customers (236,126) 236,126 (95,730) 95,730
Derivatives ..... (32,251) 32,251 (93,995) 93,995
Short positions 683 (683) 4,064 (4,064)
Deposits 81,464 (81,464) 73,605 (73,605)
ISSUEA DONDS vervvveeeereereeveeeeer e e seeeses s seseses e eeseseseseseesesesesesessesesaseseessesesesesresesasesssenen 89,710 (89,710) 83,077 (83,077)
Subordinated abilILIES ......ccveiiiiieicie ettt 59,913 (59,913) 36,865 (36,865)
(116,834) 116,834 (109,094) 109,094

The effect on equity would be the same.
Currency risk

Definition

Currency risk arises when financial instruments are not denominated in the functional currency of the respective Group entity and can affect both
the Group's income statement and statement of financial position. A part of the Group's financial assets and liabilities is denominated in foreign
currencies.

Management
Currency positions are monitored by risk management and reported to the ALCO committee. Any mismatch between assets and liabilities in each
currency is monitored closely and managed within limits.

The Group is subject to limits set by the Central Bank of Iceland regarding the maximum open currency position. At 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 the Group's position in foreign currencies was within those limits.

Hedge accounting
The Group applies hedge accounting according to IAS 39 against translation of foreign operations. Currency swap agreements are used as a hedge
instrument against translation difference arising from foreign operations.

Exchange rates
The following exchange rates have been used by the Group in the preparation of these financial statements:

Closing Average Closing Average

31.12.2023 2023  31.12.2022 2022

BUR/ISK oottt ettt ettt es et s et besene st ne e s ssebesesan 150.5 149.2 151.5 140.9
USD/ISK ... 136.2 137.9 142.0 132.5
GBP/ISK 1ttt ettt etttk ettt s st nees 173.2 171.5 170.8 166.4
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58.

Currency risk (cont.)

Breakdown of financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies

31.12.2023
Financial assets Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK  currencies Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank 2,922,506 657,800 2,109,634 79,125 255,219 6,024,284
Fixed income securities 1,503,990 13,834,864 15,338,855
Shares and other variable income securities 88,400 242,497 1,539,466 12,880 1,883,243
Securities used for hedging 657,191 1,167,816 1,413 1,656,645 2,703 3,485,768
Loans to customers 2,280,065 478,715 28,876,368 47,414 31,682,562
Intangible assets 2,540,412 2,540,412
Other assets 849,032 1,236,043 718,974 163 2,804,212
Financial assets excluding derivatives 8,301,183 17,617,736 35,786,267 1,748,651 305,498 63,759,336
DEIIVALIVES ...t 11,811,725 1,328,055 4,467,242 15,253,051 10,870,463 43,730,536
Total 20,112,909 18,945,791 40,253,509 17,001,701 11,175,962 107,489,872
Financial liabilities Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK  currencies Total
Deposits ..... 2,286,689 7,057,779 756,682 28,189 281,357 10,410,697
Borrowings 122,840 830,698 14,816,743 15,770,282
Issued bonds .......ccceeenee 1,292,489 1,990,376 15,220,348 10,837,164 29,340,377
Insurance contract liabilities 0
Other liabilities ......cceeveeiriririrrereeree e 527,123 669,394 803,960 5 4,616 2,005,098
Financial liabilities excluding derivatives 4,229,142 8,557,872 18,367,762 15,248,542 11,123,136 57,526,454
DEIIVALIVES ...ttt 15,861,328 10,352,601 22,199,121 1,692,775 105,127 50,210,951
Total 20,090,469 18,910,472 40,566,883 16,941,318 11,228,263 107,737,405
Net currency position Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK  currencies Total
FINaNCial @SSets ......cocvviriririririreses e 20,112,909 18,945,791 40,253,509 17,001,701 11,175,962 107,489,872
Financial liabilities (20,090,469) (18,910,472) (40,566,883) (16,941,318) (11,228,263) (107,737,405)
Financial guarantee contracts 75,250 75,250
Total 97,689 35,319 (313,374) 60,384 (52,302) (172,283)
31.12.2022*
Financial assets Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK currencies Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank .........cccccceeeveneninenenne 374,239 2,088,077 2,898,400 65,546 427,832 5,854,094
Fixed income securities 0 3,080,348 3,080,348
Shares and other variable income securities 217 2,543,043 1,201,003 28,692 88,988 3,861,943
Securities used for hedging 290,170 195,634 887 16,111 78,795 581,598
Loans to customers 1,359,546 28,619,678 69,092 30,048,316
Intangible assets 2,611,243 2,611,243
Oher @SSETS ....eouiiuieiiriieiieieee ettt 690,326 774,579 794,141 30 12,036 2,271,112
Financial assets excluding derivatives 2,714,498 8,681,681 36,125,352 110,379 676,742 48,308,653
DEMIVALIVES ...ooveiieiieiieieeitrieee ettt 7,720,865 3,154,406 1,252 6,866,708 127,232 17,870,463
Total 10,435,363 11,836,088 36,126,604 6,977,087 803,974 66,179,115
Financial liabilities Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK currencies Total
Deposits .....ccceverereens 3,525,844 8,044,039 1,189,823 169,010 329,463 13,258,178
Borrowings .. 120,959 718,232 15,674,280 16,513,471
Issued bonds ..... 1,296,978 4,026,488 6,866,708 12,190,174
Insurance contract liabilities 68,475 119,567 1,258 3,945 83,301 276,547
Other liabilities ..... 234,879 1,030,777 1,182,692 28,925 82,961 2,560,234
Financial liabilities excluding derivatives 5,247,135 9,912,615 22,074,541 7,068,588 495,726 44,798,604
Derivatives 5,709,257 73,919 14,749,424 5,657 248,976 20,787,234
Total 10,956,393 9,986,534 36,823,965 7,074,245 744,701 65,585,838
Net currency position Other

EUR usbD GBP SEK currencies Total
Financial assets 10,435,363 11,836,088 36,126,604 6,977,087 803,974 66,179,115
Financial liabilities ... (10,956,393) (9,986,534) (36,823,965) (7,074,245) (744,701) (65,585,838)
Financial guarantee contracts ........ccceceveverenenenienenenennens 119,564 119,564
Total (401,465) 1,849,553 (697,361) (97,159) 59,273 712,841

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
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58. Currency risk (cont.)

f. Sensitivity to currency risk
Given the net currency position, a 10% change in the value of the ISK would, with other things constant, result in the following changes to the
Group's Consolidated Income Statement or equity.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies -10% +10% -10% +10%
9,769 (9,769) (40,147) 40,147

3,532 (3,532) 184,955 (184,955)

(31,337) 31,337 (69,736) 69,736

6,038 (6,038) (9,716) 9,716

. (5,230) 5,230 5,927 (5,927)

Total (17,228) 17,228 71,284 (71,284)

59. Equity risk

a. Definition
Equity risk is the risk that the fair value of equites decreases as the result of changes in the value of shares and other variable income securities in
the Group’s portfolio.

b. Sensitivity analysis of equity risk
The analysis below calculates the effect of possible movements in equity prices that affect the Consolidated Financial Statements. A negative
amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the Consolidated Income Statement or equity, while a positive amount reflects a
potential net increase. Investments in associates are excluded.

31.12.2023 31.12.2022
-10% +10% -10% +10%

(51,270) 51,270  (487,926) 487,926

(202,767) 202,767  (732,521) 732,521

(131,710) 131,710  (720,604) 720,604

Total (385,748) 385,748 (1,941,051) 1,941,051

60. Operational risk

a. Definition
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, from human error or external events
that affect the Group's reputation and operational earnings.

b. Management
The individual business units within the Group are primarily responsible for managing their respective operational risk. The risk management unit
is furthermore responsible for identifying, monitoring and reporting the Group's operational risk. Operational risk can be reduced through staff
training, process re-design and enhancement of the control environment. The risk management unit monitors operational risk by tracking loss
events, quality deficiencies, potential risk indicators and other early-warning signals. The unit takes an active role in internal control and quality
management.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities

61.

Accounting classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

The accounting classification of financial assets and financial liabilities is specified as follows:

Manda-
31.12.2023 Fair value torily at Total
Financial assets Amortised through fair value carrying
cost OCl through P/L amount
Cash and balances with Central Bank .... 23,681,453 23,681,453
Fixed income securities 61,293,556 3,683,849 64,977,406
Shares and other variable inCOMe SECUNItIES .......cccvieiuieiiciecieecece e 3,857,480 3,857,480
Securities used for hedging ... 16,852,313 16,852,313
Loans to customers 135,641,049 682,433 136,323,481
Derivatives 2,497,877 2,497,877
Other assets 10,401,128 10,401,128
Total 169,723,630 61,293,556 27,573,952 258,591,138
Manda-
Fair value torily at Total
Financial liabilities Amortised through fair value carrying
cost 0OCl through P/L amount
DEPOSIES .euvvireeviietieeteietesest ettt ettt e e st b et b et b et b bbbt st b ekttt ettt s et be s nene 133,772,941 133,772,941
Borrowings 23,817,062 23,817,062
Issued bonds ... 45,715,427 45,715,427
Subordinated liabilities 5,993,084 5,993,084
Short positions held for trading ... 131,745 131,745
Short positions used for hedging .... 4,230 4,230
Derivatives 2,044,723 2,044,723
Derivatives used for hedge accounting .... 152,182 152,182
Other IADIlIIES .....cveueeveieieeiei ettt 16,189,231 404,762 16,593,993
Total 225,487,745 152,182 2,585,460 228,225,386
Manda-
31.12.2022* Fair value torily at Total
Financial assets Amortised through fair value carrying
cost 0OCl through P/L amount
Cash and balances with Central Bank 36,670,586 36,670,586
Fixed income securities ................. 54,934,612 10,225,796 65,160,407
Shares and other variable income securities .. 19,410,508 19,410,508
Securities used for hedging ... 13,841,853 13,841,853
Loans to customers 105,928,837 1,210,390 107,139,227
Derivatives 4,940,738 4,940,738
Other assets 11,883,489 11,883,489
Total 154,482,912 54,934,612 49,629,285 259,046,809
Manda-
Fair value torily at Total
Financial liabilities Amortised through fair value carrying
cost 0OCl through P/L amount
DEPOSIES .euvivirriiieteieteseetesest ettt ettt s st b et b et b et b bbbt b ekttt st be e ae st e 112,245,198 112,245,198
Borrowings 28,120,009 28,120,009
Issued bonds ... 38,103,414 38,103,414
Subordinated liabilities 3,686,451 3,686,451
Short positions held for trading ... 1,486,107 1,486,107
Short positions used for hedging .... 1,343,186 1,343,186
Derivatives 1,609,537 1,609,537
Other liabilities 9,364,820 373,715 9,738,535
Total 191,519,893 0 4,812,545 196,332,437

* Comparative information has been restated, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
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62.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices. For other financial
instruments the Group determines fair value using various valuation techniques. IFRS 13 specifies a fair value hierarchy based on whether the
inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources
whereas unobservable inputs reflect the Group's market assumptions. These two types of inputs result in the following fair value hierarchy:

- Levell
Inputs are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

- Level 2
Inputs are not quoted market prices but are observable either directly, i.e. as prices, or indirectly, i.e. derived from prices. This category
includes financial instruments valued using quoted prices in active markets for similar instruments, quoted prices for similar or identical
instruments in markets that are considered less than active and other instruments which are valued using techniques which rely primarily
on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

- Level 3
Inputs are not observable or unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the valuation. This category includes instruments that are
valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments are required to reflect the differences
between the instruments.

Valuation process

The Bank's Credit committee is responsible for fair value measurements of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as level 2 or level 3
instruments. The valuation is carried out by personnel from respective departments under supervision from Risk. The valuations are revised at
least quarterly, or when there are indications of significant changes in the underlying inputs.

Valuation techniques
The Group uses widely recognised valuation techniques, including net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar
instruments for which market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes and other valuation models.

Valuation techniques include recent arm's length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, reference to the current fair
value of other instruments that are substantially the same, the discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. Valuation techniques
incorporate all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and are consistent with accepted methodologies for pricing
financial instruments. Periodically, the Group calibrates the valuation technique and tests it for validity using prices from any observable current
market transactions in the same instrument, without modification or repackaging, or based on any available observable market data.

For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary models, which usually are developed from recognised valuation models. Some or all
of the inputs into these models may not be market observable and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on
assumptions. When entering into a transaction, the financial instrument is recognised initially at the transaction price, which is the best indicator
of fair value, although the value obtained from the valuation model may differ from the transaction price. This initial difference, usually an
increase in fair value, indicated by valuation techniques is recognised in income depending upon the individual facts and circumstances of each
transaction and no later than when the market data becomes observable.

The value produced by a model or other valuation technique is adjusted to allow for a number of factors as appropriate, because valuation
techniques cannot appropriately reflect all factors market participants take into account when entering into a transaction. Valuation
adjustments are recorded to allow for model risks, bid-ask spreads, liquidity risks, as well as other factors. Management believes that these
valuation adjustments are necessary and appropriate to fairly state financial instruments carried at fair value in the statement of financial
position.
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62.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value (cont.)

Fair value hierarchy classification

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position is classified into the fair

value hierarchy as follows:

31.12.2023
Financial assets Carrying
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 amount
Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss
FiX@d INCOME SECUNTIES ...viivieiiieiecieeiece ettt ettt ettt ae e et sbe e beebeeabesanesaeenaeas 3,465,191 104,584 114,075 3,683,849
Shares and other variable income securities ... 1,237,775 102,362 2,517,343 3,857,480
Securities used for hedging 16,852,313 16,852,313
Loans to customers .... 682,433 682,433
Derivatives ......eeccveeeeveescieecsee e 2,497,877 2,497,877
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
FiX@d INCOME SECUNTIES ...viivieiiieiecteeteeeete ettt ettt et e et sbe e beebesabesanesanenaean 61,293,556 61,293,556
Total 82,848,836 2,704,822 3,313,851 88,867,508
Financial liabilities Carrying
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 amount
Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss
Short positions held for trading .... 131,745 131,745
Short positions used for hedging 4,230 4,230
Derivatives 1,185,091 859,631 2,044,723
Other liabilities .... 404,762 404,762
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
Derivatives used for hedge accounting 152,182 152,182
Total 135,975 1,337,273 1,264,394 2,737,641
31.12.2022
Financial assets Carrying
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 amount
Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss
Fixed income securities ........c.cocu..... 5,524,639 4,085,852 615,304 10,225,796
Shares and other variable income securities 8,723,913 3,249,312 7,437,283 19,410,508
Securities used for hedging .... 13,841,853 13,841,853
Loans to customers ... 1,210,390 1,210,390
Derivatives 4,940,738 4,940,738
Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
FiX@d INCOME SECUNTIES ...viivieiiieiecieeiece ettt ettt v et e e e et sbe e beebeeabesaeesaeenaaan 54,934,612 54,934,612
Total 83,025,017 12,275,902 9,262,978 104,563,897
Financial liabilities Carrying
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 amount
Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit and loss
Short positions held for trading 1,486,107 1,486,107
Short positions used for hedging .. 1,343,186 1,343,186
Derivatives 917,824 691,713 1,609,537
Other lIabilItIES .....oveuieieiiiieeieee ettt 373,715 373,715
Total 2,829,293 917,824 1,065,428 4,812,545

Shares and other variable income securities amounting to ISK 692 million were reclassified from Level 3 following the acquisition of a majority

shareholding in Ortus Secured Finance Itd. during the year 2022.
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62. Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value (cont.)

e. Reconciliation of changes in Level 3 fair value measurements
Shares and
Fixed othervar.
income income Loans to Other Other

31.12.2023 securities  securities customers assets  Derivatives liabilities Total
Balance as at 1 January 2023 615,304 7,437,283 1,210,390 0 (691,713) (373,715) 8,197,550
Total gains and losses in profit or loss .. 130,943 987,969 (21,186) (11,159) (31,048) 1,055,519
Additions ..... 380,542 1,085,457 40,000 (156,759) 1,349,240
Repayments .... e (162,024) 0 (578,130) (740,155)
DiSPOSAlS ... 0 (2,246,400) (2,246,400)
Reclassified as assets held for sale ............... (850,690) (4,746,966) (5,597,656)
Balance as at 31 December 2023 114,075 2,517,343 651,074 0 (859,631) (404,762) 2,018,098

Shares and

Fixed othervar.

income income Loans to Other Other
31.12.2022 securities  securities customers assets  Derivatives liabilities Total
Balance as at 1 January 2022 794,538 8,383,419 2,524,269 30,202 0 (483,486) 11,248,942
Total gains and losses in profit or loss (33,760) 1,979,597 208,872 1,939 (4,532) (17,646) 2,134,470
Additions 581,656 1,096,404 245,626 (687,181) 1,236,505
Repayments .... (1,768,377) (29,480) 127,417  (1,670,440)
Disposals (864,483) (3,193,004) (2,661) (4,060,148)
Reclassification 137,353 (137,353) 0
Transfers in (out) Level 3 0 (691,779) (691,779)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 615,304 7,437,283 1,210,390 0 (691,713) (373,715) 8,197,550
f. Fair value measurements for Level 3 financial assets

Level 3 assets consist primarily of unlisted bonds, shares and share certificates and loans measured at fair value. Each asset is evaluated
separately but assets within an asset group share a valuation method. The following valuation methods are in use:

Book value
Asset class Method Significant unobservable input Range  31.12.2023
Unlisted bonds Expected recovery Value of assets 0-95% 114,075
Unlisted variable income securities Market price Recent trades - 2,517,343
Loans to customers Expert model Value of assets and collateral - 651,074
Total 3,282,491

Book value
Asset class Method Significant unobservable input Range  31.12.2022
Unlisted bonds Expected recovery Value of assets 0-95% 615,304
Unlisted variable income securities Market price Recent trades - 7,437,283
Loan to customers Expert model Value of assets and collateral - 1,210,390
Total 9,262,978

Given the methods used, the possible range of the significant unobservable inputs is wide. When determining the values used the Group
considers the financial strength of the entity in question, recent trades if any and multipliers for comparable instruments.

g. The effect of unobservable inputs in Level 3 fair value measurements
The Group believes its estimates represent appropriate approximations of fair value and that the use of different valuation methodologies and
reasonable changes in assumptions or unobservable inputs would not significantly change the estimates.

A 10% change in the estimates would have the following effect on profit before taxes:

+10% -10%
Fixed income securities .........ccocu..... 11,407 (11,407)
Shares and other variable income securities 251,734 (251,734)
LOGNS 10 CUSTOMETS ....uviuiiiietiete e et e et e et e eteeteeteetaeeteeebe e teebeeabeeasesasesbeeabsesbeeabeeaseessassenssesseessaessanssen seseesssesseenbeeabaensanns 65,107 (65,107)
Total 328,249 (328,249)
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63. Financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value

The Group holds financial instruments which are not measured at fair value. Except for loans to customers, the Group believes that the best
estimate of the fair value of these financial instruments is equal to the carrying amount at the reporting date and does therefore not report a
fair value for these financial instruments. Loans to customers measured at amortised cost are classified as level 3, in the fair value hierarchy, and
have a book value of ISK 135,641 million at end of December 2023. The estimated fair value of loans to customers measured at amortised cost at
end of December 2023 is ISK 135,289 million.

Cash and balances with Central Bank includes several components as detailed in note 19. These assets are either balances available on-demand
or on very short notice, or other assets easily converted to cash. Other financial assets consist primarily of short-term receivables. The carrying
amount of these assets is therefore a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Deposits and other borrowings are typically either short-term or have variable interest rates. Other liabilities consist primarily of accounts
payables, withholding taxes and other short-term payables. The carrying amount of these liabilities is therefore considered a reasonable
approximation of their fair value.
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Other information

64.

65.

66.

Pledged assets

Settlement and Securities Asset backed
31.12.2023 committed facilities borrowing securities Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank ... 0 973,538 27,853 1,001,391

Fixed income securities .. 6,392,856 249,194 0 6,642,050
Loans to customers 21,340,531 0 1,118,990 22,459,521
OLNEI @SSELS 1.uviiuriiieiriiesiieiteeiteete st st et et et e st e s beesbe et e e beesbe st e saeesbe e beenbeenteensennsensnensesnnes 0 52,979 0 52,979
Total 27,733,387 1,275,711 1,146,843 30,155,941
Settlement and Securities Asset backed
31.12.2022 committed facilities borrowing securities Total
Cash and balances with Central Bank ... 144,695 1,041,158 0 1,185,853
Fixed income securities 4,215,900 469,862 0 4,685,761
LOANS £0 CUSTOMEIS ittt ettt ettt e e ettt e e e e st e e e e e s saeeeeeeesbbneaeeesanes 20,691,396 0 2,519,168 23,210,564
Other assets 0 0 0 0
Total 25,051,992 1,511,020 2,519,168 29,082,179

The Group has pledged assets, in the ordinary course of banking business, to the Central Bank of Iceland to secure general settlement in the
Icelandic clearing system. Cash pledged to secure the borrowing of securities from other counterparties than the Central Bank of Iceland is
classified as other assets. Furthermore, the Group has pledged loans to customers as collateral against asset backed bonds that it has issued.

Related parties

Definition of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with the board members of the Bank, the CEO of the Bank and key employees (together referred to as
management), associates as disclosed in note 26, shareholders with significant influence over the Bank, close family members of individuals
identified as related parties and entities under the control or joint control of related parties.

Arm's length
Transactions with related parties are carried out at arm's length and subject to an annual review by the Bank's internal auditor.

Balances with related parties

31.12.2023 Assets Liabilities
IVIAN@EEIMENT ..ttt h e bt bt et e ab e s h b s he e b e et e et e ea b e ea s e st e st e abeeab e e bt e ebe bt sheeeb e e be e b e et e eabenaeenbeenen 5,861 77,974
1T T =1 <3S SRR 0 28,639
Total 5,861 106,613
31.12.2022 Assets Liabilities
(LY TR T 1= 0= 0 41T o) SO P PSSP R OUP R PPROPRRION 0 44,424
ASSOCIATES ..vveeiiieiiiie ettt e sttt e ettt e st e e e e e st e e e sateesateeesabeeesbee e aseeaabee e saeeeabe e e aaeeaabe e e At ee e beeeeateeette haeeeaaeentaeeetaeeatbeeenbaeenbeeearaen 0 7,408
Total 0 51,832
Transactions with related parties

Interest Interest Other Other
2023 income expense income expense
Management 0 2,836 9,122 4,981
Associates 0 0 0 251,998
Total 0 2,836 9,122 256,979

Interest Interest Other Other
2022 income expense income expense
Management 0 1,857 2,285 447
Associates 0 0 0 90,896
Total 0 1,857 2,285 91,343

Further information about salaries and benefits paid to the Board of Directors, the CEO and Managing Directors is provided in note 12.
Remuneration policy

The Board of Directors has adopted a remuneration policy at the proposal of the Remuneration Committee. The Bank's Annual General Meeting
approved the Bank's current remuneration policy in March 2023. The Board of Directors will submit an updated remuneration policy for approval
at the Bank's Annual General Meeting in 2024.

The remuneration policy conforms to Articles 57 a and 57 b of Act No. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings, Act No. 2/1995 on Public Limited
Companies, the Icelandic FSA's rules No. 388/2016 on Incentive Schemes and Act No. 25/2003 on Sustainable Finance Disclosure. A more detailed
description of the policy can be found on the Bank's website, www.kvika.is.
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67.

68.

Incentive scheme

The Board of Directors has approved a performance based incentive scheme at the proposal of the Remuneration Committee. The scheme forms
a part of the remuneration policy adopted by the Bank.

Description

The incentive scheme is set forth in accordance with Article 57 b of Act No. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings and the Icelandic FSA's rules No.
388/2016 on Incentive Schemes. Performance based payments may consist, in part or in full, of shares or share-linked instruments, such as
warrants or stock options for shares in the Company. Payments according to the scheme are based on key performance indicators (KPIs) that
reflect the goals of the Bank, the division and the employee. The basis for performance based pay reflects sound risk management and does not
induce excessive risk taking. Performance based pay to individual employees shall not exceed 25% of their annual salary and 40% of the
performance based pay shall be deferred for three years. Performance based pay that does not exceed 10% of annual salary is not subject to
deferral. A more detailed description of the scheme can be found in the Bank's remuneration policy on it's website, www.kvika.is.

Performance based payments through profit and loss

2023 2022 *
Cash Cash
[N oY o [=] =T =Y RSP URRRRRRY 157,334 131,456
DEFEITEA ...ttt ettt et et et e e e e e te e e be e be e beeabeeabeeasesbs e be e beeabeeasaessesseaeeaaeetee e eabeeaaeeaeebeebeebeeabeeasennreaeennen 17,992 5,769
SAlArY FEIATEU EXPENSES ...eivvieieiiieriiesteestt ettt st e st e st e be et e et e s stesaeessee b eessesstesseeseessesssesbeesbeesbeesbeenbeenbessaessea senseensaensesnsesses 38,269 42,636
Total 213,595 179,861

On-balance sheet deferred performance based payments
31.12.2023 31.12.2022
Deferred Cash PAYMENTS .....co.iiiiieieee ettt b e bbb bbb e bt e st e b e b et et et et ent e st e st eneene e sbesbesbenbensenes 37,016 72,867

Total 37,016 72,867
Share-based payments

Description

The Bank has issued share options in accordance with authorisations of its annual general meeting, the Group's remuneration policy and
incentive scheme. At year end 2023, there were outstanding share options based on two separate share option plans, a general share option
plan, cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003, and a share option plan based on the Bank's incentive scheme.

General share option plan, cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003

On 21 April 2021 the Annual General Meeting of the Bank authorised the Board of Directors to approve a general share option plan in accordance
with Article 10 of the Income Tax Act No. 90/2003 for all employees of Kvika and its subsidiaries. On 10 November 2021 the Bank’s Board of
Directors approved a share option plan which was approved by Iceland Revenue and Customs on 9 December 2021.

The objective of the share-based payments is to integrate the interests of employees with the long-term goals of the Group. The calculation of
the purchase price was based on weighted average price in transactions with shares of the Bank for ten whole business days prior to each
contract date. The options do not allow for cash settlement. Furthermore, the options are conditional on the employee remaining employed by
the Bank, or its subsidiaries, and various other conditions.

The plan was implemented on 15 December 2021 and on that date each eligible employee was offered a share option for up to I1SK 1,500,000 per
year the following three years, in total for up to ISK 4,500,000. Employees hired in 2022 were on 15 December 2022 offered a share option for the
remaining two years according to the plan. Employees hired in 2023 were on 15 December 2023 offered a share option for the remaining last
year according to the plan.

The cost of the share option agreements was calculated using the Black-Scholes calculation model and amounted to ISK 175 million for those
issued in the year 2021, ISK 35 million for those issued in the year 2022 and ISK 12 million for those issued in 2023.

The stock option plan expires on 15 December 2024 and no further stock options will be entered into under the current plan. No decision has
been made whether or not another general stock option plan, cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003, will be implemented.

Other share options, cf. the Bank’s incentive scheme
In 2022, the Bank, on the basis of an authorisation by the Annual General Meeting of Kvika banki hf., held on 31 March 2022, granted share

options to certain employees of the Group on the basis of the Bank’s incentive scheme. The share options were granted in order to align the long:

term interests of the Group and said employees. The employees paid for the share options with a deferred part of performance based payments.
For the share options the employees paid a total of ISK 94.5 million by using deferred performance based payments. The cost of these share
option agreements is ISK 94.5 million based on the Black-Scholes calculation model but in return previously expensed performance based
payments were cancelled.
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68. Share-based payments (cont.)

The main terms of the share options are as follows:

The exercise price of the share options is ISK 22.495 per share, which is equivalent to the weighted average price in transactions with shares
of the company on Nasdag OMX Iceland for ten business days prior to the contract date, with 7.5% annual interest over the period, and the
exercise price shall be adjusted for dividends that may be decided until the exercise period begins.

The options do not allow for cash settlement.

The share options may be exercised in 2025, during an exercise period of three months where in that period the strike continues to accrue
with 7.5% annual interest until the option is exercised.

In general, share options shall lapse if the share option holder's employment relationship with the company is terminated until the beginning
of the exercise period.

The Bank's CEO, deputy CEO and the executive management of the group commit to retain, until the end of their employment, shares which
market value correspond to profit after taxes of utilised share options until the value of the shares owned by those individuals is equivalent to
12 months’ salary for Kvika’s CEO and deputy CEO and six months’ salary for other members of the executive management.

The value of the share options was determined by an independent specialist and the value is in line with the laws and rules applicable to
bonus payments of financial undertakings.

In certain instances, the Group is entitled to revoke the share options in part or in whole in line with FME rules.

In 2023, the Bank, on the basis of the same authorisation from the Annual General Meeting in 2022, granted share options to four employees of
the Group on the basis of the Bank’s incentive scheme. The share options were assigned as a a deferred part of recruitment bonuses that were
granted between December 2022 to April 2023. The stock options are granted in order to align the long-term interests of the company and said
employees. The cost of these share option agreements is ISK 14.7 million based on the Black-Scholes calculation model.

The main terms of the share options are as follows:

The exercise price of the share options is ISK 20.107 per share, which is equivalent to the weighted average price in transactions with shares
of the company on Nasdag OMX Iceland for ten business days prior to the contract date, with 7.5% annual interest over the period, and the
exercise price shall be adjusted for dividends that may be decided during the vesting period.

The options do not allow for cash settlement.

The vesting period of the share options is 36 months from grant date of the share options. Following that the share options may be exercised
for a period of three months where in that period the strike continues to accrue with 7.5% annual interest until the option is exercised.
However, in the event of a merger involving a dissolution of the company or if there is a change in the company's control, the share options
will become fully vested.

In general, share options shall lapse if the share option holder's employment relationship with the company is terminated before the end of
the vesting period.

Executive managers within the Group commit to retain, until the end of their employment, shares which market value correspond to profit
after taxes of utilised share options until the value of the shares owned by those individuals is equivalent to six months’ salary.

The value of the share options was determined by an independent specialist and the value is in line with the laws and rules applicable to
bonus payments of financial undertakings.

In certain instances, the Group is entitled to revoke the share options in part or in whole in line with FME rules.

b. The following share options are in existence at year end Number of Exercise
shares Exercise price
Share options (in ths.) year (I1SK)
Issued in 2021 (ISK 1,500,000) - General share option plan, cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003 .... 16,906 2024 26.44
Issued in 2022 (ISK 1,500,000) - General share option plan. cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003 . 5,515 2024 20.12
Issued in 2022 - Other share options, cf. the Bank’s incentive scheme 37,971 2025 21.69
Issued in 2023 (ISK 1,500,000) - General share option plan. cf. Art. 10 of Act No. 90/2003 .... 4,027 2024 15.27
Issued in 2023 - Other share options, cf. the Bank’s incentive scheme 5,059 2026 20.17

69,478

[ Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices

Average Share
exercise price options
per share (thousands)
At 1January 2022 .... 26.44 55,484

Granted in 2022.
Forfeited in 2022

21.98 51,110
26.44 (18,495)

AL 31 DECEMDET 2022 ...ttt ettt ett et eteeteeae et e eteeebe e beeabeeabesaeesbe e beeabeeabeesseeaseassebeeaseeabeeaaeaasebe seebeebeebeeareeanenann 23.85 88,099

Granted in 2023 18.00 9,086
Forfeited in 2023 .. 24.81 (27,707)
At 31 December 2023 22.24 69,478
Exercisable share options at 31 December 2023 0
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69.

70.

71.

Shareholders of the Bank

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

Shareholder Country % % Beneficial owners
Lifeyrissjédur verzlunarmanna ........cceevenee. Iceland 9.56% 9.13%
Lifeyrissjédur starfsmanna rikisins A-deild ....  Iceland 7.89% 7.64%
Stodir hf. .. Iceland 7.01% 6.59%
Birta lifeyrissjédur .... Iceland 6.00% 4.80%
Gildi - lifeyrissjédur Iceland 5.43% 4.66%
Stapi lifeyrissjodur Iceland 3.54% 3.07%
Lifsverk lifeyrissjodur Iceland 2.55% 2.43%
Frjalsi lifeyrissjodurinn ... Iceland 2.31% 1.58%
Almenni lifeyrissjédurinn .. Iceland 2.30% 2.23%
Arion banki hf. ..o Iceland 1.92% 3.41%
Landsbréf - Urvalsbréf hs. . Iceland 1.83% 1.48% Investment fund managed by Landsbréf hf.
Lifeyrissjédur starfsmanna rikis B-deild ........ Iceland 1.78% 1.78%
Stefnir - Innlend hlutabréf hs Iceland 1.60% 1.68% Investment fund managed by Stefnir hf.
Fossar fjarfestingarbanki hf. ....... Iceland 1.45% 0.01%
Sigla ehf. ...... Iceland 1.43% 1.32% Tomas Kristjansson (100%)
Attis ehf. .. Iceland 1.40% 1.35% Gudmundur Orn bérdarson (100%)
Landsbankinn hf. ..... Iceland 1.28% 1.49%
SNV Holding ehf. ...... Iceland 1.27% 1.29% Svanhildur Nanna Vigfusdéttir (100%)
Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock ... USA 1.25% 0.83% Investment fund managed by The Vanguard Group, Inc.
Vanguard Total International S USA 1.21% 0.78% Investment fund managed by The Vanguard Group, Inc.
Others, each less than 1% 35.75% 39.44% 2023: 2856, 2022: 2974
98.77% 97.00%
Treasury Shares ......ccoceeceecveneeneeneeseesiesnens 1.23% 3.00%
Total 100.00% 100.00%

Beneficial owners are defined as owners holding a share of 10% or greater, directly or indirectly. The information presented is, among other
things, based on publicly available information.

Other matters

On-site inspection by the Financial Supervisory Authority of the Central Bank

As a part of its supervisory role the FME regularly conducts on-site inspections on the Bank's operations, either theme based or circumstantial.
The FME conducted such an inspection of the Bank’s anti money laundering measures in the first quarter of 2023 and the Bank received a report
with draft findings towards the end of the third quarter of 2023. The draft findings indicate some deficiencies in the Bank's compliance with the
relevant legal framework. When the FME issues final reports on its inspections, the findings are usually made public by the FME and, depending
on the circumstances, the Bank. The Bank takes its legal obligations very seriously and has already started working on the detected findings in the
draft report.

Discontinuation of merger negotiations with islandsbanki hf.

In June 2023 the board of directors of Kvika announced that it had decided to discontinue the merger negotiations with islandsbanki hf. The
decision was taken in light of the events which followed the publication of a report from the FME on its inspection into the execution of the
offering by the Icelandic State of a 22.5% stake in the share capital of islandsbanki hf. and the fact that it was decided to call for a shareholder
meeting at islandsbanki hf., where an election for the board of directors would take place. However, it is the opinion of the board of directors of
Kvika that the benefits of a merger of the companies could be significant. Kvika's board will continue to keep an eye out for opportunities in the
financial market.

Tax treatment of warrants sold by the Bank

The Bank is aware of that the Iceland revenue and customs ("Skatturinn") is currently reviewing the tax treatment of warrants that the Bank sold
during the years 2017 to 2019. The Iceland revenue and customs is looking into whether the warrants should be taxed as perquisites instead of as
a financial instruments. Should that be the case, then the Bank would be required to pay the respective social security tax and tax on financial
activity. The Bank would however be able to deduct the amount of salary related expenses, as well as the amount of the perquisites, from its tax
base for the respective years in question, and thereby increase its deferred tax losses.

As the Iceland revenue and customs has not yet concluded its review, the Bank has not charged any amount to its income statement nor made
any changes to the tax returns for the respective years.

Events after the reporting date

There are no material events after the reporting date.
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Significant accounting policies

72.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements, and
have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses its relationship
with an entity when there is a change in one or more of the elements of control.

Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value, at
the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If
the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised immediately in the
income statement.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the
definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is account for within equity. Otherwise, other
contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognised in profit and loss.

Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest represent the portion of profit or loss and equity not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank. Non-controlling interest
is presented separately in the income statement and is included in equity in the statement of financial position, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Bank.

The Group chooses on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis whether to measure non-controlling interest in an acquiree at fair value or according
to the proportion of non-controlling interests in the acquiree's net assets. Changes in the Bank's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
the owners of the Bank.

Fiduciary services
The Group provides custody services, fund management and discretionary and advisory investment management services which require the
Group to make decisions on the handling, acquisition or disposal of financial instruments on behalf of its clients.

The financial statements of managed funds and investment portfolios managed by the Group on behalf of customers are not included in the
financial statements, as they do not constitute assets or liabilities of the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances, income and expenses, and unrealised gains and losses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the
extent of the Group's interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment. This also applies to subsidiaries classified as disposal groups held for sale.

Structured entities

Structured entities are entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who controls the
entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements.

The Group acts as investment manager or investment advisor, for example, to a number of investment funds operated by the fund management
company Kvika eignastyring hf. The purpose of such a fund management company is to generate fees from managing assets on behalf of
third-party investors by providing investment strategies. These investment funds are financed through the issue of units to investors. The Group
has no contractual obligation to provide financial support to these structured entities.

From time to time, the Group makes seed capital investments in certain fund products in order to establish track records for new products, to
test new investment strategies or to launch new products at a viable minimum size.

The Group has set up a formal procedure to assess whether or not to consolidate investment funds managed and administered by the Group on
behalf of its customers and other investors in the consolidated financial statements. As part of this assessment, the Group reviews all facts and
circumstances including the purpose and design of the investment fund, to determine whether the Group, as fund manager, is acting as agent or
principal. The Group is deemed to be a principal when the Group acts as fund manager and cannot be removed without cause, has variable
returns through significant holdings and is able to influence the returns of the funds by exercising its power.
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74.

75.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group's entity using the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency using the
exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences are posted as a separate line item under net financial income as disclosed in notes 8 and 76.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into the
functional currency at spot exchange rate current at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into the
functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Translation differences on foreign operations are presented as a separate category in the statement of changes in equity.

Interest income and expense

Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset or the amortised cost of the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using
estimated future cash flows including ECL.

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.

Presentation
Interest income and expense presented in the income statement includes interest on:
- financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
- financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
- derivatives

Fee and commission income and expense

The Group earns income from providing various services to its customers. This includes fees for managing assets on behalf of customers,
commissions received for equity and bond transactions and fees and commissions for various other financial services. Fee and commission
income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of the
effective interest rate.
Fee and commission income and expense are recognised in the income statement when an agreement with a customer meets all of the
following criteria:

- the parties to the contract have approved the contract and are committed to perform their respective obligations

- performance obligations have been established for services to be transferred

- the payment terms have been established for the services to be transferred

- the transaction price can be allocated to each individual service in the agreement

- itis probable that a consideration will be collected in exchange for the services that will be transferred to the customer

The following applies to recognition of income for various types of fees and charges:
- Fees that are earned gradually as the services are performed, such as management fees in asset management, are recognised as income at
the rate these services are delivered. In practice, these are on a straight line basis
- Fees attributable to a specific service or action are recognised as income when the service has been performed. Examples of such fees are
brokerage and payment commissions
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80.

Net financial income

Net financial income comprises the following:
- Realised and unrealised gains or losses from price changes of fixed income securities measured at fair value
- Realised and unrealised gains or losses from price changes of variable income securities
- Interest income from fixed income securities carried at fair value through profit or loss
- Dividends
- Fair value changes of loans to customers held at fair value
- Fair value changes in derivatives
- Unwinding, interest and exchange rate change of technical provision
- Foreign exchange difference

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity securities.
Dividends are presented as a component of net financial income.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses comprise expenses other than interest expenses, fee and commission expenses and expenses related to fair value
changes. A breakdown of administrative expenses is provided in note 10.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed in profit or loss as the related service is provided. The Group has no
further obligations once those contributions have been paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at grant date. The grant date fair
value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such
that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market
performance conditions at the vesting date.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case it is recognised there.

Current tax liabilities include the estimated tax payable next year on current year's profit according to the tax rates prevailing at reporting date,
in addition to corrections on tax from previous years.

The deferred income tax asset and/or liability has been calculated and recognised in the statement of financial position. The calculation is based
on the difference between assets and liabilities as presented in the tax return on the one hand, and in the consolidated financial statements on
the other, taking into consideration tax losses carried forward. This difference is due to the fact that the tax assessment is based on premises
that differ from those governing the financial statements, mostly due to temporary differences arising from the recognition of revenue and
expense in the tax returns and in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position when there is a legal right to settle on a net basis and they
are levied by the same taxing authority on the same entity or on different entities subject to joint taxation.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition

The Group initially recognises loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date on which they are
originated. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the date when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Classification
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of three measurement categories, i.e. i) at amortised cost, ii) at fair value through other
comprehensive income or iii) at fair value through profit or loss. The measurement basis of individual financial assets is determined based on an
assessment of the cash flow characteristics of the assets and the business models under which they are managed.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payment of
principal and interest and the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows, i.e. Held to collect. After
initial measurement, financial assets in this category are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortisation is
included in interest income in the Consolidated Income Statement. The majority of the Group's loans to customers are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans to customers is recognised as interest income.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost is calculated using the expected credit loss approach. Loans and debt securities
measured at amortised cost are presented net of allowance for credit losses in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Fixed income securities may be classified as financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") when
they meet the classification criteria. Interest income is calculated using the effective interest rate. Interest income and foreign exchange gains or
losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Fixed income securities classified as FVOCI are subject to
impairment measurement using the expected credit loss approach. Fair value measurements are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income
while on derecognition, cumulative gains (losses) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to the Consolidated Statement of
Income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are all other financial assets which are not classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income. This includes financial assets classified mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets
which are irrevocably designated by the Group at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss that would otherwise meet the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group may designate financial assets
as at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at fair value. Loans to
customers which are measured at fair value through profit or loss are assets whose cash flows do not represent payments that are solely
payments of principal and interest but are non-trading assets. Interest on loans to customers measured at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised as interest income. Changes in fair value, as well as any gains or losses realised on disposal, are recognised in the line item Net
financial income (expense) in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the
way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

- the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether management's
strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial
assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks are
managed;

- how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the
contractual cash flows collected; and

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity.
However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at fair value
through profit or loss because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held to both collect contractual cash flows and to sell
financial assets.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities (cont.)

Cash flow characteristics assessment

Financial assets held within the business models Held to collect and Held to collect and sell are assessed to evaluate if their contractual cash
flows are comprised of solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). SPPI payments are those which are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. Principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of the instruments, e.g. due to
repayments. Interest relates to basic lending returns, including compensation for the time value of money and credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding and for other basic lending risks (expected losses, liquidity risks and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to other risk or variability of cash flows that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement,
the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business model and if
the change is significant to the Group's operations.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are classified into one of two measurement categories, i.e. at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial liabilities held for trading are measured at fair value through profit or loss, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised
cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value, which is typically equal to cost, i.e. cash advanced less
any transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Accrued interest, in the case of
interest bearing liabilities is included in the carrying amount. Interest expense is recognised in net interest income.

Derecognition

Financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when the Group enters into a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred
financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial position, but retains either all or
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not
derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale and repurchase agreements.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation of the Group is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position, when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions, such as in the Group's trading
activity, or other circumstances permitted by International Financial Reporting Standards.

Determination of fair value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency
and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take
into account in pricing a transaction. For further information on valuation techniques, refer to notes 62 - 63.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price — i.e. the fair value of the
consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses
only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the
fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over
the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
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84. Impairment

Expected Credit Loss
The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
- debtinstruments measured at amortised cost;
- debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income;
- finance lease receivables measured at amortised cost;
- contract assets;
- loan commitments issued; and
- financial guarantee contracts issued.

The Group estimates an ECL for each of these types of assets or exposures. However, IFRS 9 specifies three different approaches depending on
the type of asset or exposure:

1. For trade receivables and contract assets without a significant financing component a simplified (lifetime expected loss) approach can be
applied.

2. For assets that are credit-impaired at purchase or origination lifetime expected loss approach shall be applied.

3. For other assets/exposures a general (or three-stage) approach shall be applied.

The general approach

The Group measures the ECL on each balance sheet date according to a three-stage expected credit loss impairment model.

Stage 1 covers financial assets that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or (where the optional low credit
risk simplification is applied) have low credit risk.

Stage 2 covers financial assets that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition (unless the low credit risk
simplification has been applied and is relevant) but that do not have objective evidence of a credit loss event.

Stage 3 covers financial assets that have objective evidence of a credit loss event at the reporting date.

12-month expected credit losses are recognised in stage 1, while lifetime expected credit losses are recognised in stages 2 and 3. IFRS 9 draws a
distinction between financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and those that have.
Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

An asset moves from 12-month expected credit losses to lifetime expected credit losses when there has been a significant deterioration in credit
quality since initial recognition. Hence the ‘boundary’ between 12-month and lifetime losses is based on the change in credit risk not the
absolute level of risk at the reporting date.

There is also an important operational simplification that permits companies to stay in ‘12-month expected credit losses’ if the absolute level of
credit risk is ‘low’. This applies even if the level of credit risk has increased significantly.

There is also a third stage. This applies to assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment. In Stage 3 the credit loss allowance is still
based on lifetime expected losses but the calculation of interest income is different.

In the periods subsequent to initial recognition, interest is calculated based on the amortised cost net of the loss provision, whereas the
calculation is based on the gross carrying value in Stages 1 and 2.

Finally, it is possible for an instrument for which lifetime expected credit losses have been recognised to revert to 12-month expected credit
losses should the credit risk of the instrument subsequently improve so that the requirement for recognising lifetime expected credit losses is no
longer met.

Expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are defined as the difference between all the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity and the cash flows that it
actually expects to receive (‘cash shortfalls’). This difference is discounted at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective
interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets).

12 month expected credit losses

12-month expected credit losses are a portion of the lifetime expected credit losses. They are calculated by multiplying the probability of a
default occurring on the instrument in the next 12 months by the total (lifetime) expected credit losses that would result from that default. They
are not the expected cash shortfalls over the next 12 months. They are also not the credit losses on financial instruments that are forecast to
actually default in the next 12 months.

Lifetime expected credit losses
Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, taking into account the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial instrument.
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Impairment (cont.)

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default if one of the following applies:
- the borrower is 90 days past due of one of his exposures with the Bank;
- the borrower is registered as in delinquency by Creditinfo (Icelandic: vanskilaskrd) and has payment in 30 days or longer delinquency with the
Group;
the borrower is registered in public records as filed for bankruptcy, has terminated his business or is no longer a going concern;
- the borrower is considered to be unlikely to pay as determined by the Bank's Risk Management department. Events that are likely to lead to
default as determined by the Risk Management department include the following:
- breach of covenants of loan commitments;
- loan concessions or stressed restructuring; or
- High risk classification based on Risk Management's internal risk assessment.
- the borrower has been in default in accordance with above at any point for the previous three months.

The Risk Management department can manually override automatic default triggers if the following applies:
- the reason for reported default triggers is known to the Bank and not considered to be lack of willingness or ability to pay.
- re-financing of borrower’s exposures is expected and has been confirmed.

Probability of default and credit risk rating

The Group utilises an external Probability of Default model (PD model) developed and maintained by Creditinfo Iceland, an Icelandic credit
bureau, for the domestic portfolios. The PD model is based on information compiled by Creditinfo on the creditworthiness of corporates and
individuals in Iceland based both on personal and demographic factors. It predicts the probability of default in the next 12 months. The model
has been calibrated to using historical default rate information representative of the Group's domestic portfolio. The model is designed as a
point in time model and correlation between forecasted and actual default rates and macroeconomic forecasts has been identified. This enables
the Group to calculate different forward looking probabilities of default given different forecasts for changes in inflation rate and
unemployment rate. Lifetime PD for loans in stage 3 is 100% as by definition they are already in default.

The Group utilises an economic forecast and the current 12 month PD for the purpose of estimating lifetime PD for loans in stage 2. The 12
month PD is adjusted with a survival rate for each year until maturity with the following formula: PD, = PD;, * SR, where PD;, is the 12 month PD
from the credit rating model and SR, is the survival rate at time t, which is calculated recursively as SR, = SR.; * (1-PD,). The Group monitors the
appropriateness of the assumption as a part of it’s yearly validation and monitoring process. The PD assessment for portfolios in the UK is
primarily individually assessment done by credit specialists based on payment history and general creditworthiness where performing
customers are ranked in three different risk classes.

Significant increase in credit risk

When considering whether a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) has occurred the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative factors.
In general the Group will rely on a quantitative analysis based on the PD model but will additionally consider qualitative factors based on the
information available to the Group.

Quantitative SICR assessment
The Group has defined the following criteria’s for SICR:
1. 30 days past due of any of the client's exposures

2. Grading migrations — SICR has occurred if the current grade has increased compared to the origination grade. For the domestic portfolio,
more or equal to the following thresholds are considered to be significant increase in credit risk:

Origination grade Threshold grade
7

OCOONOOUA WNRE
O 00 00NN

10

Migration of corporations by one or two risk grades in the PD model is considered to be a significant increase in risk and therefore warrant a
transfer to stage 2, depending on the origination grade. However, the Group considers risk grades less than 5 for corporations to be low risk and
therefore excludes any movement between categories that does not result in a rating above that level. Ratings above 10 are considered to
indicative of default and therefore warrant elevation to stage 3 unless overridden based on other available information or expert judgement.
The Group doesn’t consider grading migrations for individuals but considers risk grades below certain thresholds, regardless of original score, as
significant increased risk. Migration of one risk class in the UK portfolio is indication of significant increase in credit risk.

Qualitative SICR assessment

Risk Management is responsible for managing the credit risk of the Group which includes a qualitative SICR assessment. Risk Management
reviews on a monthly basis large exposures, unsecured loans and loans that are past due on a loan by loan basis.
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Impairment (cont.)

Exposure at default

Lifetime definition

The Group considers the lifetime of each exposure to be the contractual maturity of each loan. The Group considers this to be the case as any
lending subsequent to that period would be based on an independent lending decision at that time based on the prevailing market terms. The
Group only considers contractual cash flows when estimating exposure at default. The average lifetime of the Group's exposures is relatively
short and it does therefore not consider the likelihood of prepayment when concluding on the lifetime of the assets.

Committed facilities

The Group considers the off-balance portion of exposure at default to be 50% (credit conversion factor) of any facilities not drawn upon that are
considered committed. Such facilities include overdrafts, credit cards and guarantees. The credit conversion factor is subject to expert review on
a case by case basis. The Bank does not consider credit line facilities to be committed facilities as disbursements are subject to predetermined
conditions and constitute a separate credit review. These predetermined conditions will in most cases lead directly to an increase in posted
collateral and disbursements therefore stay within acceptable collateral coverage.

Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 requires the Group to determine an expected credit loss (ECL) amount on a probability-weighted basis as the difference between the cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contractual terms of a financial instrument and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The Group has implemented an ECL model which is consistent with regulatory and best practices. The model is based on four
components.

Probability of Default (PD). This is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. The Bank uses an external PD model
developed by CreditInfo for the domestic portfolio and individual assessment done by credit specialists in special cases and for the UK portfolio.

Exposure at Default (EAD). This is an estimate of the exposure at a future date, taking into account expected changes in the exposure after the
reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

Loss Given Default (LGD). This is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from any collateral. It is expressed as a percentage of EAD and derived from value
of underlying collaterals.

Discount rate. This is used to discount an expected loss to present value at the reporting date using the effective interest rate (EIR) at initial
recognition.

Forward looking probability weighted scenarios

The Group's management has identified and probability weighted three macro-economic scenarios for the purpose of calculating expected
credit loss. The medium term domestic forecasts of macro-economic variables and scenario weights are based on the Group‘s management
judgement and are applied for the loan portfolios that are affected by the macro-economic variables. The Group incorporates the following
forward-looking macro- economic variables into its probability weighted expected credit loss calculations: (i) unemployment rate and (ii)
inflation rate. The Group has not developed macro-economic forecasts for the UK portfolio, but macro-economic forecasts effect the LGD
assessment.

Cash and balances with Central Bank

Cash and balances with Central Bank include notes and coins on hand, balances held with the Central Bank and other financial institutions, and
highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and balances with Central Bank are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

Fixed income securities

Fixed income securities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as discussed in note
81.

Shares and other variable income securities

Shares and other variable income securities consist of equity investments and unit shares in mutual funds. Shares and other variable income
securities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as discussed in note 81.

Securities used for hedging

Securities used for hedging consist of non-derivative financial assets that are used to hedge the Group's exposure arising from derivative
contracts with customers. Securities used for hedging are measured at fair value as discussed in note 81.
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Loans to customers

Loans are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and include loans
provided by the Group to its customers, participation in loans from other lenders and purchased loans that are not quoted in an active market
and which the Group has no intention of selling immediately or in the near future. Finance lease receivables are a part of the line item Loans to
Customers.

Loans are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash advanced, plus any transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Accrued interest is included in the carrying amount of the loans and advances. The carrying amount of
impaired loans is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

When the Group purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset, or a substantially similar asset, at a
fixed price at a future date ("reverse repo" or "stock borrowing"), the arrangement is accounted for as a loan and the underlying asset is not
recognised in the Group's statement of financial position.

Derivatives

A derivative is a financial instrument or another contract that falls under the scope of IFRS 9 and generally has the following three
characteristics:
- Its value changes due to changes in an underlying variable, such as bond price, share price, security or price index (including CPI), foreign
currency exchange rate or interest rate
- The contract requires no initial investment or an initial investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts that
would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors
- Settlement takes place at a future date
The Group uses derivatives for trading purposes and to hedge its exposure to market price risk, foreign exchange risk and inflation and interest
risk arising from operating, financing and investing activities.

Derivative assets and liabilities are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of financial position.
Derivatives with positive fair values are classified as financial assets and derivatives with negative fair values as financial liabilities. Revenue
from derivatives is split into interest income and net income from financial instruments at fair value and presented in the corresponding line
items in the income statement.

Investments in associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant
influence generally exists when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power, including potential voting rights, if any. Investments
in associates are initially recognised at cost.

The Group's share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates is included in the financial statements of the Group on an equity
accounted basis, from the date the significant influence commences until the date it ceases.

If the Group's share of loss exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group's carrying amount is reduced to zero and recognition of further losses
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

Investment properties

An investment property is an asset which is specified for leasing to third parties, for returns or for both purposes. Investment properties are
initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised as gains or loss in the income
statement.
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Intangible assets

Asset categories
The Group groups intangible assets into four categories:

- Goodwill
Goodwill arises in business combinations. It is recognised as of the acquisition date and measured as the aggregate of (a) the fair value of the
consideration transferred, (b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and (c) the fair value of any previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, all measured as at the acquisition date. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group. In addition, consideration transferred includes the fair value of any contingent

- Customer relationships
Customer relationships have been acquired as part of recent acquisitions and are capitalised and amortised using the straight line method
over their useful life of maximum 16 years.

- Brands
Brands have been acquired as part of recent acquisitions and are capitalised and amortised using the straight line method over their useful
life, but not exceeding 20 years.

- Software and other
Software comprise acquired software licences and external costs associated with the development of bespoke applications.

- Development cost that has been capitalised is amortized on the day that the product is launched using the straight line method over their
useful life, but not exceeding 10 years.

Initial recognition
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Subsequent measurement

The Group uses the cost model for measurement after recognition and intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in estimated future economic
benefits at each reporting date. If such indications exist, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that is
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units (CGUs). Goodwill arising from a business combination is
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU,
and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Amortisation
Intangible assets with finite useful life are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful economic life, with the
amortisation recognised in the income statement. The estimated useful life of intangible assets is as follows:

Customer relationships . 7-16 years
Brands .. 4-20vyears
el 1AV LY T Lo [ o] 4 =T OO OO PR PR PRUSTRUSRRURRRURPRIY 3-10 years

Depreciation of property and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets are presented together as a separate line item in administrative
expenses as disclosed in note 10. Further breakdown on depreciation of intangible assets is provided in note 28.
Operating lease assets

Operating lease assets are recognised at cost less depreciation and impairment. Depreciation is calculated and recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis based on estimated useful life, taking into account the residual value.
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Property and equipment

Asset categories
The Group groups tangible assets into two categories:

- Real estate, which includes office and residential buildings, land and building rights
- Other property and equipment, which includes automobiles for own use, furniture and fixtures, computers and other office equipment

Initial recognition
Property and equipment is initially recognised at cost, which includes direct expenses related to the purchase.

Subsequent measurement

The Group uses the cost model for the measurement after recognition and property and equipment is carried at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Property and equipment is reviewed for indications of impairment or changes in
estimated future economic benefits at each reporting date. If such indications exist, the assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying
amount is fully recoverable.

Subsequent cost

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The decision, if subsequent costs are added to the acquisition cost of property and equipment, is based on whether an
identified component, or part of such component, has been replaced or not, or if the nature of the subsequent cost means a contribution of a
new component. All other costs are expensed in the income statement when incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of
property and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Real estate
Other property and equipment ...

15-50 years
3-5years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, those components are accounted for separately.

Other assets

Other assets are measured at amortised cost.

Deposits

Deposits consist of time deposits and demand deposits. Money market deposits are included in borrowings. Deposits are recognised at
amortised cost, including accrued interest.

Borrowings

Borrowings are mostly comprised of money market deposits. They are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Accrued interest is included in their carrying amount.

When the Group sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase the asset, or a substantially similar asset, at a
fixed price at a future date ("repo" or "stock lending"), the arrangement is accounted for as a borrowing and the underlying asset continues to
be recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.

Issued bills

Issued bills are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Accrued interest is included in their carrying amount.

Issued bonds
Issued bonds are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Accrued interest is included in their carrying amount.

Subordinated liabilities

Subordinated liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Accrued interest is included in their carrying amount.

Short positions held for trading

Short positions are obligations of the Group to deliver financial assets borrowed by the Group and sold to third parties. Short positions are
carried at fair value through profit or loss with all fair value changes recognised in the income statement under net financial income.
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Short positions used for hedging

Short positions used for hedging are obligations of the Group to deliver financial assets borrowed by the Group and sold to third parties. Short
positions used for hedging consist of non-derivative financial liabilities that are used to hedge the Group's risk exposure arising from derivative
contracts with customers. Short positions used for hedging are carried at fair value through profit or loss with all fair value changes recognised in
the income statement under net financial income.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for the contingent consideration which is measured at fair value.

Assets and disposal groups held for sale

The Group classifies an asset or disposal group as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such asset or disposal group and the sale must be highly probable.
Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the qualifying assets and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group is
brought up-to-date in accordance with applicable IFRS. Then, on initial classification as held for sale, assets and disposal groups are recognized
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the
Income Statement, even when there is a revaluation. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent remeasurement. Revaluation through
the reversal of impairment in subsequent periods is limited so that the carrying amount of the held for sale, assets or disposal groups does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.

Right of use asset and lease liability

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by
using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability.
They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value. The guarantee liability is subsequently measured at the higher of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15. Liabilities arising from financial guarantees are included with provisions.

Share capital

Treasury shares

Acquired own shares and other equity instruments (treasury shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in income
statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of treasury shares. Consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity.
Incremental transaction costs of treasury share transactions are accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

Share premium
Share premium represents excess of payment above nominal value (ISK 1 per share) that shareholders have paid for shares sold by the Group.

Dividends on share capital
Dividends on share capital are deducted from equity in the period in which they are approved by the Group's shareholders meetings.
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109.

110.

111.

Nature and purpose of equity reserves

Option reserve
The option reserve represents the cumulative charge to the income statement for options to purchase shares in the Bank granted under the
Bank's Remuneration policy, which is discussed in notes 66-68.

Deficit reduction reserve
The deficit reduction reserve was created as a part of a share capital reduction approved by the Bank's Annual General Meeting in April 2014.
The reserve has no specified purpose and can only be used with the approval of a shareholders' meeting.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve represents fair value changes, net of tax, for assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income. The reserve is
released in correlation with realization of gains or losses of financial assets upon sale or derecognition.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations,
until the operations are sold, dissolved or abandoned.

Restricted retained earnings

According to the Financial Statements Act No. 3/2006 the difference between share of profit of subsidiary or associate in excess of dividend
payment or dividend payment pending, shall be transferred to a restricted retained earnings reserve, net of tax, which is not subject to dividend
payments. When shareholding in subsidiary or associate is sold or written off the restricted retained earnings reserve shall be released and the
amount transferred to retained earnings.

When development cost is capitalized a corresponding amount is transferred from retained earnings to restricted retained earnings according to
the Financial Statements Act No. 3/2006. The reserve is then transferred back to retained earnings in line with amortization of the asset through
income statement.

Retained earnings - accumulated deficit
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit if negative) consists of undistributed profits and losses accumulated, less transfers to other reserves.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss
that is attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees and issued warrants.

New standards and interpretations

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations were not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
have not been applied in the preparation of these financial statements. Early adoption of new standards and amendments is not planned.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

In May 2017 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) published IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts which includes a complete review of the
requirements for accounting for companies which issue insurance contracts. The standard became effective on 1 January 2023 and replaces IFRS
4 Insurance Contracts, reference is made to note 3 for further information.
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112.

Use of estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management makes use of judgements and estimates which are based on various
assumptions. These judgements and estimates can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense.

Assumptions and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, and are reviewed on an on-going basis. The estimates form the basis for judgements about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources and actual results may differ. Judgement may also be required in
circumstances not involving estimates, e.g. when determining the substance of a particular transaction, contract or relationship.

The areas where the use of judgements and estimates has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the statement of financial
position or the income statement are disclosed in this note.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined using valuation techniques which are reviewed
regularly as discussed in note 62.

Impairment of financial assets

As outlined in note 84, the use of estimates and judgement is an important component of the calculation of impairment losses. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. Unforeseen events could, however, result in further impairment losses which
would have a material effect on the income statement and statement of financial position.

Impairment of intangible assets
The carrying amount of intangible assets are reviewed annually to determine whether there is indication of impairment as disclosed in note 93.
If any such indication exists the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Assets and disposal groups held for sale

Assets and discontinued operations held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less cost to sell. As outlined in
note 4, this applies to a subsidiary of the Group. The fair value at the date of classification of the subsidiary was calculated using valuation
models based on discounted future cash flows that incorporated significant non-market observable inputs and assumptions. The use of
reasonably possible alternative inputs and assumptions to these models, in particular changes to the discount rate employed (representing the
required rate of return on equity), could have an impact on the value of these disposal groups.

Deferred tax assets
Judgement is required to determine the extent to which deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement of financial position, based on the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits.
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Statement on the Corporate Governance of Kvika banki hf. 2023

Business strategy and values

Kvika banki hf. (hereinafter referred to as “Kvika” or the “Bank”) is categorized as a financial conglomerate by the Financial Supervision of the Central
Bank of Iceland (hereinafter referred to as “FME”). Kvika’s purpose is to increase competition and simplify customers’ finances by utilizing
infrastructure and financial strength. Kvika’s vision is to transform financial services in Iceland with mutual benefits in mind. On that journey, Kvika is
guided by three values that contribute to the development of robust business relationships, long-term results, and active innovation. Kvika’s values are
long-term thinking, simplicity, and courage. In accordance with those values the Bank places emphasis on thinking of the future and contributing to a
sustainable community through active participation. Emphasis is placed on putting ourselves in the customer’s shoes, rethinking things and selecting
projects that provide the most long-term value for customers and the Bank.

Kvika offers its customers diversified financial and insurance services through five business segments: Commercial Banking, Corporate Banking &
Capital Markets, Insurance, Asset Management and UK operations. The business segments Insurance, Asset Management and the UK operations are
operated in the subsidiaries TM tryggingar hf., Kvika eignastyring hf. and Kvika Securities Ltd.

Commercial Banking provides businesses, institutions, and investors with general banking services. Customer’s daily banking transactions are handled
mostly via Kvika’s online banking system. Kvika’s specialized brands provide diverse financial services to customers. Aur provides individuals with
access to a variety of banking services and Audur offers the same group with a selection of savings accounts. Lykill makes financing in the form of loan
and lease agreements for cars, machinery, and equipment available for individuals and companies. Kvika also operates the brand Framtidin exclusively
online and provides mortgages to individuals in the form of secondary mortgages. Lastly, Kvika provides payment services to customers through its
brands Netgiré and Straumur.

Corporate Banking & Capital Markets provide a range of professional services in the fields of specialised financing, securities and foreign exchange
transactions and corporate finance services. Capital Markets provide customers with comprehensive services in securities and foreign exchange
brokerage. The Corporate Finance segment provides advice on the acquisition, sale and merger of companies and business entities, financing
businesses via stock or bond auctions, listing and delisting stocks and bonds. The Corporate Banking segment provides businesses, institutions, and
investors with specialised lending to finance such things as real estate, real estate development, securities transactions and other investments. The
division also uses the Bank’s infrastructure to distribute loans to other institutional investors.

Asset Management emphasises on offering clients a broad range of services for investing in Iceland as well as in foreign markets. Its aim is to provide
the best asset and fund management services, guided by clients’ long-term interests. Asset and fund management operations are mostly handled by
Kvika’s subsidiary, Kvika eignastyring hf.

Insurance operations of Kvika are operated through its subsidiary, TM Insurance, which has a rich history and over 60 years of experience. TM
Insurance offers a universal and highly diversified product offering to commercial and private customers and its main insurance categories include
Motor, Property, Marine, Liability, Accident and Life insurance. TM Insurance operates in accordance with Act no. 100/2016 on insurance activities and
is licensed in the European Economic Area and in the Faroe Islands.

Kvika’s UK operations are operated through the subsidiary Kvika Securities Itd. (hereinafter referred to as “KSL”). KSL, established in 2017, is a
subsidiary regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Supervisory Authority. KSL’s focus is on corporate finance, as well as fund and asset
management services. Further, the property lender Ortus Secured Finance, is a subsidiary of KSL and specializes in property backed lending in the UK.
Kvika takes the independence of its licenced subsidiaries, both with regards to management and day-to-day operations, seriously. However, Kvika, as a
parent company, is responsible for internal governance on a consolidated basis. In that context Kvika has laid down ground rules for its subsidiaries,
both in terms of administrative structure and internal governance, through ownership policies for its significant subsidiaries and requires regular and
ad hoc information from the subsidiaries to the parent company. Kvika requires harmonized and professional work ethics within the group,
harmonized corporate culture, coordinated human resources working under the same conditions and that Kvika’s values are maintained within the
group to the extent allowed by law. Further reference is made to annual reports of the Bank’s subsidiaries, available at www.rsk.is.

Return on equity is determined by decisions made in accordance with the Bank’s risk appetite, which reflects its profitability targets. Consequently,
decisions regarding the optimal composition of the balance sheet to generate income are restricted by risk appetite and funding at any given time.
Kvika’s target is a return on tangible equity of at least 20% and keeping the capital adequacy ratio (CAR) 2-4% above legal and regulatory requirements
set by FME.

Kvika’s objective is to deliver to shareholders an annual compensation equivalent to a minimum of 25% of profit, whether in the form of dividend
payments or share repurchases, under a formal buy-back programme, as authorised by applicable laws and decisions made at shareholders’ meetings.
When deciding on the amount of dividends or, as the case may be, the funds allocated for share buy-backs, care is taken to maintain Kvika’s strong
financial position, bearing in mind risks in the internal and external environment and growth prospects, to ensure that the Bank maintains a solid
capital ratio and liquidity for the future. Dividend payments are always subject to assessments of the opportunities offered by reinvesting profits in
Kvika’s operations and growth.

Sustainability and social responsibility

Kvika’'s purpose, as previously stated, is to foster competition in financial services and simplify customers’ finances. The Bank emphasizes long-term
thinking and promoting a sustainable society through active participation. In 2022, a specific sustainability policy was established, and relevant
supporting policies formulated or updated, such as education and professional development policy, gender equality, health, and human resources
policy.

The Sustainability Strategy adopts six of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to focus on in Kvika’s operations: SDG 3 on good
health and safety; SDG 4 on quality education; SDG 5 on gender equality; SDG 9 on industry, innovations, and infrastructure; SDG 13 on climate action
and SDG 17 on partnership for the goals.

In 2023, changes were made to the organisational structure of sustainability matters in Kvika’s operations. A special sustainability committee is in place
and is now composed of the CEO, CFO and managing directors of subsidiaries and divisions as well as the Director of Sustainability. The sustainability
department moved from the CEQ’s office into the Operations and Development division.

A new sustainability risk framework for the Kvika group was defined in 2023 and approved by the BOD. Kvika Asset Management and TM have now
established sustainability risk strategies in line with the framework that will be reflected when integrating sustainability risk factors into processes.
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Kvika is a member of the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (UN PRI) and submitted its first mandatory report on its responsible
investments to the organisation in 2023. Kvika is one of the founding members of IcelandSIF, an organisation for responsible investments, is a member
of Festa Centre for Sustainability and supports Graenvangur, which is a co-operation forum between industry and government on climate issues and
green solutions. Kvika is a member of the Partnership for Carbon Accounting Financials (PCAF), an industry-led initiative to enable financial institutions
to consistently measure and disclose GHG emissions financed by their loans and investments.

Kvika awards a variety of grants that have a positive social impact, and the selection of projects reflects the six UN SDGs that have been adopted. In
recent years, support has been provided to UNICEF in Iceland; women and innovation with FrumkvédlaAudur, and industrial studies and teacher
training with allocations from Kvika’s Incentive Fund. Educational support is considered to be one of the best long-term investments for both societies
and individuals.

A more detailed discussion of the scope, position, and impact of the group regarding environmental, social and governance matters (also known as
“ESG factors”) can be found in Kvika’s sustainability report, which is published together with Kvika's annual financial statement. The report is based on
ESG indicators according to Nasdaq Nordic ESG Guidelines (ESG Reporting Guide 2.0), and to a limited extent on GRI indicators according to Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) standards.

Compliance with corporate governance guidelines

Kvika is obliged to observe recognised corporate governance guidelines, pursuant to Par. 7 of Article 54 of Act No. 161/2002, on Financial Undertakings.
The Bank complies with chapter VIl of Act No. 161/2002, on Financial Undertakings, and in most respects with the Guidelines on Corporate Governance
issued jointly in February 2021 by the Chamber of Commerce, NASDAQ Iceland, and SA — Business Iceland. The Guidelines are available on the website
of the Chamber of Commerce www.vi.is.

Kvika’s only deviation from the guidelines has been that it has not appointed a nomination committee nor decided how one should be appointed.
There is currently no specific nomination procedure in place for board members. Shareholders elect board members from those candidates which have
announced their candidacy in accordance with Act No. 2/ on Limited Liability Companies. If the number of candidates does not outnumber the number
of seats on the BOD, the candidates are automatically elected to the BOD. This arrangement was in accordance with the outcome of the Bank’s annual
general meeting in 2019 where the shareholders agreed to entrust the BOD at the time with analysing the advantages and disadvantages of appointing
a nomination committee for the Bank and, as the case might be, submit proposals thereto. Following the analysis, the conclusion at the time was to
not propose to shareholders to appoint a nomination committee. Since then, a few conversations on the matter have taken place with individual
shareholders, and at the scheduled annual general meeting on 21 March 2024 the BOD intends to propose to the shareholders the appointment and
role of a nomination committee and that Kvika’s articles of association will be updated accordingly.

In this context, it should be noted however that special rules apply to financial undertakings regarding assessment of the composition of their boards.
Each year, the BOD carries out a self-assessment with regard to its composition, assisted by external consultants.

Furthermore, Kvika’s activities comply with the recognised standards and rules of the European Banking Authority (EBA), including guidelines on
internal governance (EBA/GL/2021/05), cf. Article 15 of regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council No. 1093/2010, which was
incorporated into Icelandic law with act no. 24/2017 a European Financial Supervisory System (hereinafter “EBA Guidelines”). The EBA Guidelines can
be found on FME’s website www.fme.is and on EBA’s website https://www.eba.europa.eu/homepage.

Regulatory framework

Kvika is a financial undertaking subject to provisions of Act No. 161/2002, on Financial Undertakings, Act No 61/2017, on Additional Supervision of
Financial Conglomerates, Act No. 115/2021, on The Market for Financial Instruments, Act No. 60/2021, on Measures against Market Abuse, Act No.
108/2007, on takeovers, Act No. 45/2020, on Alternative Investment Funds, Act No. 116/2021 on undertakings for collective investment in transferable
securities, Act No. 14/2020, on Prospectus for Public Offering or Admission to Trading on a Regulated Market, Act No. 33/2013, on Consumer Lending,
Act No. 118/2016, on mortgage lending to consumers, Act No. 100/2016 on Insurance Activity, Act No. 2/1995 on Limited Liability Companies, the
Competition Act, No. 44/2005, Act No. 114/2021, on Payment Services, Act No. 3/2006, on Annual Financial Statements, Act No. 140/2018, on
Measures against Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing and others. Moreover, Kvika is obliged to guarantee the safety of the personal data it
processes in its activities, in accordance with Act No. 90/2018, on the Protection of Privacy as regards the Processing of Personal Data. Kvika has an
operating licence from FME, which supervises the activities of the Bank. Kvika’s activities are therefore governed by the rules and instructions of the
FME and Central Bank of Iceland. Kvika is also subjective to further extensive legislation and secondary acts that apply to the financial market, mostly
originated from Europe, and incorporated in Icelandic law through various means. More details about FME and an overview of the principal legislation
and rules that apply to the Bank at any given time can be found on the website of FME www.fme.is.

The main elements of internal control, risk management and accounting

The BOD is responsible for ensuring that an active system of internal control is in place within the Bank, which is based on three lines of defence. The
first line of defence consists of the management and the employees of business and supporting units in charge of the Bank’s daily management and
organization. The main responsibility of the first line of defence is to ensure the functionality and implementation of internal control measures in daily
operations. The second line of defence is comprised of the internal control units of the Bank, principally the Compliance Officer and Risk Management.
The Compliance Officer is responsible for the training of employees and the BOD, monitors and regularly assesses compliance with relevant legislation,
monitors compliance risk, as well as consulting on implementation of laws and regulations in Kvika’s operations. Risk Management, among other
things, measures and assesses risk according to the Bank’s criteria and carries out regular reporting to supervisory entities. Other units may also be
assigned a supervisory role in the second line of defence, in line Kvika’s policy on internal control. The third line of defence is the internal auditor,
operating independently from other units within Kvika’s organization and directly under the control of the BOD, according to a formal statement of
duties and job description of the internal audit function. The internal audit function assesses the effectiveness of risk management, control methods
and internal governance in an independent and objective manner and in accordance with internal auditing standards. Among other things, the
function prepares independent audits, verifications, and advice to the BOD and the Audit Committee.

The implementation and functioning of internal control is the responsibility of the management of the Bank. Internal control is based on risk
assessments and control measures intended to reduce risk factors in the operations of the Bank. Internal control includes documented and formal
procedures which Kvika’s employees follow in their daily work, and which are examined by the control units.

Consolidated Financial Statements 31 December 2023

80



Kvika banki hf.

Statement on the Corporate Governance of Kvika banki hf. 2023

The BOD determines the risk policy and risk appetite of the Group with internal rules on risk management of the financial conglomerate of Kvika, which
define risk factors in Kvika’s operations, including their nature and acceptable volume.

The BOD hires an Internal Auditor, signs his/her formal statement of duties, and annually approves the internal audit plan. The CEO appoints the
Compliance Officer, and the BOD confirms the appointment. The CEO appoints the Managing Director of the Risk Management function. The reports
and findings of the internal control functions are presented directly to the BOD.

The BOD has established rules on risk management of the financial conglomerate of Kvika which are rules on risk and apply to the Group in whole. The
purpose of the rules is to harmonize risk management within the Group to ensure it is systematic and effective and to enhance transparency within the
Group’s risk taking at all levels of management, from the BOD of Kvika to boards of subsidiaries, the operating units and individuals who directly
participate in daily management and decision-making regarding risk. The rules on risk of the financial conglomerate of Kvika stipulate that the Bank
and its subsidiaries shall establish a risk policy. The risk policy of the Bank and each subsidiary shall implement what is stated in the rules on risk and
further define risk-taking within Kvika and each subsidiary. The BOD has established a risk policy for the Bank.

Kvika’s Finance division prepares annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
EU, and additional requirements, as applicable, in the Act on Annual Accounts no. 3/2006, the Act on Financial Undertakings no. 161/2002 and rules on
accounting for credit institutions no. 834/2003. The annual financial statements are audited by Kvika’s external auditors, Deloitte.

The CEO reports to the BOD and verifies the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Internal
controls and risk management applied in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements are organised with a view to preventing any
significant deficiencies in the accounting process.

Kvika’s BOD and control units regularly verify the effectiveness of internal controls and risk management.

Composition and activities of the BOD, Executive Committee, and sub-committees
Each year Kvika’s annual general meeting elects the BOD consisting of five board members and two alternates.

Board members come from varied backgrounds, and all possess extensive experience and expertise. In accordance with the Act on Limited Liability
Companies No. 2/1995, the Bank’s Articles of Association and Kvika’s policy for assessing the eligibility of its board members and CEO care is taken to
ensure at least 40% representation of each gender on the BOD and mong the alternates. The BODis currently comprised of three men and two women.
Regular board meetings are generally held once a month and, as the case may be, additional meetings in between to discuss specific matters. In 2023,
36 board meetings were held and all board members attended all board meetings, except for three meetings where one board member was absent in
each instance. The Chairman of the attended all meetings of the BOD.

The BOD is the supreme authority in the affairs of the Bank between shareholders’ meetings. Its main duties are to supervise all of Kvika’s operations
and ensure that they are in good order at all times. The BOD is responsible for Kvika’s policy making and shall ensure that the accounting and handling
of the Bank’s assets is properly supervised. The BOD prepares plans for Kvika in line with the Bank’s objectives and in accordance with its Articles of
Association and determines the strategies to be followed to achieve the objectives set. The BOD appoints the CEO and supervises his work, e.g., by
receiving regular reports from the CEO at board meetings. The BOD annually evaluates the CEO’s work in a documented manner. The BOD also
represents the Bank before courts and government authorities and allocates authority to sign and to commit the Bank.

Kvika’s BOD has three sub-committees, the Audit Committee, Risk Committee and Remuneration Committee.

The members of the Audit Committee are Ingunn Svala Leifsdoéttir, as chairperson, Helga Kristin Audunsdoéttir and Margrét G. Flévenz. The committee is
intended to play an advisory and supervisory role for Kvika’s BOD by, among other things, ensuring the quality of financial statements and other
financial information from the Bank and the independence of its auditors. The committee supervises accounting procedures and the effectiveness of
internal controls as well as internal and external auditing. The committee met nine times in 2023.

The members of the Risk Committee are Gudmundur Pérdarson, who is chairperson, Ingunn Svala Leifsdéttir and Sigurdur Hannesson. The committee
has an advisory and supervisory role for the Bank’s BOD, among other things, in determining its risk policy and risk appetite. The committee also
monitors the organisation and effectiveness of risk management, management of credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operating risk, reputational risk,
and other risks, as the case may be. The committee met 10 times in 2023.

The members of the Remuneration Committee are Gudjon Reynisson, who is chairperson, Sigurdur Hannesson, and Helga Kristin Audunsdoéttir. The
committee has an advisory and supervisory role for the Bank’s BOD regarding salaries and other remuneration, ensuring that this supports the Bank’s
objectives and interests. The committee met seven times in 2023.

All the BOD’s sub-committees have established rules of procedure prescribing the implementation of their tasks in detail and endorsed by the BOD.
The BOD appoints sub-committee members by majority vote from its own ranks and nominates the chairpersons. Because of the nature of the
committees, neither the CEO nor other employees can serve on them. The rules of procedure of the committees and the BOD are accessible on Kvika’s
website www.kvika.is.

The members of Kvika’s Executive Committee, in addition to the CEO are the following employees: Sigurdur Vidarsson, Deputy CEO, Eirikur Magnus
Jensson, CFO, Anna Rut Agustsdéttir, Managing Director of Operations and Development, Elisabet Gudrin Bjérnsdéttir, Managing Director of Risk
Management, Bjarni Eyvinds brastarson, Managing Director of Corporate Banking and Capital Markets and Lilja Jensen, General Counsel. The hiring
process for the position of Managing Director of Corporate Banking is ongoing. Additionally in the Group’s Executive Committee are Hannes Frimann
Hrolfsson, CEO of Kvika Asset Management hf., and Birkir J6hannsson, CEO of TM Tryggingar hf. More details about the Executive Committee are
accessible on Kvika’s website www.kvika.is.
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Kvika has adopted a policy for assessing the eligibility of its board members and CEO as provided for in EBA guidelines and pursuant to Art. 52 of Act
No. 161/2002 on Financial Undertakings, provisions of Rules No. 150/2017 on assessment of eligibility of managing directors and directors of financial
undertakings and the guidelines. It addresses, inter alia, Kvika’s policy on the diversity of its BOD, Executive Committee, and senior management with
regard to age, gender and educational and professional background. The composition of the BOD is also dealt with in Kvika's Articles of Association,
which state, among other things, that its BOD shall be so comprised that its members jointly possess adequate expertise, skills, and experience to
understand the activities of the Bank, including key risk factors. Kvika has also adopted a Human Resources Policy and Equality Policy. According to the
Bank’s Equality Policy, non-discrimination and diversity shall characterise all its operations. All employees should have the opportunity to make good
use of their abilities at work and be valued on their own merit, have equal opportunities, and enjoy the same rights in their work and for career
advancement, regardless of gender, age and origin. The status and opportunities of individuals shall be equal regardless of gender, race, nationality,
religion, age, or other irrelevant factors when it comes to employment in management positions and participation in working groups, boards and
committees.

The CEO can provide more detailed information on the rules of procedure and the operations of the BOD and sub-committees.

Information on Board members

Sigurdur Hannesson is the chairman of the BOD. He was appointed to Kvika’s BOD in March 2020. He was born in 1980 and is currently the Director
General of the Federation of Icelandic Industries. From 2013-2017, Sigurdur worked as a managing director of Kvika’s (previously MP Bank’s) asset
management division. In 2015, Sigurdur was the Vice-Chairman of the Government Task Force on lifting of capital controls and in 2013 the Chairman of
the Expert Group on household debt relief. From 2010-2013, Sigurdur worked as CEO of Jupiter fund management company, now Kvika Asset
Management, and in Capital Markets at Straumur Investment Bank from 2007-2010. Sigurdur holds a DPhil degree in mathematics from the University
of Oxford, a BS degree in mathematics from the University of Iceland and is a certified securities broker. Sigurdur also sits on the boards of Iceland
Symphony Orchestra, Graenvangur (Green by Iceland), Reykjavik University, Audna-Taeknitorg ehf., Akkur SI, SI 1 ehf., Sundaboginn slhf., Seapool ehf.,
BBL 39 ehf. and the Icelandic Cancer Society. Sigurdur owns 8,550,107 shares in the Bank through shareholding in the private limited company BBL 39
ehf., but does not have interest links with major clients, competitors, or big shareholders in the sense of the corporate governance guidelines.

Gudmundur bérdarson is the deputy chairperson of the BOD. He was appointed to Kvika’s BOD in March 2017. Gudmundur was born in 1972. He
graduated from the University of Iceland with a Cand. oecon business degree in 1997. He has also completed a securities brokerage and asset
management exam in the UK. Gudmundur’s main focus is on managing his own investments. From 1997 to 2000 he worked in Asset Management at
Landsbréf hf. From 2000 to 2003, he worked as a specialist in the development and corporate advisory division of islandsbanki hf. From 2003 to 2007
he worked as Managing Director of Corporate Finance at Straumur fjarfestingarbanki hf. Gudmundur also sits on the boards of Hedda eignarhaldsfélag
ehf., Skel Investments ehf., Floka Capital ehf and Attis ehf., as well as serving as an alternate in the board of Bilaleiga BTF ehf. Gudmundur holds
66,750,000 shares in the Bank through the private limited company Attis ehf. Gudmundur does not have interest links with major clients, competitors,
or big shareholders in the sense of the corporate governance guidelines.

Gudjon Reynisson was appointed to Kvika’s BOD in March 2018. He was born in 1963 and works as an independent investor and board member.
Between 2008 and 2017 he served as CEO of Hamleys of London. From 2003 to 2008, he served as managing director of the 10-11 stores. From 1998 to
2003 he was the managing director of the sales division of Tal, an Icelandic phone company. He graduated with an MBA degree from the University of
Iceland in 2002. He graduated with an Operations and Business degree from the Continuing Education Study of the University of Iceland in 1999 and
graduated with a degree as a licensed physical education teacher from the University of Iceland in 1986. Gudjon has been on the board of directors of
Festi hf. since 2014, of Securitas hf. since 2018 and of Dropp ehf. since 2020. Gudjon controls 10,410,789 shares in Kvika through his private limited
company, Hakk ehf., but does not have interest links with major clients, competitors, or big shareholders in the sense of the corporate governance
guidelines.

Helga Kristin Audunsdottir was appointed to Kvika’s BOD in April 2021. She was born in 1980. Helga Kristin is a doctor in Law from Fordham University
in New York. In her doctoral studies at Fordham University she researched corporate governance and hedge fund investments. Helga Kristin graduated
with BS in Business Law from Bifrost University in 2004 and with a master’s degree in law from the same university in 2006. She graduated with an LL.M
degree in law from the University of Miami, with a focus on international business law and contracts in 2010. Helga Kristin is an assistant professor at
the Department of Law at Reykjavik University. Before that, she worked as a director and assistant professor at Bifrost University, as a lawyer for Stodir
hf., as a lawyer for FGM/Audkenni, now part of the Central Bank of Iceland and as a lecturer at the faculty of law at University of Miami. Helga Kristin
has been a member of the board of directors of TM tryggingar hf. from 2023 and in the years 2020-2021. She was also an appointed alternate on the
board of directors of Tryggingamidstddin hf. in 2012-2015. Helga Kristin does not own shares in the Bank and does not have interest links with major
clients, competitors, or big shareholders in in the sense of the corporate governance guidelines.

Ingunn Svala Leifsdottir was appointed to Kvika’s BOD in September 2021. Ingunn was born in 1976. She graduated with a BS degree in Business from
the University of Iceland in 1999, with a focus on accounting and finance, and with a Cand. Oecon business degree from the same University in 2001,
with a focus on accounting and management. Ingunn Svala completed the Advanced Management program (AMP) from the IESE Business School in
New York in 2018. Ingunn Svala currently works as a chief executive officer at Olis hf. Prior to that she worked as a COO for Dohop and as an executive
director of operations at Reykjavik University. Ingunn Svala also has extensive experience from the financial sector. She worked for the Kaupthing’s
Resolution Committee as Chief Financial Officer from 2009 to 2011 as well as working as a Global Business Controller in Investment Banking at
Kaupping bank in 2007 to 2009. Ingunn Svala also worked within the Actavis Group PTC consolidation in 2006 to 2007 as a CFO for four subsidiaries,
namely Actavis hf., Medis ehf., Actavis Group hf. and Actavis Group PTC ehf. Ingunn Svala has extensive experience of serving as a board member and
currently sits on the boards of Osar — lifeline of health hf. and of its subsidiary, Parlogis ehf. Ingunn Svala does not own shares in the Bank and does not
have interest links with major clients, competitors, or big shareholders in in the sense of the corporate governance guidelines.

The BOD considers all board members to be independent as defined by the corporate governance guidelines.

Sigurgeir Gudlaugsson and Helga J6hanna Oddsdoéttir are alternate members of the BOD. In the opinion of the BOD, they are also independent
members of the BOD within the meaning of the corporate governance guidelines.
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Statement on the Corporate Governance of Kvika banki hf. 2023

Main factors in the BOD’s performance evaluation

The BOD annually evaluates its performance. It evaluates the performance of tasks and work of the BOD for the previous year. The focus of the
assessment is on strategic planning, disclosure and future vision, the size and composition of the BOD, performance of board members, the work of
sub-committees and performance of the CEO, the internal auditor, and the secretary of the BOD. The development of the Bank is reviewed to assess
whether it is line with objectives. Following the annual performance assessment, the BOD defines tasks in areas where improvements are needed. The
last performance assessment was conducted in January 2024. The BOD also regularly conducts special self-assessments on its composition in
accordance with the guidelines of the European Banking Authority (EBA), and last did so in January 2024.

Information on the CEO of Kvika and his main duties

Armann borvaldsson became CEO of Kvika in August 2023. Armann was born in 1968 and previously worked as CEO and Deputy CEO of the bank in the
years 2017-2019. Armann has worked in the financial market for over twenty years. From 1997 until 2005 he was Head of Corporate Finance at
Kaupthing and in 2005 until 2008 he was CEO of Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander in London. Later he worked at Ortus Secured Finance in London until
2015 when he joined Virding. Armann headed up Virding’s Corporate Finance division before joining Kvika. Armann has an MBA degree from Boston
University and a BA degree in history from the University of Iceland. Armann controls 759.892 shares in Kvika and has also entered into call option
agreements with Kvika in accordance with Kvika’s remuneration policy and incentive scheme as well as the employees’ general stock option plan.
Further, Armann and his family own the company BMA ehf. Which controls 4,082,158 shares in the Bank. He does not have interest links with major
clients, competitors or major shareholders as defined by the corporate governance guidelines.

The CEO oversees the daily operations of Kvika and in so doing follows the policies and instructions which have been laid down by the Bank’s BOD.
Daily operations do not include unusual or major arrangements. The CEO shall ensure that Kvika’s accounts are kept in accordance with laws and
customs and that the Bank’s assets are handled in a secure manner. The CEO appoints and dismisses employees of the Bank. Furthermore, he is
required to follow all of the BOD’s instructions. The CEO shall provide Kvika’s external auditors with all requested information.

Information on violations of laws and regulations, determined by the relevant supervisory body or adjudicating entity

Kvika has not been subject to withdrawal, revocation or dismissal of registration, authorization, membership, or permissions to perform certain trades,
operations or work. Kvika was not fined by any supervisory body in the year 2023. As per usual the FME performed onsite inspections in 2023. Results
are still pending in individual cases. No court cases or arbitration proceedings which may have significant effects on the Bank, or the Group, were
ongoing or pending at the end of the year.

Communications between shareholders and the BOD

Information is provided to shareholders on a non-discriminatory basis and is mainly limited to shareholders’ meetings or the communication of
harmonised information to all shareholders simultaneously. News of the Bank’s operations are posted on Kvika’s website and press releases are issued
in accordance with disclosure obligations of issuers of shares when newsworthy events in the Bank’s operations take place. A detailed presentation of
the Bank’s operations over the past year is also provided at its AGM and information on the Bank’s operations is published in Kvika’s annual report and
financial statements.

This statement on the corporate governance practices of Kvika banki hf. was reviewed and approved by the BOD on 15 February 2024.
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Amounts are in ISK thousands

EU Taxonomy Regulation

The EU Taxonomy (EU regulation No. 2020/852) (hereinafter "the regulation") was implemented into Icelandic law
when Act No. 25/2023 on sustainable financial disclosure and taxonomy for sustainable investments entered into
force in Iceland on 1 June 2023. The regulation provides the basis for a harmonized European classification system
with definitions and criteria for what constitutes as environmentally sustainable economic activities. According to
Article 8 of the regulation, companies that fall under the regulation have an obligation to disclose how and to
what extent its activities are associated with environmentally sustainable economic activities, the Group is subject
to those obligations.

In 2023, the Group has focused on the implementation of the regulation, and delegated acts that have been
implemented in Iceland, into the Group’s operations as applicable and now publishes, for the first time,
information in accordance with Article 8 of the regulation alongside the Consolidated Financial Statements for
2023. The information is prepared in accordance with relevant annexes of the EU delegated regulation no.
2021/2178 (hereinafter “Disclosures Delegated Act”), taking into consideration the information provided in EU
Commission Notices on interpretation of certain legal provisions of the Disclosures Delegated Act under Article 8
of EU Taxonomy Regulation on the reporting of eligible economic activities and assets No. (2022/C 385/01)1 and
(C/2023/3’,05)2 and draft Commission Notice of 21 December 2023°.

According to Icelandic Act on Annual Accounts No. 3/2006 (hereinafter “the Annual Accounts Act”) Kvika is
required, in the consolidated financial statements, to disclose non-financial information on consolidated basis. This
annex to the consolidated financial statement therefore includes information on Kvika Asset Management which
can also be found accompanying Kvika Asset Management’s annual financial statement. As was announced on 3
October 2023 Kvika has initiated the process for sale or listing of TM, which is expected to be concluded within the
year 2024. Due to this TM was classified as a disposal group held for sale on 31 December 2023. This classification
and the fact that the subsidiary is large in size and its operations are very different from other operations of the
Group are the reasons why TM’s taxonomy disclosures will only be published alongside TM's annual financial
statement and not in the consolidated financial statements.

The calculation of the key figures in the annex is based on the data used for the Group’s financial reporting.

It should be noted that due to the recent implementation of the disclosure requirements, lack of implementation
of various European acts into Icelandic law and lack of disclosure from legal entities subject to the requirements of
the regulation the information is limited in the first year of reporting.

The Green Asset Ratio

The regulation requires credit institutions to report on their green asset ratio (GAR) as a key performance indicator
(KPI). The GAR shall show the proportion of the of credit institution’s assets financing and invested in taxonomy-
aligned economic activities as a proportion of total covered assets, excluding exposures to central governments,
central banks, and supranational issuers.

! https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52022XC1006%2801%29
2 https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52023XC00305
? https://ec.europa.eu/finance/docs/law/231221-draft-commission-notice-eu-taxonomy-reporting-financials_en.pdf

Taxonomy-eligible activities

The proportion of assets that can be classified as taxonomy-eligible refers to assets and activities that are
outlined in the delegated acts of the regulation but does not indicate which activities are truly
environmentally sustainable. This first step of determining “eligibility” involves determining if there is a
technical screening criterion in the delegated acts that can be applied to the activity.

Credit institutions and other financial corporations subject to reporting requirements in Iceland are
required to report on how exposures to eligible activities impact the following climate objectives outlined
in EU regulation No. 2021/2139 (hereinafter “Climate Delegated Act”):

- Climate change mitigation.

- Climate change adaptation.

The regulation covers six environmental objectives in total but the remaining four objectives came into
force in the EU through EU delegated regulation No. 2023/2486 and delegated regulation No.
2023/2485.These have yet to be implemented in Iceland. The remaining environmental objectives are:

- The sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources.

- The transition to a circular economy.

- Pollution prevention and control.

- Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems.

The Group has derived that the following assets can be considered as taxonomy-eligible; loans and
advances to financial and non-financial corporates that are subject to non-financial disclosures according to
Article 66 d of the Annual Accounts Act and financing to households, in particular motor vehicle loans and
residential real estate.

Taxonomy-aligned activities (also known as environmentally sustainable activities)

For an economic activity to be considered environmentally sustainable or taxonomy-aligned it must fulfil
the following four conditions:

- Make a substantial contribution to at least one environmental objective outlined in the regulation.

- Do no significant harm to any other environmental objective.

- Comply with minimum social safeguards.

- Comply with the technical screening criteria outlined in the delegated regulations.

For this year’s reporting the Group was only able to perform the alignment test on loans to households, in
particular motor vehicle loans (activity 6.5: Purchase, financing, renting, leasing) and residential real estate
(mortgages, activity 7.7: Acquisition and ownership of buildings) as the assessment for those is not
dependent on publicly reported data from the counterparty.
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Companies subject to taxonomy disclosures Limitations to the reporting

Companies which are required to publish non-financial information in line with Article 66 d of the Annual Accounts There are several limitations to the reporting in the first reporting year in Iceland. The regulation was

Act, are in scope of disclosing according to the regulation. To identify the companies in scope (also referred to as implemented in phases in Europe starting in 2022 to ensure data availability. However, as it was

companies subject to NFRD ) Kvika has employed external data sourced from a third party, adhering to the criteria implemented differently in Iceland, with all companies in scope disclosing at the same time, there will be

outlined in Article 66 d of the Annual Accounts Act. This information has been complemented, where needed, with limitations in the results presented. Due to this it has proven challenging to disclose information on

data directly collected from the annual reports of corporate customers and counterparties. The Group’s exposures eligibility and alignment since the Group is required to use counterparties’ data and KPIs to calculate its

to said companies at the end of 2023 was 0.027% of total covered assets and is therefore trivial. Small and own KPIs i.e. GAR.

medium sized companies do to not meet the disclosure requirements which leaves a substantial portion of the

Group’s assets out of scope. The regulation is still developing and the Group anticipates there will be a learning curve in data collection,
analysis and disclosures. As companies gain experience in reporting it will become clearer how impactful

The companies in scope of the disclosure requirements are scheduled to release their initial reports in accordance the KPI‘s can be. The technical screening criteria will also prove useful when considering green financing

with the regulation in 2024 for the financial year 2023. The Group is required to use data provided by its moving forward. The Group will follow any developments regarding the regulation, and consider it going

counterparties to calculate green asset ratio but due to the lack of available information it will provide a limited forward in in its sustainability journey.

set of results for the first reporting year.

Households

Motor vehicle loans

Motor vehicle loans are recognized as a taxonomy-eligible activity in accordance with the Climate Delegated Act. A
substantial portion of the Group‘s loans to households pertain to motor vehicle financing. However, only motor
vehicle loans issued after the regulation took effect in Iceland i.e. 1 June 2023, are deemed eligible.

For a motor vehicle loan to classify as an environmentally sustainable activity it cannot cause harm on other
environmental objectives. To assess this information needs to be gathered on various factors such as the CO2
emissions of the vehicle, the end-of life treatment i.e. reuse, recycling and recovery of the vehicle alongside
detailed information about the tyres. The Group has significant information on motor vehicle loans in terms of
emissions but has faced difficulties assessing information on e.g. the specific requirements set regarding car tyres
of its customers. Therefore, these loans cannot be considered as taxonomy-aligned.

Mortgages

The Group maintains a relatively modest allocation of mortgage loans. While these loans fall within the scope of
taxonomy-eligible activities, as outlined in the Delegated Climate Act, it is important to note that they are not
presently considered as taxonomy-aligned (environmentally sustainable). For a mortgage to be considered as
taxonomy-aligned it is important to have access to information on the energy efficiency of the building subject to
the loan. This use of energy efficiency of buildings is common in other European countries but has not been
adopted in Iceland. Energy efficiency is based on the energy performance certificates set out in Directive (EU)
2010/31 on the energy performance of buildings but Iceland is exempt from the application of that Directive. As a
result, no formal energy performance certificates have been issued for Icelandic buildings.

Due to this lack of data, mortgages to households do not fullfil the criterion to be considered environmentally
sustainable.
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0. Assets for the calculation of GAR

Financial guarantees

Assets under management

Fees and commissions income**

* For credit institutions that do not meet the conditions of Article 94(1) of the CRR or the conditions set out in Article 325a(1) of the CRR

**Fees and commissions income from services other than lending and AuM
*** 9 of assets covered by the KPI over banks’ total assets
****pased on the Turnover KPI of the counterparty

*****based on the CapEx KPI of the counterparty, except for lending activities where for general lending Turnover KPI is used
Note 1: Across the reporting templates: cells shaded in black should not be reported.

Note 2: Fees and Commissions and Trading Book KPIs shall only apply starting 2026. SMEs inclusion in these KPI will only apply subject to a positive result of an impact assessment.

Total environmentally sustainable assets KPI****  [Kp***** 196 coverage (over total assets)***
Main KPI |Green asset ratio (GAR) stock 74.80% |
Total environmentally sustainable activities KPI KPI % coverage (over total assets) |
Ad(ditional KPls GAR (flow)
Trading book*
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1. Assets for the calculation of GAR

a b c d | e | f g | h i | j | k | m | n | o | p
Disclosure reference date T
Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) Climate Change Adaptation (CCA) TOTAL (CCM + CCA)
Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible) | Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible) Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible)
ISK Total gross Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy- Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy- Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy-
carrying amount aligned) aligned) aligned)
Ofwhich ¢ hich — |of which OFwhich 6t which Of which Of which Ofwhich 1ot which
specialised " . specialised . . specialised transitional/ .
. transitional [enabling . adaptation enabling . . enabling
lending lending lending adaptation
1 GAR - Covered assets in both numerator and
denominator
I~ | Loans and advances, debt securities and
2 equity instruments not HfT eligible for GAR
calculation 36,234,799 | 8,921,941 8,930,844
3 Financial corporations 1,938,213
4 Credit institutions 1,819
5 Loans and advances 1,819
6 Debt securities, including UoP 0
7 Equity instruments 0 _ _ _
8 Other financial corporations 1,936,393
9 of which investment firms 0
10 Loans and advances 0
11 Debt securities, including UoP 0
12 Equity instruments 0 _ _ _
13 of which management companies 1,936,393
14 Loans and advances 1,936,393
15 Debt securities, including UoP 0
16 Equity instruments 0 _ _ _
17 of which insurance undertakings 0
18 Loans and advances 0
19 Debt securities, including UoP 0
20 Equity instruments 0 _ _ _
21 Non-financial corporations 61,267 8,902 8,902
2 NFCs subject to NFRD disclosure
obligations 61,267 8,902 8,902
23 Loans and advances 61,267 8,902 8,902
24 Debt securities, including UoP 0
25 Equity instruments 0 _ _ _
26 Households (3) * 32,676,440 | 8,921,941 8,921,941
27 of which loans collateralised by
residential immovable property 1,930,717 | 1,930,717 1,930,717
28 of which building renovation loans 0
29 of which motor vehicle loans** 6,991,224 | 6,991,224 6,991,224
30 Local governments financing 1,558,880
Collateral obtained by taking possession:
31 | residential and commercial immovable
properties 0
32 | Other local government financing 1,558,880
33 Other assets excluded from the numerator for
GAR calculation (covered in the denominator) 214,574,302
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1. Assets for the calculation of GAR (cont.)

*Households include all retail loans issued to individuals

**Motor vehicle loans for households include cars in vehicle groups (M1) and (N1)

**For motor vehicle loans, only exposures generated after 1 June 2023 (the date of application of the disclosure) are included

*** Assets held within portfolios managed by Kvika Asset Management that are subject to Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD) disclosure obligations

1) GAR - Covered assets in both numerator and denominator: Accounting categories of financial assets used for the calculation of the green asset ratio.
33) Other assets excluded from the numerator for GAR calculation (covered in the denominator): Certain assets are excluded from the numerator e.g. financial assets held for trading, on-demand interbank loans, derivates and exposures to undertakings that are not obliged to

publish non-financial information pursuant to Article 19a or 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU.
50) Other assets not covered for GAR calculation: The exposures to central governments, central banks and supranational issuers shall be excluded from the calculation of the numerator and denominator of key performance indicators of financial undertakings.

a b c d | e | f g | h i | j | k | m | n | o | p
Disclosure reference date T
Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) Climate Change Adaptation (CCA) TOTAL (CCM + CCA)
Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible) | Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible) Of which towards taxonomy relevant sectors (Taxonomy-eligible)
ISK Total gross Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy- Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy- Of which environmentally sustainable (Taxonomy-
carrying amount aligned) aligned) aligned)
Ofwhich ¢ uhich — |of which OFwhich 6t which Of which Of which Ofwhich 1ot which
specialised . . specialised . . transitional/ .
. transitional [enabling . adaptation enabling . enabling
lending lending adaptation
34 Non-financial corporations 101,639,637
35 SMEs and NFCs (other than SMEs) not
subject to NFRD disclosure obligations 72,202,993
36 Loans and advances 72,202,993
37 of which loans collateralised by
commercial immovable property 0
38 of which building renovation loans 0
39 Debt securities 0
40 Equity instruments 0
41 Non-EU country counterparties not
subject to NFRD disclosure obligations 29,436,644
42 Loans and advances 29,436,644
43 Debt securities 0
44 Equity instruments 0
45 Derivatives 19,350,190
46 On demand interbank loans 6,356,998
47 Cash and cash-related assets 20,055
48 Other assets (e.g. Goodwill,
commodities etc.) 87,207,422
49 |Total GAR assets 250,809,101
50 |Other assets not covered for GAR calculation 84,588,331
51 Sovereigns 63,426,450
52 Central banks exposure 17,304,400
53 Trading book 3,857,480
54 |Total assets 335,397,432
Off-balance sheet exposures - Corporates subject to NFRD disclosure obligations
55 [Financial guarantees 2,500
56 |Assets under management*** 105,753,957
57 Of which debt securities 66,417,080
58 Of which equity instruments 39,336,876
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2. GAR sector information

e | f

k]

C 0 q | r
Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) Climate Change Adaptation (CCA) TOTAL (CCM + CCA)

Non-Financial corporates | SMEs and other NFC not subject [ Non-Financial corporates (Subject

(Subject to NFRD)

to NFRD

to NFRD)

SMEs and other NFC not
subject to NFRD

Non-Financial corporates
(Subject to NFRD)

SMEs and other NFC not
subject to NFRD

Breakdown by sector - NACE 4 digits level (code and label)

Gross carrying amount

Gross carrying amount

Gross carrying amount

Gross carrying amount

Gross carrying amount

Gross carrying amount

Of which

. . . Of which Of which
Of which Of which Of which . )
A ) ) . environmentall environmentally
ISK environmentally ISK environmentally ISK environmentally ISK environmentally ISK . ISK .
) ) . A y sustainable sustainable
sustainable (CCM) sustainable (CCM) sustainable (CCA) sustainable (CCA)
(CCM + CCA) (CCM + CCA)
[ 1 [c2442 - Aluminium production

8,902

1. Credit institutions shall disclose in this template information on exposures in the banking book towards those sectors covered by the Taxonomy (NACE sectors 4 levels of detail), using the relevant NACE Codes on the basis of the principal activity of the counterparty.
2. The sector breakdown by activity is only applicable to activities covered by the delegated acts that have been adopted in Iceland.

3. The breakdown by sector is based on ISAT 2008 mapping onto NACE codes, by the principal activity of the counterparty available in public records, the Group expects this to possibly change next year as more companies publish their Taxonomy disclosures in 2024.

4. This table only covers exposures to non-financial corporates subject to disclosure obligations according to article 8 of the EU Taxonomy. For the first reporting year the Group cannot disclose which corporates classify as an activity under the objectives of "climate change
mitigation" (CCA) og "climate change adaptation" (CCA), as that is dependent on the public disclosures by said corporates, and therefore the results are published as a total for both objectives.
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3. GAR KPI stock

3
]
o

a b c | d | e g h | i | j k p
Disclosure reference date T
Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) Climate Change Adaptation (CCA) TOTAL (CCM + CCA)
Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant sectors Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant
% (compared to total covered assets in the (Taxonomy-eligible) i 5§ctors (Taxonomy-eligible) i sgctors (Taxonomy-eligible) i o .
. Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy roportion
denominator) relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) of total
; - N assets
Of which Ofwhich  |of which Ofwhich 0 uhich |of which Ofwhich 10 hich |of which covered
specialised . ) specialised . ) specialised . )
. transitional |enabling . transitional [enabling K transitional |enabling
lending lending lending
1 GAR - Covered assets in both numerator and
denominator
Loans and advances, debt securities and
2 equity instruments not HfT eligible for GAR 24.8% 24.8% 10.8%
calculation
3 Financial corporations 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
4 Credit institutions 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
5 Loans and advances 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
6 Debt securities, including UoP 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
7 Equity instruments 0.0% _ _ 0.0% _ 0.0%
8 Other financial corporations 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
9 of which investment firms 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
10 Loans and advances 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
11 Debt securities, including UoP 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
12 Equity instruments 0.0% | I 0.0% | 0.0%
13 of which management companies 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
14 Loans and advances 0.0% 0.0% 0.6%
15 Debt securities, including UoP 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
16 Equity instruments 0.0% | I 0.0% | 0.0%
17 of which insurance undertakings 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
18 Loans and advances 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
19 Debt securities, including UoP 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
20 Equity instruments 0.0% | I 0.0% | 0.0%
21 Non-financial corporations 100.0% 100.0% 0.0%
2 NF(;s sgbject to NFRD disclosure 100.0% 100.0% 0.0%
obligations
23 Loans and advances 100.0% 100.0% 0.0%
24 Debt securities, including UoP 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
25 Equity instruments 0.0% I I 0.0% | 0.0%
26 Households 27.0% 27.3% 9.7%
27 ofwhich_lo@s collateralised by 100.0% 100.0% 0.6%
residential immovable property
28 of which building renovation loans 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
29 of which motor vehicle loans 100.0% 100.0% 2.1%
30 Local governments financing 0.0% 0.0% 0.5%
31 CoI!atera?I obtained by talflng possession: 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
residential and commercial immovable
32 | Other local government financing 0.0% 0.0% 0.5%
49 [Total GAR assets
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4. GARKPI flow

a b c | d | e f g h | i | j k | | m | n o p
Disclosure reference date T
Climate Change Mitigation (CCM) Climate Change Adaptation (CCA) TOTAL (CCM + CCA)
Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant sectors Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant sectors
(Taxonomy-eligible) sectors (Taxonomy-eligible) (Taxonomy-eligible)
% (compared to flow of total eligible assets) Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy Proportion
relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned) of total new
K N N assets
Of which Ofwhich  |of which Ofwhich 10 which  |of which Ofwhich | ¢ hich  |of which covered
specialised . ) specialised . ) specialised . )
R transitional |enabling K transitional |[enabling R transitional |enabling
lending lending lending
1 GAR - Covered assets in both numerator and
denominator
Loans and advances, debt securities and
2 equity instruments not HfT eligible for GAR
calculation
3 Financial corporations
4 Credit institutions
5 Loans and advances
6 Debt securities, including UoP
7 Equity instruments _ _ _
8 Other financial corporations
9 of which investment firms
10 Loans and advances
11 Debt securities, including UoP
12 Equity instruments _ _ _
13 of which management companies
14 Loans and advances
15 Debt securities, including UoP
16 Equity instruments _ _ _
17 of which insurance undertakings
18 Loans and advances
19 Debt securities, including UoP
20 Equity instruments _ _ _
21 Non-financial corporations
22 NFCs subject to NFRD disclosure
obligations
23 Loans and advances
24 Debt securities, including UoP
25 Equity instruments _ _ _
26 Households
27 of which loans collateralised by
residential immovable property
28 of which building renovation loans
29 of which motor vehicle loans
30 Local governments financing
31 Collateral obtained by taking possession:
residential and commercial immovable
32 | Other local government financing
49 |Total GAR assets
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5. KPI off-balance sheet exposures

% (compared to flow of total eligible assets)

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant sectors
(Taxonomy-eligible)

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy
relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned)

Of which
specialised
lending

Of which
transitional

Of which
enabling

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant
sectors (Taxonomy-eligible)

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy
relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned)

Of which
specialised
lending

Of which
transitional

Of which
enabling

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy relevant

sectors (Taxonomy-eligible)

Proportion of total covered assets funding taxonomy
relevant sectors (Taxonomy-aligned)

Of which
specialised
lending

Of which
transitional

Of which
enabling

1 Financial guarantees (FinGuar KPI)

2 Assets under management (AuM KPI)

This table has no data in the first year of reporting as it is reliant on publicly disclosed data from investee companies and counterparties.
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Kvika Asset Management

Kvika Asset Management publishes the following information pursuant to Article 8 of The EU Taxonomy (Regulation (EU) 2020/852) in a template from
Annex IV and together with information from Annex XI covering asset managers pursuant to Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 (hereinafter
the "Delegated Regulation") alongside its annual accounts for 2023.

The calculation of key figures is based on the data used in Kvika Asset Management'’s financial statement for 2023.

Limitations to the reporting for 2023

The EU Taxonomy regulation was implemented in phases in Europe starting in 2022 to ensure data availability. However, as it was implemented differently
in Iceland with all companies in scope disclosing at the same time there will be limitations in the results presented as it affects the information available to
Kvika Asset Management.

According to the Delegated Regulation, asset managers are to disclose the proportion of investment in Taxonomy-aligned economic activities (also known
as environmentally sustainable activities) out of the total value of all investments managed by them. This ratio is based on key performance indicators of
investees (turnover and capex), which they publish according to the EU Taxonomy for the first time in Iceland for 2023. Since Kvika Asset Management
needs information from investees, much of the template is published without information and it is not possible to calculate the ratio of investments in
environmentally sustainable economic activities this year. The template only contains information that is not subject to disclosures by investees. Due to the
recent implementation of the disclosure requirements, lack of implementation of various European acts into Icelandic law and lack of disclosure from legal
entities in scope of the regulation the information is limited in the first year of reporting.

ANNEX IV
TEMPLATE FOR THE KPI OF ASSET MANAGERS
Standard template for the disclosure required under Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (asset managers)

Turnover-based: % Turnover-based: [monetary amount]
CapEx—based: % CapEx-based: [monetary amount]

Coverage: % . The value in monetary amounts of derivatives. 406,707,808

The percentage of derivatives relative to total assets covered by the KPI. The value in monetary amounts of derivatives.
Percentage (%) |0.01% [monetary amount] | 42,109

The proportion of exposures to EU financial and non-financial undertakings not

Value of exposures to EU financial and non-financial undertakings not subject to
subject to Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU over total assets covered by P 8 )

Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU:

the KPI:
For non-financial undertakings: 38.0% For non-financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 154,389,126
For financial undertakings: 22.5% For financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 91,503,426

The proportion of exposures to financial and non-financial undertakings from non-
EU countries not subject to Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU over total
assets covered by the KPI:

Value of exposures to financial and non-financial undertakings from non-EU
countries not subject to Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU:

For non-financial undertakings: 0.9% For non-financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 3,499,990
For financial undertakings: 5.2% For financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 20,964,297

The proportion of exposures to financial and non-financial undertakings subject to |Value of exposures to financial and non-financial undertakings subject to
Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU over total assets covered by the KPI: Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU:

For non-financial undertakings: 13.8% For non-financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 56,040,187
For financial undertakings: 12.2% For financial undertakings: [monetary amount] 49,713,770
The proportion of exposures to other counterparties over total assets covered by the .

KPI: Value of exposures to other counterparties:

Percentage (%) |7.5% [monetary amount] | 30,554,903
The value of all the investments that are funding economic activities that are not Value of all the investments that are funding economic activities that are not
taxonomy-eligible relative to the value of total assets covered by the KPI: taxonomy-eligible:

Percentage (%) |55.9% [monetary amount] | 227,372,725

The value of all the investments that are funding taxonomy-eligible economic
activities, but not taxonomy-aligned relative to the value of total assets covered by
the KPI:

Percentage (%) | [monetary amount] |

Value of all the investments that are funding Taxonomy eligible economic
activities, but not taxonomy aligned:
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Kvika Asset Management

Kvika Asset Management publishes the following information pursuant to Article 8 of The EU Taxonomy (Regulation (EU) 2020/852) in a template from

ANNEX IV (cont.)

The proportion of Taxonomy-aligned exposures to financial and non-financial
undertakings subject to Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU over total
assets covered by the KPI:

Value of Taxonomy-aligned exposures to financial and non-financial
undertakings subject to Articles 19a and 29a of Directive 2013/34/EU:

For non-financial undertakings:

For non-financial undertakings:

Turnover-based: %

Turnover-based: [monetary amount]

CapEx—based: %

CapEx-based: [monetary amount]

For financial undertakings:

For financial undertakings:

Turnover-based: %

Turnover-based: [monetary amount]

CapEx—based: %

CapEx-based: [monetary amount]

The proportion of taxonomy-aligned exposures to other counterparties in over total
assets covered by the KPI:

Value of taxonomy-aligned exposures to other counterparties:

Turnover-based: %

Turnover-based: [monetary amount]

CapEx—based: %

Turnover: %

CapEx-based: [monetary amount]

Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)

1) Climate change mitigation

Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

2) Climate change adaptation Turnover: % Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)
Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

3) The sustainable use and protection of water and marine |Turnover: % Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)

resources Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

4) The transition to a circular economy Turnover: % Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)
Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

5) Pollution prevention and control Turnover: % Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)
Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

6) The protection and restoration of biodiversity and Turnover: % Transitional activities: A% (Turnover; CapEx)

ecosystems Capex: % Enabling activities: B% (Turnover; CapEx)

Explanatory notes

'taxonomy-aligned activities'

economic activities that qualify as environmentally sustainable under EU
Taxonomy

'not taxonomy-aligned'

economic activities that do not qualify as environmentally sustainable under EU
Taxonomy i.e. Do not fulfil the criteria set out in the delegated acts

'taxonomy-eligible activities'

activity that has a corresponding criteria in the EU Taxonomy delegated acts to be
assessed against

ANNEX XI
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES FOR ASSET MANAGERS, CREDIT INSTITUTIONS, INVESTMENT FIRMS AND INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE UNDERTAKINGS

Contextual information in support of the quantitative indicators including the scope of
assets and activities covered by the KPlIs, information on data sources and limitation;

The calculation of key indicators uses total assets under management (AuM),
excluding exposures to central governments, central banks and supranational
issuers. Investments in companies which are not obliged to disclose non-financial
information under the Act on Annual Accounts should also be excluded.

As this is the first year of implementation, there is limited access to data to
perform calculations on the key indicator. The volume of investment in taxonomy
aligned economic activities cannot be disclosed, as undertakings that are obliged
to assess and publish such information according the EU Taxonomy, i.e. the
extent to which their economic activities are environmentally sustainable, will
publish this information in 2024.

Explanations of the nature and objectives of Taxonomy-aligned economic activities
and the evolution of the Taxonomy-aligned economic activities over time, starting
from the second year of implementation, distinguishing between business-related and
methodological and data-related elements;

Not applicable in the first year of reporting (financial year 2023).

Description of the compliance with Regulation (EU) 2020/852 in the financial
undertaking’s business strategy, product design processes and engagement with
clients and counterparties;

Kvika Asset Management expects to increasingly consider the EU Taxonomy e.g.
in product development as well as in communication with customers, additionally
there has been increased education to employees on the topic. When disclosure
based on the regulatory framework increases, the company will be able to
increase its disclosures in line with the regulation.

For credit institutions that are not required to disclose quantitative information for
trading exposures, qualitative information on the alignment of trading portfolios with
Regulation (EU) 2020/852, including overall composition, trends observed, objectives
and policy;

Doesn't apply to asset managers.
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